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RESULTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2023, the Group’s revenue
decreased by 12% to approximately HK$923 million. A profit of
approximately HK$5 million was recorded, compared to a profit
HK$357 million last year.

Excluding the disposal of the entire equity interest in Starlite
Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd last year and the resulting net gain
of approximately HK$483 million, the core profit level of the
Group improved as a result of the effective implementation of a
number of cost optimisation measures and the exchange gains

from the depreciation of Renminbi during the period.

During the reporting period, the global political and economic
situation remained complex and severe. The turmoil in the
world order such as geopolitical conflicts and escalating
collisions among great powers exacerbated the risk of global
economic downturn or even recession. The recovery of the
global economy has been hindered by multiple factors such as
slowing domestic demand and high inflation in developed
economies, and the unfavorable macro environment has affected
the purchasing power and consumption desire of end
which

consumer goods. In the face of abnormal fluctuations from the

consumers, in turn affected the demand for various
demand side, our customers have adopted a more conservative
business model. In addition to tightening order and inventory
policies, they also delayed the development of certain potential
which had a

business growth. Despite the sharp fluctuations in the economic

projects, short-term impact on the Group’s
environment, the performance of the three plants in China was
better than expected during the period. A profit was recorded
for the Guangzhou plant while the loss narrowed significantly
for the Shaoguan plant. The Suzhou plant improved its
profitability despite the disruption of Shanghai’s lockdown
measures and the decline in sales at the beginning of the year.
On the other hand, sales remained stable, but a loss was

recorded in the ASEAN region.
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Facing the complex and ever-changing domestic and
international environment and various risks and challenges, the
Group adhered to the concept of seeking progress while
maintaining stability, actively optimised the allocation of
strategic resources, further deepening the strategic layout of
sustainable development based on the new market situation and
new opportunities. It always adhered to the innovation path of
green, energy conservation, low-carbon emission reduction and
environmental protection, and strengthened the development of
new markets and new businesses. The Group focused on the
improvement of customer service quality to create unique value
for customers, strengthened lean management and intelligent
manufacturing to build unique core competitiveness, and also
actively assumed social responsibilities. All of these allowed the
Group to make prompt responses when the market fully
recovered and align with its vision of sustainable and healthy
sustainable

development of “Be thankful and cherish,

management (1& 78 & & - KB &)". Details are set out in the

section headed “Business Review and Prospects”.

DIVIDENDS

In order to retain resources for the Group’s future development,
the Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2023 (2022: Nil). An
interim dividend of HK1 cent per share for the six months
ended 30th September, 2022 were paid on 16th February, 2023
(30th September, 2021: an interim dividend of HK1 cent and a
special dividend of HK10 cents per share).
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
Hong Kong/Mainland China Operations

Overview

During the period under review, the main factors affecting the
world economy last year have continued this year, but to a
varying extent. With central banks raising interest rates, lower
food and energy prices have brought down inflation slightly,
and the easing supply chain disruptions have supported the
economy. However, as the Russia-Ukraine war continues, the
geopolitical tensions among major powers remain high. The
side effects of rapid interest rate hikes are becoming increasingly
apparent with the recent failure of several European and
American banks coming under the spotlight. As such, the
financial system is likely to be tested again, and the risk is
clearly tilted to the downside. The economic slowdown is
mainly concentrated in developed economies, especially the
Eurozone and the United Kingdom. Global economic activities
will decrease significantly due to declining confidence,
shrinking household spending and reduced investment.
Economic growth will continue to be low by historical
standards, financial risks will rise, but the inflation situation has
not completely turned the corner. Under the influence of
multiple factors, it is expected that the market demand for
printing services will remain weak in the coming year, posing
great challenges to the operation of enterprises. Despite the
difficult situation, the Group has gained excellent reputation
and brand image in the industry and has won the recognition
and trust of many domestic and foreign strategic partners for its
solid business foundation, first-class customer resources and
global layout, laying a solid foundation for the long-term,

stable, and healthy development of the Group.

Meanwhile, in order to enhance operational efficiency and risk
management capability, the Group is actively promoting the
development of an intelligent and paperless operation network
and the full integration of value chain. With the development
goals of reducing cost, improving efficiency, and increasing
add-on value, the Group has achieved interim results amidst
hardships. The plant in Guangzhou of the Group turned losses
into profits. The Shaoguan plant achieved good results in
reducing outward processing expenses and reducing additional
costs, and its losses narrowed significantly as a result of the
depreciation of Renminbi and the receipt of certain investment
and policy incentives from the local government during the
period. In general, revenue from the southern China operation
declined but profit was still recorded through effective measures

to broaden sources of income and reduce expenditures.
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Affected by the lockdown measures imposed in certain areas of
Shanghai in April and May 2022 due to the COVID-19
pandemic, the lifting of the nationwide pandemic prevention
measures at the end of the year, and the slowdown in economic
growth in mainland China, the eastern China operation recorded
a slight decrease throughout the year. However, due to the
proper control of raw material and labor costs, the overall add-

on value improved.

On the other hand, the Southeast Asia operation remained
stable, but the appreciation of the US dollar caused the
exchange losses for the region, and losses were recorded for the
Southeast Asia operation due to the provision for inventories

made.

In response to the volatility and uncertainty of the macro
business environment, the Group remained highly vigilant and
quickly adjusted its strategic direction and operation tactics in
line with the current situation at the right time. It accelerated
the development of a green production system so as to promote
the green and low-carbon development of the industry. Besides,
it comprehensively enhanced the environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) thinking and execution capabilities of the
management teams in each region, and formulated KPIs for
carbon emissions. At present, the Group has established a solar
photovoltaic power generation system in Shaoguan and Suzhou
plants, actively responded to the dual-carbon national policy to
use clean and green energy, and integrated the sustainability
initiatives with the Group’s concept of energy conservation and
emission reduction, thereby establishing a new benchmark for
green manufacturing in the industry. On the other hand,
following China’s lifting of anti-pandemic restrictions, reopening
of borders and full resumption of normal travel with Hong
Kong, the Group’s frontline business team has participated in
international exhibitions, actively reached out partners in
Europe, the United States and Southeast Asia to jointly explore
business opportunities for the restart of the global economic
activities and seek new breakthroughs in business growth. In
March, the Group successively held the “30th anniversary
celebration of the listing of the Starlite Group and the Starlite
Shaoguan and Suzhou open day” in Shaoguan and Suzhou
plants. A number of customers and strategic partners were
invited to participate and witness the achievements and future
visions of the Group’s high-quality development in recent years,
which have won wide recognition and support. During the
period, the Group’s products, namely the beautiful moon cake

gift box, Magic Moment greeting cards and Harry Porter
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Monster Book, won the Gold Award in Packaging Printing, the
Excellent Award in Cultural and Creative Printing and the
Excellent Award in Book and Publication Printing at the 33rd
Hong Kong Print Awards, respectively. Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, the
Chairman of the Group, was awarded the Pilot “9+2” 3rd
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area Outstanding
Contribution Leader Award ($Bfi“9+2" 5 = @ B 5 B A E & £
B BB #128) in recognition of the Group’s contribution to the
construction of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay

Area.

Southern China Operation
The Group’s Southern China operation narrowed the loss for the
year. Although costs for port operation and sea freight have
gradually returned to normal and issues about supply chain
disruptions have been mitigated, the overall consumer sentiment
in Europe and the United States has been dampened by various
uncertainties such as high inflation rate, high interest rate and
high financial risks in developed economies. The decline in
consumers’ actual disposable income has led to a shift in
In addition, the

bookstores are still endeavoring to reduce inventory, which will

purchasing power to necessities. retail
further suppress market demand. It is expected that the global
market sentiment for books and greeting cards will remain weak
in the coming year, which will affect the business growth of the

Southern China operation.
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Nevertheless, the Group completed the resources integration for
its plants in Southern China and established a more sound and
comprehensive operating system so that efficient and
professional services could be delivered in a flexible and timely
manner by assigning dedicated workshops and production lines
according to different order requirements of customers, thereby
realising the advantages of multi-regional operation and service
solutions, which has greatly reduced the procurement,
production, logistics and inventory costs whilst improving the
Group’s competitiveness, and is conducive to further
strengthening its long-term partnership with customers and
increasing its market share. At the same time, the Group will
continue to increase investment in the information technology
platform with an aim to make use of informatisation,
digitisation, cloud computing and other technologies to
strengthen the optimisation of manufacturing processes,
especially the application of new materials, new technologies
and new processes, so as to reduce the integrated costs of
customers, form a unique competitive advantage in the process
of creating value for customers, and lay a good foundation for
the Southern China operation to achieve strong profitability,
effective control of costs and expenses, and higher per capita
output value. In addition, the Little Tree Publishing Limited (/)*
A5 H Rt AR AF
of the “Teaching of Poetry and the Greater Bay Area Series (&F
LR KER R )" to contribute to the promotion of the long
history of the great motherland, the inheritance of Chinese

) is actively preparing for the publication

culture and the well presentation of Chinese stories. During the
period, the Guangzhou plant obtained the Science and
Technology SME Certificate (BHEA /N FE)
the Science and Technology Department of Guangdong

issued by

Province, and the Shaoguan plant built a solar photovoltaic
power generation system together with electric vehicle charging
facilities, which has further optimised the energy consumption
structure of the plant, reduced energy costs, and greatly reduced
pollution to the surrounding environment, thereby promoting
the strategies of energy conservation and emission reduction
with practical actions to demonstrate the Group’s sense of
social responsibility. At the end of the year, volunteers from the
Shaoguan plant actively participated in the frontline of epidemic
prevention and community work such as forest fire
extinguishing, being highly praised by the local government and

colleagues.
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With the gradual resumption of retail activities, the sales of the
Group’s innovative and environmentally friendly brand TEAM
GREEN® increased. During the period, the Group actively
explored new product series and strengthened its brand
promotion, such as launching the JIGZLE wood animals series,
setting an EUGY counter at Hong Kong Eslite Bookstore
(Children’s Bookstore), participating in the Carnival Game
Promotion in SOGO, expanding the sales scope in Sky100
Hong Kong, and joining the Christmas Charity Bazaar of The
Helena May. In addition, the Tung Wah Group of Hospitals
purchased 3D dinosaur puzzles from TEAM GREEN® to promote
the importance of work-life balance in the “Work-Life Balance
Month 2022” of Tung Wah +. TEAM GREEN® will continue to
strengthen its business development in the mainland China and
Southeast Asia markets in the coming year, broaden the sales
channels of online new media (such as TikTok and
Xiaohongshu) and offline physical stores (such as bookstores,
cultural and creative stores and museums), and launch more
new products that are popular among customers, so as to
promote the steady growth of the business of TEAM GREEN®.
During the period, the global limited-edition of OPERA GIRL of
TEAM GREEN® won the Gold Award for Creative Products, the
Creative Products and Gold Award for the Greater Bay Area,
and the Merit Award of the Best Creative Print Award at the
33rd Hong Kong Print Awards.

Eastern China Operation

During the period under review, the Eastern China operation
recorded a slight decrease in revenue from domestic sales and
greeting cards for the whole year due to the temporary
implementation of closed-loop management in Shanghai in the
second quarter of the year and the weak consumer sentiment in
the European and American markets. Nevertheless, the frontline
marketing team seized the development opportunities brought
by the expansion of domestic demand and the promotion of
consumption upgrade and transformation in the mainland China,
actively explored new markets and new business development,
identified growth opportunities in other emerging industries in
the future, and secured a higher share of orders in the
cosmetics sector. As a result, the revenue of the packaging
business in the second half of the year increased against the
trend, accelerating the release of production capacity of the

Eastern China operation.
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In addition, through strengthening the special project
management system, giving full play to high-quality sampling
capability and the rapid and stable production and delivery
standards, and making full use of the advantage of automated
equipment, human resources costs were effectively reduced. By
implementing various auxiliary measures to reduce the impact
of raw material fluctuations on operations, such as determining
the materials to be adopted and prices with strategic upstream
suppliers in advance when making large-scale procurement, and
paying attention to the supply and demand structure of the
international market and changes in commodity prices, cost
efficiency of the Eastern China operation was enhanced,
resulting in the improved profitability as compared with last
year. On the other hand, in order to contribute to the local
community and express care for employees, Starlite Suzhou and
the General Labor Union jointly gave out anti-epidemic
products and calendars of TEAM GREEN® for Year of the Rabbit
to local hospitals, organized blood donation activities to cheer
for life, provided free physical examinations for colleagues, and
held various activities to enrich the spare time of colleagues.
During the period, Liuhe United Front Work Department visited
the Suzhou plant to hold activities for overseas Chinese
enterprises, and the Suzhou plant was approved to establish a
provincial engineering technology research center, demonstrating
the Group’s determination to create a printing and innovative

industry base in Eastern China.

South East Asia Operation

Southeast Asia operation recorded a slight decline in revenue.
As foreign exchange losses were recorded in the region due to
the depreciation of the Singapore and Malaysian dollars,
together with the provision for inventories, Southeast Asia
operation experienced losses. In recent years, the global
industry shift has accelerated the Group’s resources deployment
for production capacity in Southeast Asia, forming a multi-
regional and international service advantage, as well as
demonstrating the Group’s strong capabilities in auxiliary
services. In line with the new supply chain strategies and new
business planning of many international leading brand
customers, the Group has reduced the procurement costs of
customers and realized stable and high-quality product delivery.
The management team is increasing its investment in new
businesses and new markets to broaden its business scope and
production capacity. At the end of the year, two printing
equipment were transferred from Southern China to the Malaysia

plant, striving to create new business growth points.

BESh EBMEEREES  HEETNITEEN
REBENEEINKERFDEMEDLREDN
EBE HERREANERRA  Ea &BEEG
KEERMKDHELEELENTE  WAERE
ERT M BRS L FER 1L LTS E MA - B MEITE
BhmsHFEEBIATEREREL BATER
EBHORAR G ERAMKELEFHRZ - S
H AUEHMHEFLERMRREHETINHEE
EXHFMNERTE - ERXNREMARKERF
HEGTEHER AEBBNIDREH K R
AEMEEMERIERZAEZTYLEERNFEMER
AR -HRBAAREBEEREERGEES M
HMNMEHLZERTRERMAEP L BREEIT
EE R KB # EEE AR -

REEEY
REEEBBARMT R FNERERAETE
BEZESSELBL NMERFEFREERSE
TEBESER - LFERERERNRTEEAE
RETWERME FRZERERBEBRICRBES
LRERATEERANEESR ) EaRZEKERES
MEEPHNNHEERBEMEBRFTRE FRETHE
FHREXRT EHEETSRENERRN &8
BREMAEHEBMATMSENRANE BRE
BREMER FEAEDHMEEBRNENRRE
ISR BAOTEMNEEERY -

17



18

In addition, the region continued to strengthen the awareness of
lean and efficient operation and simplify the production process
of each procedure, with an aim to improve the overall operating
standard and effectively reduce production and management
costs by making efforts from various perspectives such as supply
chain management, production and operation and organizational
optimization. This year, the Malaysia plant set up a caring
team, hoping to better inherit the Group’s cultural philosophy
of cherishing and thanksgiving. In addition to taking care of and
caring for employees internally, the team paid more attention to
and participated in external community public welfare activities.
The team visited local orphanages and donated lunch boxes to
elderly homes, trying their best to participate and contribute to
Starlite’s caring with love activities. During the period, the
TEAM GREEN® product was again selected as a special gift for
Dr. Amy Khor, the guest of honor of the Singapore Packaging
Star Awards 2022. Special designs including iconic buildings in

Singapore showcased the uniqueness of Singapore’s skyline.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s sources of funding include cash generated from the
Group’s operations and banking facilities provided to the Group
by banks mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China. As at
31st March, 2023, the Group’s cash and bank balances and
short-term bank deposits amounted to approximately HK$252

million.

During the year under review, the interest expense of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$6 million compared to

approximately HK$18 million recorded last year.

As at 371st March, 2023, the Group had a working capital
surplus of approximately HK$235 million compared to a
working capital surplus of approximately HK$238 million as at
31st March, 2022. The Group was in net cash position as at
31st March, 2023 and 2022, based on short-term and long-term
bank borrowings, lease liabilities and bills payables net of bank
balance and cash of approximately HK$150 million (net cash)
(2022: HK$137 million (net cash)) and shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$644 million (2022: HK$671 million). The
Group’s gearing ratio as at 31st March, 2023 was 14% (2022:
22%), based on short-term and long-term bank borrowings,
lease liabilities and bills payables of approximately HK$93
million (2022: HK$148 million) and shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$644 million (2022: HK$671 million).
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CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31st March, 2023, certain assets of the Group with an
aggregate book carrying value of approximately HK$9 million
(31st March, 2022: HK$50 million) were pledged to secure the
banking facilities of the Group.

EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

All the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are
US dollars, Chinese

Renminbi, Malaysian ringgit, Singapore dollars or Euro. The

denominated in Hong Kong dollars,

exchange rate of US dollars/Hong Kong dollars is relatively
stable due to the current peg system in Hong Kong. The
Renminbi-denominated sales revenue helps to set off the
Group’s commitments of Renminbi-denominated operating
expenses in Mainland China, accordingly reducing Renminbi

exchange rate exposure.

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
Currently the Group has approximately 3,000 employees. The

Group maintains good relationships with its employees,
providing them with competitive packages, incentive schemes
as well as various training programmes. The Group has
maintained a Share Option Scheme under which share options
can be granted to certain employees (including executive
directors and non-executive directors of the Company (excluding
independent non-executive directors)) as incentive for their
contribution to the Group. The Group provides various training
and development programmes to staff on an ongoing basis. The
Group will explore the possibility of launching other special
training programmes with universities in Mainland China and

education institutions abroad to enhance its staff quality.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
promoting social enhancement whilst developing its businesses,
through active participation in social welfare and environmental
protection activities to realize its mission. Regardless of where
the Group operates, the Group treats the local communities as

family members and strives to contribute to such communities.
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In the past years, the Group has allocated significant resources
to energy conservation and environmental protection, provided
venues and platforms of training and job opportunities for
young people, and actively supported help-poor and schooling
campaigns as well as disaster relief efforts in China. Apart from
providing financial support, the Group also contributes people
and time to various charity drives. In many circumstances, the
Group’s Chairman makes initiative to organize joint efforts with
other enterprises and friends to pool resources together for the

maximum benefits of those in need.

During the year under review, the Group and its staff made

financial and other support to the following organizations:
— Support to Scout Association of Hong Kong

—  The Hong Kong Seagulls Scholarship Scheme

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
(“ESG”) REPORT

The Group has established an environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) management team to manage, monitor,
recommend and report on environmental and social aspects. An
ESG report is being prepared with reference to Appendix 27
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and will be
published on the Company’s website (http://www.hkstarlite.com)
at the same time as the publication of the 2023 annual report.

LOOKING AHEAD

In the latest World Economic Outlook report released in April
2023, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) projected the
growth rate to fall from 3.4% in 2022 to 2.8% in 2023, before
rising slowly and settling at 3.0% over the next five years,
which is the lowest medium-term forecast in decades. The
anemic economic outlook is due to the lasting economic scars
from the pandemic, the tight policy stances needed to bring
down inflation, the fallout from the recent deterioration in
financial conditions, the ongoing war between Russia and
Ukraine, and the decrease in direct investment resulting from
the growing geoeconomic fragmentation. Against the backdrop
of lower commodity prices, global headline inflation is set to
fall from 8.7% in 2022 to 7.0% in 2023, but underlying core
inflation is likely to decline more slowly. Inflation in most

countries is unlikely to return to target before 2025.
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Risks to the economic outlook remain unusually large and to
the downside. The management remained highly vigilant,
closely monitored and evaluated the impact of external factors
such as geopolitical risks and global economy on the Group. It
also actively adopted a number of measures to broaden sources
of income and reduce expenditures, strived to improve
automation, promoted innovation and diversified business
development, continued to invest in human capital,
digitalization and green energy, overcame the pressure of
geoeconomic differentiation, and strived to give back to society

and create long-term sustainable value for shareholders.
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Now that the pandemic is subsiding and the prolonged border
closure is over, the economic operation is gradually returning to
normal. Overall, the Group achieved 80% of its business in the
first quarter. In order to better facilitate new business
development in the current period, it is imperative to implement
measures to broaden sources of income and reduce

expenditures.

In order to promote the company’s incentive scheme more
effectively, each subsidiary company is encouraged to recruit
Lean Manufacturing consultants to participate in monitoring the
daily operational activities of each company according to its
unique conditions. At present, the Suzhou subsidiary has
implemented this scheme on a trial basis; the Shaoguan and
Guangzhou subsidiaries are running the scheme with an
internally selected team made up from administration and
production staff, instead of Lean consultants under the
leadership of the Group; while in the Malaysian company, the
Head of Production (who has just rejoined the company) is in

charge for promoting the scheme initiative.

This year will be full of challenges with the war between Russia
and Ukraine in Europe and the severe inflation crisis in the
United States. This has particularly affected Starlite Group,
which has its main overseas sales markets in Europe and USA.
Fortunately, the Malaysian company, which has been established
for more than a decade, has not been affected by these external
factors. As such, it has little pressure on the loss of orders, and
it can continue to provide customers with high-quality products
and services.

Global warming has prompted us to attach greater importance
to environmental protection measures. Carbon emission
management is also a new challenge for our enterprises. In
addition to tree planting, we are also harvesting solar energy,
processing industrial water, and separately processing rainwater/
domestic water in the industrial parks. Exhaust gas emissions
are also monitored and filtered to meet with local legislation on
air pollutants. We strive to complete these initiatives ahead of
schedule in line with the government’s goal of carbon
neutrality. Moreover, as a socially responsible company, every
subsidiary company under the Group has established an ESG
working group to formulate policies and establish a framework
for managing ESG-related matters, especially setting emission
reduction goals in such aspects as use of energy, greenhouse
gas, use of water, wastewater, air emission, waste chemical

management, etc. We are actively optimizing the environmental
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management system and strengthening climate change risk
management, integrating the concept of sustainable development
into the daily operation policy, and establishing green factory
operation, thereby sharing the Chairman’s vision of “Be thankful
and cherish, sustainable management”.

We have practically implemented automation and meritocracy
in terms of industry, and have actively promoted the use of
degradable materials in our own design and brand. “TEAM
GREEN®” is a good example in this regard. “TEAM GREEN®”
has recently identified bamboo as a bio-degradable material
which is versatile in its use for new home decorations, and
which is also beneficial in the promotion of de-plasticization.
These initiatives showcase the way to support environmental
protection by turning words into actions.

To promote the development of harmonious working
environment, different team-spirit building activities and training
are being carried out. The mutual spirit of cooperation by
employees in the production chain is demonstrated outdoors,
and the team games aimed at cultivating and building team
spirit has achieved good and safe professional team-building
goals. The development of the “spirit of sharing” initiative is a
foundation of the enterprise which encourages employees to

work with courage and initiative.

Besides, taking the initiative to share the responsibilities of the
government, we have also established a patriotic education base
so as to instil core values among young people. To achieve
this, the participation of employees, the support of customers,
suppliers and banks, and the affirmation of the government are
indispensable. The open days held by Shaoguan and Suzhou
subsidiaries earlier this year also provided an opportunity to
introduce the Company’s intelligent, cutting-edge new
technologies to customers, suppliers and banks in a timely

manner.

Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28th June, 2023
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

Revenue

Operating profit/(loss)

Profit/(loss) for the year

Profit/(loss) attributable to:

Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Dividends

Basic earnings/([osses) per

share attributable to the

owners of the Company

(HK cents)

KEEM,/ (FE)

FEER (B1R):
EAVNIIEZ 2SN
TR g i

BB

ARAHEAANEEER
EXREMN,/ (BR)
(Bl

meakER
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—BE-=fF —ZT—-_— B ZE-TF Z—TE-NF
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FAET FTHT FHET FAET
923,236 1,048,700 1,057,477 1,135,902 1,430,998
14,018 367,421 (98,713) 27,056 (14,506)
5,280 357,473 (98,525) 8,499 (37,925)
6,478 357,473 (98,525) 8,499 (37,925)
(1,198) — — — —
5,280 357,473 (98,525) 8,499 (37,925)
5,096 57,765 — 31,508 —
1.26 68.10 (18.76) 1.62 (7.22)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION

Non-current assets

Current assets

Current liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current

liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Net assets

Equity attributable to
owners of the

Company

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

FRBEE

MBEE

MBEEFR

BEERRY
B

FRBEE
BEFE

ZAN/NETEZ RN
JE A6 #E 71

IR

)

Bt 35 AR R &R

As at As at As at As at As at
31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 31st March,
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
R-ZBEZ=H RKRZZT_Z RZTBZ—% RIZT-_THE RIZ-NE
=f=+—-B =ZA=+—-8H =ZA=+—H =ZA=+—H =ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FAET FAT FAET FAET
419,738 434,716 426,780 340,946 379,051
533,754 604,760 592,722 516,623 637,239
(298,852) (366,570) (508,645) (391,313) (540,396)
234,902 238,190 84,077 125,310 96,843
654,640 672,906 510,857 466,256 475,894
(10,504) (2,261) (157,638) (17,665) (7,283)
644,136 670,645 353,219 448,591 468,611
643,374 670,645 353,219 448,591 468,611
762 - - - -
644,136 670,645 353,219 448,591 468,611
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The Directors have the pleasure of presenting their annual
report together with the audited financial statements of Starlite
Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) for the year ended 31st March, 2023.

Principal activities
The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the printing and manufacturing of
packaging materials,

labels and paper products, including

environmental friendly paper products.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment results are set out

in Note 5 to the accompanying financial statements.

Business review

A review of the business of the Group during the year as
required by Schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622) are covered in different sections of this annual report
as set out below, which shall form part of this Report of the

Directors.

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an
indication of likely future development in the Group’s business,
can be found in the Chairman’s Statement and Chairman’s

Letter set out on pages 7 to 23.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group has established procedures in place to ensure that
its operations comply with applicable laws, rules and
regulations. A senior management committee of the Company is
delegated by the Board to monitor the Group’s policies and
practices for achieving compliance with legal and other
regulatory requirements, and such policies and practices are
regularly reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules
and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant

employees and relevant operating units whenever necessary.

As far as the Company is aware, the Group has complied in all
material respects with laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the Group’s business and operations.

EZeMARZEXEEARATDTARARA) RE
MERAR(GBIAEEDBE T _=F=H
ST -HALFEZFEFREEERTBHRE -

FTEEK

ARal Ty —HREERAR - EMB AR EEZREH
IR EREME RE& MEEER BERR
%&iﬁ@uu"

REBEZ WA RS EBEE 2 7 BN M B RE
B LS -

¥ ERE

B E(R BGOIN(E6225) Hf RSB KA & B T # 4
NEBODE ODENARRAFRATIAESHA
Bl RULESHBRAESE®REZ 8D -

HAKEEXBNThEER BHZZEZRARRTH
AR RN RAR RSB EBAE /AL A MR R
‘2B RAIRRE7TZEMBEERE L EE R
o

BT EERER
AEETRYRFEARESEFTEEMNELE
BRARRI - RRANEZERBEEZEGESR
REEMBRETR - WA ERALMBEEREFR

SEARISAEBRKE LT - BAMMBEER.
BRARROIEEERNES A REEELEREA
HEAB T REEEM -

RARARA AEEREMEEEARLTAE RN
SEEXBREEREAXENHBERRERNR

.
E °



Major customers and suppliers

For the year ended 31st March, 2023, the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 31% of the Group’s total revenue
and the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 23%
of the Group’s total purchases. In addition, the largest customer
accounted for approximately 14% of the Group’s revenue while
the largest supplier accounted for approximately 7% of the

Group’s total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates, or any shareholder
(which, to the knowledge of the Company’s Directors, owned
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial

interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

Relationship with stakeholders

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with
its employees, providing quality services to its customers and

enhancing co-operation with its business partners.

Results and appropriations
Details of the Group’s results for the year ended 31st March,

2023 are set out in the consolidated income statement on page

84 of this annual report.

An interim dividend of HKT cent per share for the six months
ended 30th September, 2022 (30th September, 2021: interim
dividend of HK1 cent and a special dividend of HK10 cents)
were paid to shareholders on 16th February, 2023.

The Board of Directors do not recommend the payment of a
final dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2023 (2022: Nil).
As at 31st March, 2023, the Group’s retained profit of
approximately HK$397,639,000 was available for distribution to

the Company’s shareholders.

Share capital and employee share options
Details of movements in share capital and the employee share
option scheme of the Company are set out in Notes 25 and 26,

respectively, to the accompanying financial statements.

Reserves
Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in Notes 27 and 35(b) to the accompanying

financial statements.
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Reserves (Continued)
As at 3Tst March, 2023, the Company’s retained profit of
approximately HK$22,530,000 was available for distribution to

the Company’s shareholders.

Purchase, sale or redemption of shares

During the year ended 31st March, 2023, the Company
repurchased a total of 12,000,000 ordinary shares of par value
HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
with the aggregate consideration paid (before expenses)
amounting to HK$3,078,000. All the shares repurchased were
subsequently cancelled. As at 31st March, 2023, the total
number of shares of the Company in issue was 506,635,288.

Particulars of the share repurchases are as follows:

&1 (&)
R-ZE-=ZF=ZA=+—8  ARa AT K% 7K
R 2 AR5 F4922,530,0005 7T °

BE -HELBERRH

RBEZZEZ=F=ZA=+—HLEFERN  AQ7
RERBBEXZMAERAF([EZAT])ER AR A
& 75 7 & #£12,000,0000% & B E {E0.107% JT 2 I il
B BTz B E (B B X AT £3,078,0007% 7T ©
FEBRZBRMHEZEHEAHE R_T=_=F=A1
=+—H RRFEBEITRMEER506,635,2880% °

RpfEE 2 FIRMT

Aggregate
Number of consideration
Shares (before
Date HH# repurchased Price per Share expenses)
BRE
BEROEE BRBEEE (H1BRBA X AT)

Highest Lowest

BS 543
(HK$) (HK$) (HK$)
(%) (%) (# )
April 2022 —E- WA 4,000,000 0.295 0.280 1,152,100
September 2022 ZEZZFNA 3,000,000 0.250 0.238 741,000
October 2022 —E-—F+A8 2,000,000 0.240 0.232 470,100
February 2023 —E-=%=A 1,000,000 0.239 0.236 237,600
March 2023 —E-=ZF=A 2,000,000 0.240 0.227 477,200
Total: faEa 12,000,000 3,078,000

The Directors considered that such repurchases would enhance
the earnings per share and increase the net asset value per

share attributable to the shareholders.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
securities listed on the Stock Exchange during the year and up

to the date of this report.
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Pre-emptive rights
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the

Company’s Bye-laws and the laws in Bermuda.

Subsidiaries
Particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 17 to the

accompanying financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment and Investment
properties

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties during the year are set out in Notes 14

and 15 to the accompanying financial statements.

Bank borrowings
Particulars of bank borrowings as at 31st March, 2023 are set
out in Notes 22 and 32 to the accompanying financial

statements.

Pension scheme
Details of the pension scheme are set out in Note 9 to the

accompanying financial statement.

Charitable contributions
During the year, the Group made charitable contributions of
approximately HK$208,000 (2022: HK$285,000).

Directors and directors’ service contracts
The directors who held office during the year and up to the

date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tin Shing (Senior Vice President)

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching (Senior Vice President)

Mr. Wong Wai Kwok (Senior Vice President)

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Yeung Chui

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, sss, /P

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

Ms. Elizabeth Law (Appointed with effect from 1st April, 2023)
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In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, not less than
one-third of the directors will be retire from office by rotation
at the annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Chan Yue Kwong,
Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, ss8s, /¢, and Mr. Tam King
Ching, Kenny will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (the “AGM”) and, being eligible, offer themselves for

re-election.

Ms. Elizabeth Law was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company with effect from
1st April, 2023, pursuant to Bye-law 102B, she will hold office
until the conclusion of 2023 AGM and shall then be eligible,

offer herself for re-election at the AGM.

None of the directors has an unexpired contract with the Group
which is not terminable by the Group within one year without

payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Changes in information of directors
The change in the information of directors of the Company,
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of

the Listing Rules, is as follows:

Name of director and details of changes

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu

The service contract with a subsidiary has been renewed for a
term of 2 years from 1st April, 2023 to 31st March, 2025, other

terms and conditions remain unchanged.

Mr. Tin Shing
The service contract with a subsidiary has been renewed for a
term of 2 years from 1st April, 2023 to 31st March, 2025, other

terms and conditions remain unchanged.
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Changes in information of directors (Continued)

Name of director and details of changes (Continued)

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching

The service contract with a subsidiary has been renewed for a
term of 2 years from 1st April, 2023 to 31st March, 2025, other

terms and conditions remain unchanged.

Mr. Wong Wai Kwok

The service contract with a subsidiary has been renewed for a
term of 2 years from Tst April, 2023 to 31st March, 2025 with
the basic salary increased to HK$100,000 per month, other

terms and conditions remain unchanged.

Ms. Elizabeth Law

Appointed as an independent non-executive director of Wise
Ally International Holdings Limited (Stock code: 9918) with
effect from 1st June, 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Independent Non-Executive Directors’ confirmation of
independence

The Company has received independence confirmation from
each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry,
sBs, j,, Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny and Ms. Elizabeth Law
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers them

to be independent.
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Directors’ interests in shares and share options

As at 31st March, 2023, the interest of the Directors and Chief
Executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any specified undertaking of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Section 352 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as

follows:

Long positions in Shares

Personal
Name of Director Capacity interests
A g4 BAES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu Beneficial owner 202,962,677

S b 3 EHEAR

Ms. Yeung Chui
BRIt

Beneficial owner and interest of 79,916,000
controlled corporation

ERBERZEH AR 2 #E

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching Beneficial owner 118,000
AEREE St
Note:

1. Dayspring Enterprises Limited held 1,012,901 shares in the Company. The entire
issued share capital of the company is beneficially owned and controlled by
Ms. Yeung Chui.

EERRORBREZ#ES
RIEBZ=F=A=+—HA ARQRAEERHTE
AR B AR AR BB H) A B 3 E A AR B
B(EERBARAEBKRINTESFLHAEKRIDE
XVERE35216) Wi fn - B REF P EERE
B MEEIRGIEXVELE7 N FE80 G A MG AR A
MEEBMERZMAR AR (5] #mI0k
RERANSEREREFRBEKRI Z2ZFHEXER
RARBEAZEDIAR) KRHRARBLRE
HFLHEGROEGAEFZECTANER R
KE IR BBRAESF DRI ETRADA
HMEARRANBEZMOERIOARNT

REGZIE

Approximate %
Family Corporate of total
interests interests Total shareholding
3 A
By £ ARER Ay Al
— — 202,962,677 40.06%
— 1,012,901 80,928,901 15.97%

(Note 1)

(Hit1)
— — 118,000 0.02%

1. BECEERRAAFEEARDAN012,901KREKM ZARIZEHE
BIRAYBGEL T ESWA k2 -



Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Chief
Executive of the Company had, as at 31st March, 2023, any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Share option scheme

A share option scheme has been adopted by the Company at
the Special General Meeting held on 18th August, 2022 (the
“2022 Share Option Scheme”) to replace the share option
scheme which had been adopted on 15th August 2012 (the “Old
Share Option Scheme”). The Company may grant options to the
participants as set out in the 2022 Share Option Scheme.

Summary of the 2022 Share Option Scheme was as follows:

1. Purpose of the 2022 Share Option Scheme
To provide participants with the opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the

Company and its shares.

2. Participants of the 2022 Share Option Scheme
(i) any full-time employee of the Company or of any

subsidiary;
(ii) any executive director and non-executive director
(excluding independent non-executive directors) of

the Company or of any subsidiary; and

(iii)  any person approved by the Board.
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Total number of shares available for issue under the
2022 Share Option Scheme and percentage of issued
share capital as at the date of the annual report

The Company may initially grant options representing
51,463,528 shares under the 2022 Share Option Scheme
(i.e. approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of the approval of the 2022
Share Option Scheme and approximately 10.16% as at

the date of this annual report).

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the 2022 Share Option Scheme or
any other share option scheme adopted by the Company
must not exceed 30% of the shares in issue of the
Company from time to time. No options may be granted
under the 2022 Share Option Scheme or any other share
option scheme adopted by the Company if that will result
in the 30% limit being exceeded.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the
2022 Share Option Scheme

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to each
participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) under the 2022 Share Option Scheme or any
other share option scheme(s) adopted by the Company in
any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares

in issue.

The period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option
Must not be more than 10 years from the date of offer or

grant of the option.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

An option may be exercised at any time during a period
commencing on the expiry of 6 calendar months after the
date of grant of the option, but in any event not later

than 10 years from the date of grant.
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7. The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made or loans for such purposes must
be paid
The amount payable on acceptance of an option is
HK$10 and an offer shall remain open for acceptance by
the participant for a period of 28 days from the date on
which the letter containing the offer is delivered to that

participant.

8. The basis of determining the exercise price
The exercise price of share option shall be determined by
the Board in its absolute discretion and shall be the

higher of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business

day; or

(ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in
the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the 5 business days immediately

preceding the date of grant.

9. The remaining life of the 2022 Share Option Scheme
The 2022 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing on the
adoption date i.e. 18th August, 2022.

During the year, no share option was granted under the 2022

Share Option scheme and the Old Share Option Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or its other associated
corporations a party to any arrangement to enable any of the
Company’s Directors, Chief Executive of the Company (including
the spouse and children under 18 years old) or members of its
management, or its specified undertakings, to hold any interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or

debentures of, the Company or other associated companies.
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Directors’ interests in transactions, arrangements and
contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 33 to the accompanying financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
any of the Company’s directors or members of its management
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Substantial shareholders

So far as is known to any Director or Chief Executive of the
Company, as at 31st March, 2023, shareholders (other than
Directors or Chief Executive of the Company) who had interest
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept

by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions of substantial shareholders in the Shares of the

Company

Name of shareholder Capacity
ey =87

Ms. Li Lin interest of spouse
F L FLB i es

Note:

1. Ms. Li Lin (“Ms. Li”) is the spouse of Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (“Mr. Lam”) (director
and controlling shareholder of the Company), by virtue of SFO she is deemed to
be interested in the shares held by Mr. Lam. The shares held by Mr. Lam and
Ms. Li were the same block of shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March, 2023, the Company
has not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or
Chief Executive of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is composed of all the four Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The Audit Committee
has reviewed with management the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control system, and financial reporting
matters, including the review of financial statements for the year
ended 31st March, 2023.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is composed of all the four
Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The
Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility of
recommending to the Board the remuneration policy of all the

Directors and the senior management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is currently composed of the
Chairman of the Board, one Non-Executive Director and the
four Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The
principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular
basis and making recommendations to the Board regarding any

proposed changes.

Financial summary
A summary of the Group’s financial information for the last five
financial years is set out on pages 24 and 25 of this annual

report.

Directors’ interests in competing business

During the year ended 31st March, 2023, none of the Directors
nor their respective associates had any interests in a business
which competes or may compete with the businesses of the

Company.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, the
Directors confirm that the Company has maintained during the
year under review the amount of public float as required under

the Listing Rules.

Corporate governance
A report on the principal corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out on pages 39 to 63 of the

annual report.
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Management contracts

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Group’s business was entered into or existed during
the year ended 31st March, 2023.

Employee and remuneration policies
The Group recruited and promoted individual persons according
The Group

determined the remuneration packages of all employees

to their strength and development potential.

(including the Directors) with reference to individual

performance and current market rate.

Directors’ indemnities and insurance

Subject to the applicable laws, every director of the Company
shall be entitled to be indemnified by the Company against all
costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by him
or her in the execution and discharge of his or her duties or in
relation thereto pursuant to the Company Bye-laws. Such
provisions were in force during the course of the financial year
ended 31st March, 2023 and remained in force as of the date
of this report.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover for certain legal actions brought against its

directors and officers.

Auditor

The accompanying financial statements were audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for the re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the Company’s auditors for the
ensuring year, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28th June, 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) are committed to maintaining and
upholding good corporate governance in order to protect the
interests of shareholders and other stakeholders. The Company
strives at ensuring high standards of corporate governance in
the interests of shareholders and takes care to identify practices
designed to achieve effective oversight, transparency and ethical

behavior.

Throughout the year ended 31st March, 2023, the Company has
complied with the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in the then Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”), except for the deviations as

mentioned below.

This report includes information relating to corporate
governance practices of the Company during the year ended
31st March, 2023 and significant events after that date and up
to the date of this report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is at the core of the Company’s corporate
governance framework, and there is clear division of
responsibilities between the Board and the Management. The
Board is responsible for providing high-level guidance and
effective oversight of the Management. Generally, the Board is

responsible for:

o formulating the Group’s long-term strategy and monitoring

the implementation thereof;

o reviewing and approving the annual business plan and

financial budget;

o approving the annual and interim reports;

o reviewing and monitoring risk management and internal
control;

J ensuring good corporate governance and compliance; and

J monitoring the performance of the Management.
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Board Composition
At the date of this report, the Board has nine members,
comprising four Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director

and four Independent Non-Executive Directors.

During the year ended 31st March, 2023 and up to the date of
publication of this Annual Report, the Directors of the Company

are set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Tin Shing

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching

Mr. Wong Wai Kwok

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Yeung Chui

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, s8s, /P

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

Ms. Elizabeth Law (Appointed with effect from 1st April, 2023)

Biographical details of the Directors are set out from pages 64
to 68 of this Annual Report. Save as disclosed therein, there is
no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among the Directors. Independent Non-executive
Directors are identified in all corporate communications. A List
of Directors and their Role and Function is available on both
the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”) and the Company.

Review will be made regularly by the Board to ensure that it
has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirement of the Company and its subsidiaries. Also, a
balanced composition of Executive Directors and Non-executive
directors is maintained to ensure independence and effective

management.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors represented more than
one-third of the Board members, thus exhibiting a strong
independent element which enhanced independent judgement.
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny and Ms. Elizabeth Law,
Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company are
practicing Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong and
possesses appropriate professional qualifications and financial

management expertise as required under the Listing Rules.

The Board is scheduled to meet at least four times a year to
determine overall strategic direction and objectives and approve

interim and annual results and other significant matters.

During the year ended 31st March, 2023, four full Board
meetings, the 2022 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) and one
Special General Meeting (“SGM”) were held with an average

attendance rate of 100%, details of which are presented below:

Board Members EEgRE

Executive Directors HBTES

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman of M E(EFE
the Board and Chief Executive FEEHTR)
Officer)

Mr. Tin Shing S

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching & B S A

Mr. Wong Wai Kwok = (2 B % 4

Non-Executive Director FHITES

Ms. Yeung Chui BRI L

Independent Non-Executive BIUFHITES
Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BRA¥E St e &

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, 87 8=
SBS, JP REHEE X F#+

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny & E A

Ms. Elizabeth Law (Appointed with

effect from 1st April, 2023)
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Yearly meeting schedule is discussed and approved by the
Board at the beginning of the year. Board agenda is approved
by the Chairman following consultation with other Board
members. Board agenda and meeting materials are dispatched

to all Board members in a timely manner.

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are complied
with and advises the Board on corporate governance and
compliance matters. They are also encouraged to take
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in
performance of their duties, if necessary. Furthermore, all the
Directors are covered by the Directors’ & Officers’ Liability

Insurance, which is also part of our best practices.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The Company does not have
a separate Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Lam
Kwong Yu currently holds both positions. The Board believes
that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person would allow the Company to be
more effective and efficient in developing long-term business
strategies and execution of business plans. The Board believes
that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured
by the operation of the Board which comprises experienced and
high caliber individuals with a sufficient number thereof being

Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Code Provision C.2.7 stipulates that the chairman should at
least annually hold meetings with the independent non-
executive directors without the presence of other directors. As
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, the Chairman of the Company, is also an
Executive Director of the Company, this code provision is not

applicable.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Yeung Chui has been re-designated from the position of
Executive Director to Non-Executive Director upon her
retirement from the Company. Ms. Yeung has not been
appointed for a specific term as she is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at AGM in accordance with the Bye-

laws of the Company.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors
The roles of the Independent Non-Executive Directors include

the following:

o provision of independent judgement at the Board meeting;
J take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

. serve on committees if invited; and

. scrutinize the performance of the Group as necessary.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company and
their immediate family receive no payment from the Company
or its subsidiaries (except the Director fee). No family member
of any Independent Non-Executive Directors is employed as an
executive officer of the Company or its subsidiaries, or has been
so in the past two vyears. The Independent Non-Executive
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws of
the Company. Each Independent Non-Executive Director has
provided a confirmation of his/her independence with reference

to the independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee and the Board has assessed the
independence of all the Independent Non-Executive Directors of
the Company and considers all of them to be independent
having regard to (i) their annual confirmation on independence
as required under the Listing Rules, (ii) the absence of
involvement in the daily management of the Company and (iii)
the absence of any relationships or circumstances which would

interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement.

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry,
sgs, p and Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny have served as
Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company for more
than 9 years. In addition to their confirmation of independence
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chan,
Mr. Kwok and Mr. Tam continue to demonstrate the attributes
of an independent non-executive director and there is no
evidence that their tenure have any impact on their
independence. The Nomination Committee and the Board are of
the opinion that Mr. Chan, Mr. Kwok and Mr. Tam remain
independent notwithstanding the length of their service and
believe that their valuable knowledge and experience continue
to generate significant contribution to the Company and the

shareholders as a whole.
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Code Provision B.2.4 stipulates that where all the independent
non-executive directors of an issuer have served more than nine
years on the board, the issuer should (a) disclose the length of
tenure of each existing independent non-executive directors on
a named basis in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the notice of the annual general
meeting; and (b) appoint a new independent non-executive
directors on the board at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (“AGM”). During the year ended 31st March, 2023, all
the existing independent non-executive directors of the
Company have served on the board for more than nine years,
however the Company had inadvertently overlooked the
disclosure requirement and did not disclose the length of tenure
of each independent non-executive directors in the circular to
shareholders dated 15th July, 2022. The Company published a
supplemental announcement on 13th October 2022 to provide
the supplemental information in relation to the length of tenure

of each independent non-executive directors as follows:

Name Tenure

e £ 5

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael
Rt E

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry
B 58 A

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny
EBILEE

On 28th March, 2023, Ms. Elizabeth Law was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company for a term
of two vyears with effect from Tst April, 2023 to fulfil the
requirement of Code Provision B.2.4(b). Pursuant to Bye-law
102B, she will hold office until the conclusion of 2023 AGM
and shall then be eligible, offer herself for re-election at the
AGM.
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Appointments, Re-election and Removal

There is a formal and transparent procedure for the appointment
of new directors to the Board, the primary responsibility of
which has been delegated to the Nomination Committee. The
structure, size and composition of the Board will be reviewed
from time to time by the Nomination Committee to ensure that
the Board has a balanced skill and expertise for providing

effective leadership to the Company.

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, at each
AGM, not less than one-third of the directors shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall retire at least once every
three vyears. The retiring directors shall be eligible for re-
election. New appointments either to fill a casual vacancy or as
an addition to the Board are subject to re-election by

shareholders of the Company at the next following AGM.

Except for Ms. Elizabeth Law as disclosed above, all remaining
Non-Executive Directors including Independent Non-Executive
Directors of the Company have not been appointed for a
specific term as they are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at AGM in accordance with the Bye-laws of the

Company.

Responsibilities of Directors

Upon acceptance of appointment, a new Director is provided
with sufficient orientation package, including introduction to
Group activities (when necessary), induction into their
responsibilities and duties, and other regulatory requirements, to
ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the business

and his/her responsibilities as a Director of the Company.

All Directors are committed to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group. Directors are given
guideline on their time commitments to the affairs of the
Company. Directors have also disclosed to the Company the
number and nature of offices held in Hong Kong or overseas
listed public companies or organizations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies or
organizations. Directors are reminded to notify the Company in

a timely manner of any changes of such information.
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

To ensure their contributions to the Board remains informed
and relevant, all the Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skill. During the year, the Company had
arranged in-house trainings for Executive Directors and the Non-
Executive Director in form of seminar and provision of training
materials. In addition, the Company also provided regular
updates to the Directors in respect of the business and
operations of the Group through monthly reports; and the
updates on the changes in Listing Rules, Corporate Governance

Code and related regulatory requirements, if any.

During the year, the continuous professional development taken

by the respective Directors are as follows:

ESCRHESXERRE
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Type of training

Board Members ExEmE FIRBER
A B C

Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman of the — Mt %EE (EFEFE

Board and Chief Executive Officer) R#ITR) v v —
Mr. Tin Shing H 3 5t & v v -
Mr. Poon Kwok Ching B kL v 4 4
Mr. Wong Wai Kwok =ERLE v v -
Non-Executive Director FHUITES
Ms. Yeung Chui BRELL v v -
Independent Non-Executive Directors B FHITES
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BR#8 e 58 & v - v
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, sss, P BB i 2s A TP+t v — v
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny B EE A v - v
Ms. Elizabeth Law (Appointed with BEXLZE(F-F—= N/A N/A N/A

effect from 1st April, 2023) P9H—HEEEZ(T) i@ A i@ A i@ A

reading materials in relation to regulatory update
attending in-house training to update business development

0w >

attending seminars/courses/conferences to develop professional skill and
knowledge

During the year, the Company received training records from all
Directors relevant to the Company’s business or to Directors’

duties and responsibilities.
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Supply of and Access to Information

To allow the Directors to make an informed decision and
properly discharge their duties and responsibilities, the Company
Secretary ensures that relevant Board papers are sent to all the
Directors in a timely manner. All Board papers and minutes are
also made available for inspection by the Board and its

Committees.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Board Committees

As at the date of this report, the Company has preserved three
board committees (“Board Committees”) with defined terms of
reference (which are posted on websites of the Group and the
Stock Exchange), namely Remuneration Committee, Nomination

Committee and Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises of all the four
Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company, namely
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (Chairman), Mr. Kwok Lam
Kwong, Larry, sgs, j,, Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny and
Ms. Elizabeth Law.

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy and
package of all the Directors and senior management, assessing
performance of executive directors and senior management,
review and approving annual performance bonus, approving the
terms of service contracts of executive directors and senior
management and/or approving matters relating to share schemes

of the Company.

The Committee Chairman is required to report to the Board on
its proceedings after each meeting on all matters within its

duties and responsibilities.
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During the year ended 31st March, 2023, the Remuneration
Committee approved and recommended to the Board the
payment of annual bonus to Executive Directors and reviewed
the new service contracts and remuneration package of
Executive Directors with reference to the Company’s
remuneration policy and the Directors’ duties and
responsibilities. The Remuneration Committee also review and
recommend to the Board the remuneration package of the
newly appointed independent non-executive director of the

Company Ms. Elizabeth Law.
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Meeting of the Remuneration Committee is required to be held #MZEEERZRIEFRITMAEE A Hﬂfﬁéﬁi Bt
at least twice a year to coincide with key dates within the HBHELRBEZAPAZEZHATER—B - -HZ
financial reporting and audit cycle. During the year ended 31st ZTZ=F=A=+—HUEFERXN FWHEZET ﬁiﬁ
March, 2023, four meetings were held, attendance of these TPAE#% MzSCEMEEENT :
meetings held by the Remuneration Committee is set out below:
Meetings
Attended/Held
Remuneration Committee Members FMESERE SREE BT
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (Chairman) BRSNS (&) 4/4
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, s8s, jp DB - rgnigs X Fat 4/4
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny 8 ESE A 4/4
Ms. Elizabeth Law (Appointed with effect from BEXRLT (BT -_=ZFMA—HE N/A
1st April, 2023) EZET) A3 A

The Remuneration Committee is authorised to investigate any
matter within its Terms of Reference and seek any information
it requires from any employee and obtain outside legal or other
independent professional advice at the cost of the Company if it
considers necessary. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed
the compensation of the Directors and senior executives for
2023.

Remuneration Policy

The remuneration of Directors and senior executives is
determined with reference to their expertise and experience in
the industry, the performance and profitability of the Group as
well as remuneration benchmarks from other local companies
and prevailing market conditions. Executive Directors and
employee also participate in bonus arrangements which are
determined in accordance with the performance of the Group

and the individual’s performance.
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Director’s fee of Executive Directors is HK$150,000 per annum,
Non-Executive Directors is HK$150,000 per annum and

Independent Non-Executive Directors is HK$200,000 per annum.

During the year ended 31st March, 2023, total Directors’
remuneration amounted to approximately HK$11,945,000 (2022:
HK$19,049,000) and senior executives’ remuneration amounted
to HK$867,000 (2022: HK$2,317,000), individual details of
which are disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statements.
Executive Directors and senior executives’ compensation
including incentive bonus shall be based on the corporate and

individual performance.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises of four Independent Non-
Executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, sss, /P
(Chairman), Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Tam King
Ching, Kenny and Ms. Elizabeth Law, one Non-Executive
Director, Ms. Yeung Chui and Chairman of the Board, Mr. Lam
Kwong Yu.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include:

(a) to review the structure, size and composition (including

the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board and to select or to make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of

individuals nominated for directorships;

(c) to assess the independence of the Independent Non-

Executive Directors; and

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and

succession planning for Directors.
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During the year ended 31st March, 2023, two meetings were HE-_T_=F=A=+—HILFERN RELZ8

held, attendance of these meetings held by the Nomination

Committee is set out below:

GRTTMARSE MEERENLEENT :

Meetings
Attended/Held
Nomination Committee Members REZEERE SEEE BT
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, sss, 7 (Chairman) BB rgses 7o+ (L/E) 2/2
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael PR A8 5 & 2/2
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu MR IR S A 2/2
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny 8 ESE A 2/2
Ms. Yeung Chui BRL+ 2/2
Ms. Elizabeth Law (Appointed with effect from BEFXRULT(A-F-_ZFWA—A# N/A
1st April, 2023) EZET) T3 A
Nomination Policy REWE
The Board has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the ARAR MR BK  EFIHARELZRELEES

criteria and process in the nomination and appointment of
Directors. Below are the nomination procedures and the process
and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to select

and recommend candidates for directorship.

Z AR RARE
AREZZRABEFLBRE-

THRREEZEGERMREARE

Selection Criteria REER

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria IR ZZEENIREBEEEZER X 2EATR
in evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships: RIAT&IE

(@)  Skills and Experience (a) HEERZE

The candidate should possess the skills, knowledge and
experience which are relevant to the operations of the

Company and its subsidiaries.

(b)  Diversity (b)
Candidates should be considered on merit and against
objective criteria, with due regard to the diversity
perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company and the balance of skills and experience in
board composition.

ANEBEABERARAREMB LR XL
ZERBE - AR MR
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EEEANEZERREBEEFEZR 18
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(d)

(e)

Commitment

The candidate should be able to devote sufficient time to
attend board meetings and participate in induction,
trainings and other board associated activities. In
particular, if the proposed candidate will be nominated
as an independent non-executive director (“INED”) and
will be holding his/her seventh (or more) listed company
directorship, the Nomination Committee should consider
the reason given by the candidate for being able to

devote sufficient time to the Board.

Standing

The candidate must satisfy the Board and the Stock
Exchange that he/she has the character, experience and
integrity, and is able to demonstrate a standard of
competence commensurate with the relevant position as

a director of the Company.

Independence
The candidate to be nominated as an INED must satisfy
the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the

Listing Rules.

Nomination Procedures

(a)

If the Nomination Committee determines that an
additional or replacement director is required, the
Committee may take such measures that it considers
appropriate in connection with its identification and

evaluation of a candidate.

The Nomination Committee may propose to the Board a
candidate recommended or offered for nomination by a
shareholder of the Company as a nominee for election to
the Board.

On making recommendation, the Nomination Committee
may submit the candidate’s personal profile to the Board
for consideration. The Board may appoint the candidate(s)
as director(s) to fill a casual vacancy(ies) or as an
addition to the Board or recommend such candidate to
shareholders for election or re-election (where

appropriate) at the general meeting.

()

(d)

(e)
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During the vyear under review, the Nomination Committee
reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board, the Board
Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy, and considered that
the said policies were appropriate and effective. Further, the
Nomination Committee also assessed the independence of all
independent non-executive directors of the Company and
recommended to the Board for approval of the re-election of
the retiring Directors at the 2022 AGM and nominated Ms.
Elizabeth Law for the appointment as independent non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 1st April, 2023 and to

assess her independence in accordance with Listing Rules.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises of all the four Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company, namely Mr. Tam King
Ching, Kenny (Chairman), Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr.

Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, sgs, /,, and Ms. Elizabeth Law.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required to
oversee the relationship between the Company and its external
auditors, review with management the accounting principles
and practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control system, and financial reporting
matters, including the review of financial statements for the year
ended 31st March, 2023.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the interim and annual
results for the year ended 3Tst March, 2023 and was content
that the accounting policies of the Group are in accordance
with the generally accepted accounting practices in Hong Kong.
It also meets twice a year with the Group’s external auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”), to consider their report on the
scope, strategy, progress and outcome of their independent
review of the annual audit of the consolidated financial
statements. During the year ended 31st March, 2023, two
meetings were held, attendance of the meetings held by the

Audit Committee is set out below:

EZEEeRBEARE _T-_=F=A=+—HI
FENTHREFELE THASENETEHED
HEBRERENLTERMANEHAERRTIRE
% 8 & I 82 7 5 B 1) 51 B A% SR 28 K Rl ok 38 & 5HAD
EBEMIRERDEBFRITMACE UEEREE
MBI EEZREVERENFEEZNEE - K
B EEMERMREINRE BE-_T_=F=
A=+—BLEFERN BRZEERTTMAGHE "
HEERET :

Meetings

Attended/Held

Audit Committee Members EREEERE 2REE BT
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny (Chairman) B ESE () 2/2
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BR¥S e 8 & 2/2
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, sgs, jp IME S - e s A Fmt 2/2
Ms. Elizabeth Law (Appointed with effect from BEXULT(A-F-_ZF0WA—A# N/A
1st April, 2023) EZET) T3 A

Corporate Governance Function

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s corporate
governance compliance. The Company has not established a
Corporate Governance Committee and has delegated the
function to a senior management committee to perform the
corporate governance function. The scope of works of the

committee including the following:
o to review performance of the Group regularly;

o to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make

recommendations to the Board;

. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior

management;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory

requirements;

o to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and

directors.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching, has been appointed as Company
Secretary of the Company with effect from Tst April, 2019. He
is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures
are followed and Board activities are efficiently and effectively
conducted. These objectives are achieved through adherence to
proper Board processes and the timely preparation and
dissemination to Directors comprehensive meeting agendas and
papers. Minutes of all Board meetings and Board committees
are prepared and maintained by the Company Secretary to
record in sufficient details the matters considered and decisions
reached by the Board or Committee, including any concerns
raised or dissenting views voiced by any Director. All minutes
are sent to Directors and are available for inspection by any

Director upon request.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the
Board is fully appraised of all legislative, regulatory and
corporate governance developments relating to the Group and
also responsible for the Group’s statutory compliance. The
appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject
to Board approval in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company. The Company Secretary reports to the Board, all
members of the Board have access to the advice and service of
the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary of the
Company has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. In
response to specific enquiries made, the Company Secretary
confirmed that he has complied with all the proposed
qualifications, experience and training requirements of the
Listing Rules.

Mr. Poon confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours

relevant professional training during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules for securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings and
code of conduct regarding securities dealings by directors as set
out in the Model Code for the year ended 31st March, 2023.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting
The Board

statements for each financial period which give a true and fair

is responsible for the preparation of financial

view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flow for that period. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2023, the Directors have
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards;
made adjustments and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and have prepared the financial statements on the
going concern basis. The Directors are also responsible for
keeping proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the

Company.

The Company provides monthly updates to the Board to assess
the Group’s financial performance, position and prospects in
sufficient details to enable the Board members to discharge their

duties under the Listing Rules.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are to provide a clear governance
structure, policies and procedures, as well as reporting
mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage its risks across

business operations.
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The Group has established a risk management framework,
which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and the
senior management of the Group (“Senior Management”). The
Board determines the nature and extent of risks that shall be
taken in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and has the
overall responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation
and the overall effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems. The Board, through the Audit Committee,
conducts reviews of the effectiveness of such systems at least
annually, covering all material controls including financial,
environmental,

operational, social and governance (“ESG”)

performance and reporting as well as compliance controls.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy
in providing directions in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks (including ESG risks). At least on an annual
basis, the Senior Management identifies risks that would
adversely affect the achievement of the Group’s objectives, and
assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according to a set of
standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then

established for those risks considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional
advisor to assist the Board and the Audit Committee in ongoing
monitoring of the risk management (including ESG risks) and
internal control systems of the Group and in performing the
internal audit functions for the Group. Deficiencies in the
design and implementation of internal controls are identified
and recommendations are proposed for improvement. Significant
internal control deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee
and the Board on a timely basis to ensure prompt remediation

actions are taken.

Risk management report, internal control report and ESG report
are submitted to the Audit Committee and the Board at least
once a year. The Board, through the Audit Committee, had
performed annual review on the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems, including but not
limited to the Group’s ability to cope with its business
transformation and changing external environment; the scope
and quality of management’s review on risk management and
internal control systems; result of internal audit work; the extent
and frequency of communication with the Board in relation to
result of risk and internal control review; significant failures or
weaknesses identified and their related implications; and status

of compliance with the Listing Rules.
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The Board has assessed the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and considers the systems were

effective and adequate during the year.

The risk management and internal control systems of the Group
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or

loss.

The Group has the Inside Information Policy which sets out
guidelines to the Directors and senior management of the Group
to ensure inside information of the Group would be
disseminated to the public in equal and timely manner in

accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31st March, 2023, certain transactions
between the Group and parties regarded as “related parties”
under the applicable accounting standards subsisted. Certain of
these related party transactions also constituted connected
transactions as defined under the Listing Rules. Details of
related party transactions are disclosed in note 33 to the

consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by PwC. During the year, remuneration of approximately
HK$2,522,000 was for the provision of audit services. In
addition, approximately HK$336,000 was for other non-audit
services. The non-audit services mainly consist of tax

compliance and advisory services.

DIVERSITY

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”)
which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity
on the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.
Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge

and length of service.
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The Nomination Committee will report annually on the
composition of the Board under diversified perspective, and
monitor the implementation of this Policy to ensure its
effectiveness. It will discuss any revisions that may be required
and recommend such revisions to the Board for consideration

and approval.

The Board appointed Ms. Elizabeth Law as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 1st April,
2023 demonstrate the Company’s commitment to gender
diversity in the Board. As at the date of this annual report, the
Board had two female members, representing approximately
22% of the Board. The Board committed the Company to
maintaining an appropriate level of female members on the
Board, which shall not be less than 20%.

The following table further illustrate the diversity of the Board

members as of the date of this annual report:

Name Gender Age

®E 1 5 £k

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu Mk & M5 76

Mr. Tin Shing M35 M5 59

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching EEB L E ME 45

Mr. Wong Wai Kwok BEREELE M5 56

Non-Executive Director FUTES

Ms. Yeung Chui BELL F& 76

Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHTES

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael B tE M5 71

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, sas, jp SHFE %4 - M3 67
REHEE K FHL

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny EBELE M5 74

Ms. Elizabeth Law BEERL F& 68

REZBENEFRAEETERETESZ TILEE 2K
BEHA YEEZBEZRT BRETZAEM-
REZBEERENWEMNATIEL ZBRIER

HEESZEBERIE -

EERRAREBEXLLIRARABIUNRNTES

)

BE-_Z_-FNA—HBHEER FHEARQA
EEeZ b - RAFHAH E=CEM
S RKREEGMNNN% EEEAREARD

]]]E

0

BAR
K
Gk

?ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ’ﬂkb%ﬁéé}@*? C Bl EER20% °

TRE-FTHABEAFHRANEFTSHENS T

&
Relevant experience
HEER
Printing &  Accounting
packaging & finance Legal
MRREE SFRME e
v
4
v
v
v
v v
v
v

Business

[GES



Subject to availability of experienced management personnel in
the industry, we have also adopted measures to promote gender
diversity in developing a pipeline of female senior management
and potential successors to the Board, including putting gender
diversity as a strategic priority when sourcing for the Director
candidates, forging and keeping relationship with the potential
candidates, as well as engaging more resources in training
female staff who have long and relevant experience in our
business, with the aim of promoting them to the senior

management or directorship of the Group.

Depending on the business needs of the Group, the Board will
take opportunities to increase the proportion of female members
over time as and when appropriate candidates are identified. As
at the date of this annual report, the Board is of the view that

the Board of the Company satisfied the board diversity policy.

Workforce diversity

As at 31st March, 2023, the gender ratio of the Group’s
workforce (including senior management) was 46% : 54% male
to female. The Board considers that the Group’s workforce
(including senior management) are diverse in terms of gender,
the overall split of male and female employees across the
Group as a whole is relatively balanced. However the technical
roles in operating printing press and machinery as well as
automation division filled disproportionately by men, whereas
the production process mainly filled by female. The Group is
working hard to overcome these barriers such as through on the
job training, anonymising job applications to help eliminate
biases in selection processes and increased job advertisements
across a broader range of platforms to reach a wider, more

diverse audience.

Diversity and anti-discrimination training is provided during
orientation training for all new joiners. Equal opportunity
seminars are also provided to all employees on a regular basis
to promote diversity and inclusion. We will target to maintain
gender diversity in the workforce by continuing to ensure that

the proportion of neither gender drops below 40%.

Details of the Group’s gender diversity at workforce level are

set out in the Group’s ESG report published separately.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with shareholders is given high priority.
Extensive information about the Group’s activities is provided in
the annual report and the interim report. The Group’s website
(www.hkstarlite.com) provides regularly updated Group
information to shareholders. Enquiries on matters relating to
shareholdings and the business of the Group are welcome, and
are dealt with in an informative and timely manner. The Group
encourages all shareholders to attend AGM and SGM. Notice of
the AGM and related papers are sent to shareholders at least
twenty-one (21) clear days prior to the date of AGM. All other
general meetings (including a special general meeting) may be
called by notice in writing of not less than fourteen (14) clear

days unless otherwise specified in the Bye-Laws.

The chairmen of all Board Committees are invited to attend the
AGM. The Chairman of the Board and the chairman of all the
Board Committees are available to answer questions at the
AGM. Auditor is also invited to attend the AGM to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and
auditor’s independence. Pursuant to the Listing Rules, any vote
of shareholders at a general meeting will be taken by poll.
Detailed procedures for conducting a poll will be explained to
the shareholders in the general meeting so that shareholders are
familiar with such voting procedures. The poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
on the day of the general meeting. Moreover, a separate
resolution will be proposed by the chairman of a general

meeting in respect of each substantially separate issue.

The Company has established the Shareholders” Communication
Policy setting out the formal channels of communication with
shareholders and other stakeholders for ensuring fair disclosure
and comprehensive and transparent reporting of the Group’s
performance and activities, a copy of the policy has been

posted to the website of the Group.
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During the year ended 31st March, 2023, the Board reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholder
Communication Policy. The Group’s website was updated on a
regular basis to maintain an effective ongoing communication
with Shareholders and Shareholders could access the latest
information of the Company through the Group’s website.
Information released by the Company to the Stock Exchange
was also posted on the Group’s website as soon as reasonably
practicable thereafter. Shareholders were provided with the
opportunities to communicate with the Directors and senior
management directly at general meetings. Enquiries from
Shareholders were responded within a specific timeframe. Based
on the above, the Board was of the view that the Shareholder

Communication Policy was effective.

Shareholders’ Rights

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, Directors of
the Company shall on the requisition of members of the
Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of such of the paid up capital of the
Company carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require a
special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business or resolution specified in such
requisition and to add resolutions to a meeting agenda; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionists themselves may proceed to convene
a physical meeting at only one location which will be the

principal meeting place (as defined in Bye-Law 63).

Details of the procedures for shareholders to convene and put
forward proposals at an AGM or SGM are set out in the
Company’s website. Shareholders may send their enquires
requiring the Board’s attention to the Company’s principal place
of business at 3/F., Perfect Industrial Building, 31 Tai Yau
Street, Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong Kong or by e-mail to
enquiry@hkstarlite.com. Questions about the procedures for
convening or putting forward proposals at an AGM or SGM

may also be put to the Company by the same means.
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The Company also values and is eager to hear suggestions and
comments from shareholders and investors. For enquiries from
institutional investors and securities analysts please contact our

Company Secretary.

Investor Relations

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Designated senior management
maintains regular communication and dialogue with
shareholders and investors. As a channel to promote effective
communication, the Group maintains a website at
www.hkstarlite.com where the Company’s announcements and
press releases, business developments and operations, financial
and other

information, corporate governance practices

information are posted.

Dividend Policy

The Company has established a Dividend Policy which was
adopted by the Board to set out the guidelines for the Board to
determine (i) whether dividends are to be declared and paid;
and (ii) the level of the dividend to be paid to the shareholders.
It is the policy to allow the shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profits whilst to retain adequate reserves for future

growth.

In determining/recommending the frequency, amount and form
of any dividend in any financial year/period, the Board shall

consider the following factors:
(i) the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

(i) the Group’s expected working capital requirements and

future development plans;
(iii)  the Group’s liquidity position;
(iv)  general economic conditions, business cycle of the
Group’s business and other internal or external factors

that may have an impact on the business or financial

performance and position of the Company;

(v)  the possible effects on the Group’s credit-worthiness, the
financial covenants to which the Group is subject and
any restrictions on the payment of dividends that may be

imposed by the Group’s lenders;
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(vi)  shareholders’ interests;

(vii) any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

(viii) and other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of dividend is also subject to the compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, including the laws of Bermuda,
the financial reporting standards that the Group has adopted

and the Company’s Bye-laws.

Constitutional Documents

During the year, the Company has adopted the new bye-laws in
substitution for and to the exclusion of the existing bye-laws for
the purpose of, among others, (i) to provide flexibility to the
Company in relation to the conduct of general meetings; (ii) to
bring the existing bye-laws in line with the Core Shareholder
Protection Standards set out in Appendix 3 of the Listing Rules;
and (iii) to incorporate other consequential and housekeeping
amendments to update or clarify provisions of the existing bye-
laws. The adoption of the new bye-laws was duly approved by
Shareholders as a special resolution of the Company at the
SGM held on 18th August, 2022.

The amended and restated bye-laws could be found on the

websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange.

On behalf of the Board
Poon Kwok Ching

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 28th June, 2023
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DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Executive directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, aged 76, has been an Executive Director of
the Company since 1992. He is the Chairman of the Board,
founder and Chief Executive Officer of the Group. He holds a
Master Degree in Business Administration (Distinguished Alumni
Awards) from the National University of Singapore. Mr. Lam has
been in community work in China and Hong Kong for many
years. He is a member of the Standing Committee of the 10th,
11th and the 12th National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference, a director of Chinese
Overseas Friendship Association, a member of Selection
Committee for the Government of HKSAR and a committee
member of the Election Committee Subsector Elections,
Chairman of Mainland Affairs Committee of Scout Association
of Hong Kong, Deputy Chairman of Federation of Hong Kong
Guangdong Community Organizations Charitable Foundation
Limited, Chairman of Polar Museum Foundation, Director of
Future Star, an Adjunct Professor of College of Business of City
University of Hong Kong and Director of Guangzhou Jinan
University. Mr. Lam has received several prominent awards
including “Hong Kong Ten Outstanding Young Persons Award
1986”, “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 1988”, the first
“Hong Kong Entrepreneurs Award 1990”, “Outstanding
Achievements Award” of the “Hong Kong Print Award 1999”
and “Medal of Honor (M.H.)” from the government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region in 2002. Mr. Lam has over
58 years’ experience in the printing industry and takes charge
of the overall planning, strategy and development of the Group.
He has made dedicated efforts to enhance the transformation of
Starlite, business diversification, products development, OBM
product, intelligent (automation) systems and industry 4.0 in

recent years.

Mr. Tin Shing, aged 59 joined the Group in September 1981.
He was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company
and director of several wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company with effect from 1st April, 2019. Mr. Tin has over 40
years’ experience in the operation and management of package
printing companies and he has been responsible for the overall

planning and daily operations of the Group in the PRC.
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Mr. Poon Kwok Ching, aged 45, joined the Group in September
2006. He was appointed as Executive Director; an Authorised
Representative of the Company; the Senior Vice President (Chief
Financial Officer) of the Group; the Company Secretary of the
Company; and a director of certain subsidiaries within the
Group with effect from Tst April, 2019. Mr. Poon graduated
from The University of Hong Kong and holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Business Administration and he has extensive
experience in the fields of audit and accounting. Mr. Poon is a
Hong Kong Accounting Expert appointed by the Ministry of
Finance of the PRC, a Committee Member of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference Guangzhou City, a
Fellow Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Poon has also received a Commendation
awarded by the Home Affairs Bureau of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the PRC in 2018.

Mr. Wong Wai Kwok, aged 56, joined the Group in 2001. He
was appointed as Executive Director of the Company with effect
from Tst April, 2022. He is currently the Senior Vice President
(Marketing and Sales) of the Group and responsible for
overseeing the Group’s marketing and sales. Mr. Wong has over
30 years of experience in the printing business relating to
books, greeting cards and packaging. His strength is in account
management, business development, strategic planning, and
communications with internal and external parties. He is also
responsible for managing the Group’s FSC-COC certification
since 2007 to ensure the required standards are met and to
manage the number of participating sites under the scope of the

Group’s certification.
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Non-Executive director

Ms. Yeung Chui, aged 76, is one of the founders of the Group.
She was re-designated from the position of Executive Director
to Non-Executive Director of the Company with effect from
1st September, 2011. She has over 50 years’ experience in the

printing industry.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, aged 71, Independent
Non-Executive Director, Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, member of the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. He has been an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company since 1993. Mr. Chan
was the former Chairman and is currently the non-executive
director of the publicly-listed Cafe de Coral Holdings Limited in
Hong Kong. He is also a Non-Executive Director of Tao Heung
Holdings Limited, an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Pacific Textiles Holdings Limited, Tse Sui Luen Jewellery
(International) Limited, Modern Dental Group Limited, and
Human Health Holdings Limited, all of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He holds a
double major degree in Sociology and Political Science, a
Master degree in City Planning from the University of Manitoba,
an Honorary Doctorate Degree in Business Administration, and
is bestowed as Honorary Fellow from Lingnan University.
Mr. Chan currently is the adviser of the Quality Tourism
Services Association, as well as being the Honorary Chairman
of the Hong Kong Institute of Marketing. He has many years of
professional experience in the public sector and over 30 years’

managerial experience in the food and catering industry.
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Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Llarry, s8s, jr, aged 67, Independent
Non-Executive Director, Chairman of Nomination Committee,
member of the Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee
of the Company. He was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in July 2004. He is
currently a partner of Kwok Yih & Chan (“KYC”), Solicitors.
Prior to founding KYC, he worked in a number of international
law firms, including Baker & McKenzie, Simmons & Simmons
(Partner), Andersen Legal (Managing Partner, Greater China),
Mallesons Stephen Jaques (Managing Partner, Mainland China
and Hong Kong) and King & Wood Mallesons (Managing
Partner, Asia Strategy & Markets). He graduated from the
University of Sydney, Australia with combined degrees in
accounting/economics and laws respectively as well as a
master’s degree in laws. He also obtained the Advanced
Management Program diploma from the Harvard Business
School. He is qualified to practise as a solicitor in Hong Kong,
Australia, England and Wales and Singapore. He is also
qualified as a Chartered Accountant in England and Wales and
a CPA in Hong Kong and Australia. He has served regularly on
Government boards and committees. Previously, he was
Chairman of the Transport Advisory Committee, Chairman of
the Independent Police Complaints Council, Convenor of the
Disciplinary Appeals Committee of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, Chairman of the Traffic Accident Victims Assistance
Advisory Committee, Chairman of the Appeal Board of the
Criminal & Law Enforcement Injuries Compensation Boards,
Vice-Chairman of the Consumer Council and Deputy Chairman
of the Appeal Board under the Consumer Goods Safety
Ordinance. He is currently Chairman of the Buildings Appeal
Tribunal and an arbitrator of the Shenzhen Court of International
Arbitration.
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Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, aged 74, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee, member
of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. He was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in July 2004. He is a
practising Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong. He is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tam is serving as a
member of the Restructuring and Insolvency Faculty Executive
Committee in the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He is also a Past President of The Society of
Chinese Accountants and Auditors. Mr. Tam also serves as an
independent non-executive director of certain listed companies
on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, namely, Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited, Capital
Industrial Financial Services Group Limited (formerly known as
Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited), Hong Kong
Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited, West China Cement
Limited, BeijingWest Industries International Limited and

Wisdom Education International Holdings Company Limited.

Ms. Elizabeth Law, aged 68, was appointed as Independent
Non-Executive Director, member of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company with effect from 1st April, 2023. Ms. Law graduated
from McGill University, Canada in 1976. She is the Managing
Director of Law & Partners CPA Limited and Proprietor of
Stephen Law & Company, a Chartered Professional Accountant,
Chartered Accountant of Canada, a Fellow of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (Practising), a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales and a fellow member of Certified Public Accountant
of Australia. Ms. Law is an independent non-executive director
of Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited, Clifford Modern
Living Holdings Limited, The Wharf (Holdings) Limited, Onewo
Inc. and Wise Ally International Holdings Limited, shares of the
aforesaid companies are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.
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Following is the list of properties held by subsidiaries of the WZZZ=F=A=+—BHAEEZWBR A

Group as at 31st March, 2023: BZMENT :
% of interest held
Locations Approximate area Purpose by the Group
rEBEFARES
it B MAER AR Bk
(Sq.m.)
(75 3K)
1. 3/F, Perfect Industrial Building, 31 Tai Yau 1,849 For own use 100%
Street, Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BRENEIERABEIIMEXTEKRENE 8 H 100%
2. Car park numbers L3, L4, L5 and P37 at In aggregate 75 For own use 100%
Perfect Industrial Building, 31 Tai Yau
Street, Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BENEFBEABABIMEXZTEREL, aft7s am 100%
L4, L5 P375% ¥ fi
3. Unit 1, 5/F, Perfect Industrial Building, 31 Tai 340 Leased out 100%
Yau Street, Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong
ERNEFBEEMAREENREXITERER HAE 100%
15 =
4. Unit 2, 5/F, Perfect Industrial Building, 31 Tai 384 Leased out 100%
Yau Street, Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong
ERNEFEEMAEEANREXITERNER HAE 100%
2=
5. Flat E, 37/F, Block 1A, The Arch, No. 1 38 Leased out 100%

Austin Road West, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BEENERT@EAIEIIEFIIAE7EER i 100%
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Locations
Hb B
6. Land-use-right and factory premises at 189,

Kaifa Avenue, Guangzhou Economic &

Technological Development District, PRC

FR R B O A 7 % A A B [ R B K B189SR 2

T fE AE RS
7. AR OE N B B[R B K A 145%10045F

AP N B B[R B K AL 145%10045%

8. Land-use-right and factory premises at Muxi
Liu Lu, Muxi Industry Zone, Shaoguan City,
Guangdong Province, PRC

PR TR TRERZ NI Z T A
N

9. Land-use-right and factory premises at No.88
Hu Tai Xin Road, Liuhe Town Taicang
City, Jiangsu Province, PRC

BT & A K2 WO ST BR885E 2 L1t
155 7 8 K 5

10. Land-use-right and factory premises at No.98
Hu Tai Xin Road, Liuhe Town Taicang
City, Jiangsu Province, PRC

BT # A K 2 O8N SEB KT B8 985t 2
£ b {5 R R S

Approximate area

BOEE
(Sq.m.)
(F 5 K)

11,448 (land)
(+3h)

3,350

(factory premises)

(B =)

124

126,358 (land)
()
99,702

(factory premises)

(B )

19,760 (land)
(t)
10,238

(factory premises)

(BB )

63,860 (land)
(13t)
34,872

(factory premises)

(B 5=)

Purpose

i es

For own use

8

Staff quarter
BIEE

For own use

8 H

For own use

EN

For own use

=P

% of interest held

by the Group
rEEBHES
Bk

100%

100%

100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%



Locations

i B

11.

12.

Leasehold land and factory premises at PLO
17, Jalan Persiaran Teknologi, Taman
Teknologi Johor, 81400 Senai, Johor,
Malaysia

ERFas Z#MPLO 17, Jalan Persiaran
Teknologi, Taman
Teknologi Johor, 81400 Senai, Z & + iy

111 Somerset Road #10-01 111 Somerset,
Singapore

111 Somerset Road #10-01 111 Somerset,
ESWIIE S

Approximate area

BOEE
(Sq.m.)
(F 5 K)

12,140

81

Purpose

i es

For own use

8 H

For own use

8

% of interest held

by the Group
rEEBHES
Bk

100%

100%

100%

100%
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To the Shareholders of Starlite Holdings Limited

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Starlite Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),

which are set out on pages 84 to 208, comprise:

. the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st
March, 2023;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then
ended;

. the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for

the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the

year then ended;

. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and
. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which

include significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31st March, 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities

in accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key audit matters are identified in our audit as follows:

J Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and prepayments for non-current assets;

and

. Provision for inventories obsolescence.
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Key Audit Matter
MEETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESNMEERRESEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and prepayments for non-current assets

ME-BERRE EREEEURFADEEZANRZBRERN G

Refer to Notes 2.5, 2.7, 2.20, 4(a), 14 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements
BRI EN 225 2.7 2.20 - 4(a) ~ 14816

The Group has approximately HK$377,710,000 of property,
plant and equipment (“PP&E”), right-of-use assets (“ROU”)
and prepayments for non-current assets as at 31st March,
2023, of which approximately HK$84,547,000,
HK$243,213,000 and HK$49,950,000 are related to the
Group’s production plant and machinery, ROU and
prepayments for non-current assets in eastern and southern
China and Malaysia respectively. The Group’s eastern and
southern China segments and Malaysia are three separate
Cash Generating Units, with eastern China generating profit
of approximately HK$20,031,000, while southern China and
Malaysia are suffering from loss for the year of
approximately HK$4,574,000 and HK$10,177,000
respectively. The recovery of the economic performance of
the assets in eastern China, southern China and Malaysia
were slower than expected due to global market sentiment,
intense competition and Coronavirus Disease 2019
pandemic.

FEEER_Z_=ZF=ZR=+—HODE BELREBEY
¥ BELRHZE) CRAEEE(EREEEDARIERSY
B E 2 TN A /377,710,000 T H  £984,547,00078
JT ~ 243,213,000/ 7T A 5249,950,000% 7T 2 & &£ B 5 5K
ER FEALRFSRATHEERERES ERAEEEMN
RERBEEZANKEH  EEEMNER EFRFK
AESHMR=ZEBLIRCELEN RAFEERELR
7| #720,031,00078 7T + 1 2 5 & 5 K B 52 9 Bl 8% 15 &5 18 4
4,574,000/ 7T }210,177,0008 7L - ER - EFF L F KA E
ESARBNEESNRBHRRE TE2ANKRERTISE
# MR F 20198 B E IR IE F R E e

We performed the following procedures to address this
key audit matter:

BIVET T AT RFARARBREFE:

o We obtained an understanding of management’s
internal control and assessment process of the
preparation of cash flow projection and assessed
the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors such as
complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility
to management bias or fraud.

. THREEEARAMREE N ERRSRETRAMNF
HEE  WERBEERMEF 2 THTEEEE REME
ERBEZAKT(MEME BT E2HRY
ERERARNEEOGEMN) T EBRERRAN
A g o

o We evaluated management’s identification of the
impairment indicators by corroborating with
supporting evidence for the PP&E, ROU and
prepayments for non-current assets in eastern and
southern China and Malaysia.

. RERLREMURSRATHOYE  BHER&RE -
EREEEANERDGEEZRNKME » HAFIA
MEX Xt RER  HEREMRBNNRERR
HEITRHE -

. We involved our in-house valuation expert in
assessing the methodology of management’s
impairment assessment based on the value in use
calculation and the fair value less cost of disposal
model, and the key assumptions used in the
management’s impairment assessment of the PP&E,
ROU, and prepayments for non-current assets.

. BMPAASEEERFEREEEREEREER
A AABER H & RN ) R A S 5T B RUE R (4 710K
REEERME BEIERE EREEENRFE
MBEEZANKOBEF G ERBOBRRE -



Key Audit Matter
RERTEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESNMEERRESEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and prepayments for non-current assets

(Continued)

ME-BERRE ERAREEURFIADEEZANRZHER G ()

Management assessed the recoverable amounts of the PP&E,
ROU and prepayments for non-current assets in eastern and
southern China and Malaysia separately as three Cash
Generating Units, and based on the higher of values in use
or fair values less cost of disposal. The values in use and
fair values less cost of disposal of the PP&E, ROU, and
prepayments for non-current assets for these three Cash
Generating Units are determined by management based on
the future cash flow generated by these assets and the
market value of these assets respectively. Management
engaged independent external valuer to assist them to value
these assets. Based on management’s impairment assessment,
no impairment charge is recognised for all Cash Generating
Units.

EEEEANERBEEIAABERLEXRANRSE - K
FHEERMEAULSRAST=ZABYRSELELNY
¥ BMEL®RE EREEEARERDEE 2ANMN KN
AEEE - EEENARBLSFEEMELENRRRS
MEBARNKEEENTSEE EE=—HARSELEMZ
ME - BERRE EREEENRGERDEEZENRK
MERBERAABERLEXAK EIEEBHEBHILIIEB
HEMAGDERERELEEENEE REEEED
MERE  PAEBYL RS E A B3 EEREADRER S -

For value in use calculations, we assessed the
management’s impairment assessments based on the
future cash flow forecasts, by comparing sales
growth rates to the underlying assumptions in the
latest Board approved budgets and the discount
rates to the cost of capital for the Company and
comparable organisations. We tested the
mathematical accuracy of the calculations of the
management’s impairment assessments derived from
the forecast models and assessed key inputs in the
calculations by reference to management’s approved
budgets. We also checked the key data inputs, on a
sample basis, of management’s approved budgets
by reference to third parties information such as
purchase orders, and we assessed the historical
reliability of the budgets.

EREEMAEMS  RMEBE E/FRHE
EFeHANBETNERBRROHEEERETRE
ERAMBERETE L RABLE M EE
BERBEARAKRSMETABETOREFTE - HA
AATEREMBEINERSHNREFEFENE
BRI W2 EEE ML EREFETED
REABE RAT2ERBIESE=-HEH
MERETEEENLIATREOBSEE XA
HEENELATSEN -

We assessed the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuers.
BARHE T BB EMNBERE D IR
B
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Key Audit Matter
MEETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESNMEERRESEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and prepayments for non-current assets

(Continued)

ME-BERRE ERAEEEURFIADEEZANRZHER MG ()

We focused on this area because significant judgements are
involved in management’s impairment assessment in the
determination of the recoverable amounts of the PP&E, ROU
and prepayments for non-current assets which are based on
various key assumptions and estimates such as sales growth
rates and discount rates in the value in use calculations and
other assumptions and data inputs such as comparable
transactions and market values in determining the fair
values.

BAEIRL 2RAERENRBENGHY RERHEG
HaEREEDNE BELRE EREEENLIERY
BEZEMNROATKROEERERZHBREKRER LY KK
HEMMGF PINBEERRIRAECREENBRER
HibRBARBAZE  JIMAELBRORZARTISE
BAETEQAAEBME:

We also performed sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions underlying management’s impairment
assessments based on the cash flow forecasts by
considering the variables and fluctuations in those
underlying key assumptions by checking to
available market information and other supporting
evidence.

BMTERERAMBRBRNEHEI LD HE
BERBEARRSMSEAETRENHHEREE
REZETHREIN  ZHEAEMBEN K

mik

Based on the procedures performed above, we considered

the key assumptions and estimates used by management

in

assessing the impairment of PP&E, ROU and

prepayments for non-current assets to be supportable.
RBEALMAETHOREFR RMAR/EEEANRFEDE -
BEL&E EREEENRIERDEE 2 BN RER
BT AR -



Key Audit Matter
RERTEE

Provision for inventory obsolescence

REFEZRHE

Refer to Notes 2.10 and 19 to the consolidated financial

statements

ERRE AU FERENF2.10%19

At 31st March, 2023, the Group held inventories of
approximately HK$86,873,000, net of provision of inventory
obsolescence of approximately HK$29,325,000. Among
these inventories, there are raw materials of approximately
HK$28,734,000, work in progress of approximately
HK$20,219,000 and finished goods of HK$37,920,000.
Inventories are stated at lower of cost or net realisable
value.

RZE_=Z=f=ZRA=Z=+—-—H EXEB®HEEFELD
86,873,000/8 7T + H R BR & 7 5 2 Bl B % & £929,325,0008
T EZEFET - RMEL /528,734,000 7T - EE @A
£320,219,000%% 7T » & 2K fh 49 /337,920,000/% 7T ° 17 & A
B AN S A] B3R R (B DI BR o

Management assessed the provision for inventory
obsolescence periodically based on consideration of
potential obsolescence and slow moving of raw materials
and work in progress, and the estimated selling price less
cost to sell of its finished goods. The identification of
inventory obsolescence and determination of estimated
selling price less cost to sell require the use of significant
judgements by considering various factors, including their
nature, ageing, and the latest selling price.

EEEREHEEREREHARVY B RERR  UEE
HEmHEHEERNERNANEE TEHIEREFE
MR- BAREFERE TG EER L ERAAER
ERHHTERZHERAER SFEENE BRENEE-

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESNMEERRESEE

We performed the following procedures to address this
key audit matter:

BIVET T AT RFARARBREFE:

o We obtained an understanding of management’s
internal control and assessment process of
management’s estimation of provision for
impairment of inventories and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud.

. THREBEBAXRAINEZEREREMHAFERER
BHOEBRE TREEBMHAZIRELERER
HEAREREZAN KT (NEMRE T8I &
PLAERERRLFEHGRM) FHERHER
Rt &Y & G LB e

o We understood, evaluated and tested the key
controls on management’s periodic assessment of
provision for inventory obsolescence across the
Group.

. BMTH FERAKAETEEEHFE EEER
EFaREnmREs -

J We tested, on a sample basis, the inventory aging
by comparing the inventory records with the

underlying documents.

. BMBEALBEFERSEREXG  mENAFE

5 A

HET °
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Key Audit Matter
MEETEE

Provision for inventory obsolescence (Continued)

REFE ZBE (H)

We regarded this as a key audit matter as provision for

inventory obsolescence required management judgements on

estimates of future demands and ageing of the inventories.

BMBRLAERENSTE SHNREFERE
[& 117 B 09 R R 5K S B e ff 51 1 th HI B -

== g6 A
R R
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESNMEERRESEE

We reviewed the subsequent utilisation of various
raw materials and work in progress, on a sample
basis, to assess the appropriateness of the associated
provision made, if any.
EMMERREBERM AR ERREROERS
o ARHEFTEARBEE (WA RTRE -

We reviewed the subsequent sales of finished

goods. We tested, on a sample basis, the
subsequent selling price of different products and
compared with the average unit costs.

BMESHRBERNEE  RAMEAATRE
mAERNEEL R IEMKAFELLE -

Based on the procedures performed above, we considered
the estimates made by management in assessing the
provision for inventory obsolescence to be supported by
available evidence.

REAEMETHORF RMARREEERFERER
T ERERMEL NG ETRREXR -



Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to

be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in

this regard.
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Responsibilities of Directors and Audit Committee

for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and

related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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J Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of

the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

J Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to

eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this

independent auditor’s report is Wilson Chan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28th June, 2023
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For the year ended 31st March, 2023

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains — net
Selling and distribution costs
General and administrative expenses

Impairment losses on financial assets

Operating profit
Finance income

Finance costs

Finance costs — net

Profit before income tax

Income tax (expense)/credit

Profit for the year

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share attributable to the
owners of the Company for the year
(expressed in HK cents per share)
— Basic

— Diluted

BHE_ZT-_=F=ZA=Z=+—BLtFE

Year ended 31st March,
BE=ZA=+—-HLEE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 7 FExT FET
A 5 923,236 1,048,700
5 B 7 (758,873) (950,020)
EX 164,363 98,680
Hmug A Ram — 558 6 19,205 468,781
HERDHER (51,705) (65,465)
—BRITEAX 7 (114,967) (131,031)
CREERBESRE (2,878) (3,544)
£ A 14,018 367,421
A& HA 1,278 465
Bh & B (5,673) (17,545)
BMEKRA — FH 8 4,395) (17,080)
i B4 B0 A 9,623 350,341
Fris® () He 11 (4,343) 7,132
R4 5 5,280 357,473
FE(RE R (&iE) -
KARER A 6,478 357,473
FEPE IR 1 = (1,198) —
5,280 357,473
KEXRRARERB A
EiEERAF
(BB WLZT) 12
— R 1.26 68.10
— BE 1.26 68.10

The above consolidated income statement should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

bR A a5 e B BE I 2 B 5 — ARG -



For the year ended 31st March, 2023

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive (loss)/income:

ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss

BHE-_ZT-_=F=ZA=Z+—BLtFE

RERF
H2m (&) ki
] G2 2 FT 77 30 F 15 7 4) B B

Currency translation differences

ltems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

EREZR

H 2 18 7 4978 H

Decrease in fair value of financial assets at fair

value through other comprehensive income

Total other comprehensive (loss)/income for the

year, net of tax

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year

attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income — _Filt4R& 2 H U & 5= FE ELRE MY 2 MY 5= —

K
E#)\HMEELBZ £ 7Y
2

AEEMEEEGE)
R BB
FERXE(BR)RBRAHE
[EEARFEE (BE) RS EHE

EN/NSIE7Z =N
JE% B 1R

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Year ended 31st March,

=Z=A=+—BLHEE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FHT
5,280 357,473
(25,278) 19,895
(256) (75)
(25,534) 19,820
(20,254) 377,293
(19,056) 377,293
(1,198) —
(20,254) 377,293

BFARRE o
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As at 31st March, 2023

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Right-of-use assets
Prepayments for non-current assets
Deferred income tax assets
Financial assets at fair value through

other comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Prepayments and deposits
Tax recoverable
Bank deposits with maturity over 3
months from date of deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to the owners of the
Company
Share capital

Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

7
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RBEE
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BNREBERRS
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Note
k=3

14
15
16
20
24

18

18

19
20
20

21
21

25
27

RZZE_=F=A=+—H

As at 31st March,

MR=B=+—H

2023 2022
—Eg-= —_=__

HK$/000 HK$'000
TER FHET
347,349 361,213
16,866 17,463
26,762 25,735
3,599 9,130
11,906 11,169
1,179 1,435
12,077 8,571
419,738 434,716
86,873 115,330
172,865 172,461
22,142 28,743
91 2,602
8,764 202
243,019 285,422
533,754 604,760
953,492 1,039,476
50,664 51,864
592,710 618,781
643,374 670,645
762 —
644,136 670,645




As at 31st March, 2023

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and bill payables
Other payables and accruals
Contract liabilities

Current income tax liabilities
Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

were signed on its behalf.

Lam Kwong Yu
R N
Chairman
TR

Note
B 5E
8&
ERBEE
HEBE 16
EEFEREE 24
REBEE
EHEMNEZRLEE 23
HtwEARRETEE 23
ERNAaE 5
BNERFRIS R B &
mE 22
HEBE 16
EEAH
BuREEHEE
$F84H E208E 2

The consolidated financial statements on pages 84 to 208 were

approved by the Board of Directors on 28th June, 2023 and

The above consolidated statement of financial position should

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

7

RZEZ_=F=A=+—H

As at 31st March,

R=A=+—H

2023 2022
= § -—= —_=__

HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
5,111 1,371
5,393 890
10,504 2,261
93,712 99,734
85,854 89,519
7,148 4,851
24,134 26,449
84,130 141,357
3,874 4,660
298,852 366,570
309,356 368,831
953,492 1,039,476
AMBEBRRER -_E-_=FA

“tAREEFEeRERREESE -

Poon Kwok Ching
& B B
Director

EE

bl ER A BT AR O 3R e L RE B 2 B S — R ARGT o
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For the year ended 31st March, 2023

Balances at 31st March, 2021
and at 1st April, 2021

Comprehensive income

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income/
(loss)

Decrease in fair value of
financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive
income

Currency translation differences

Total other comprehensive

income, net of tax

Total comprehensive income

for the year

Transactions with owners in
their capacity as owners
Dividends paid

Share repurchases

Balance at 31st March, 2022

R-B=—-%
=Z=A=t+-HEK
—E-—F
MA—B&&

EE K&
RE M

Htt2mEkE (B8

BRAABEFARLR
HEENEBEEZ

Bl

i}

R EERD

EHES

Y

Hit2ENELE
— BRB%&

AEEEPRERRE

BENAERALZ
BEAXS
EANEES
BB D

i =Sl 3
ZA=t+-—H#&#%

BHE_ZT-_=F=ZA=Z=+—BLtFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NSNS 2PN A
Non-
Share Reserves controlling Total
capital (Note 27) Sub-total interests equity
fet

EN (i 5E27) IR REERRiEE . BaAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAET FTHET TET TAET
52,514 300,705 353,219 — 353,219
— 357,473 357,473 — 357,473

— (75) (75) — (75)
— 19,895 19,895 — 19,895

— 19,820 19,820 — 19,820

— 377,293 377,293 — 377,293

— (57,765) (57,765) — (57,765)
(650) (1,452) (2,102) — (2,102)
51,864 618,781 670,645 — 670,645




For the year ended 31st March, 2023

Balances at 31st March, 2022
and at 1st April, 2022

Comprehensive income/(loss)

Profit/(loss) for the year

Other comprehensive loss

Decrease in fair value of
financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive
income

Currency translation differences

Total other comprehensive loss,

net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for

the year

Transactions with owners in
their capacity as owners

Dividends paid

Share repurchases

Contributions from non-

controlling interests

Balance at 31st March, 2023

89

BHE-_T--"F-A=+—HLFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
EATHEE AELNL
Non-
Share Reserves controlling Total
capital (Note 27) Sub-total interests equity
i
Bt A& (Bt ¥27) PNEE OFERER Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER TER TER FER TER
N-ZE=-=
=A=t-ARK
= g p—
A—HB#&t 51,864 618,781 670,645 — 670,645
2EkE(BR)
AERF(BE) — 6,478 6,478 (1,198) 5,280
Hth2EER
BARBEFAEMS
Al EHNEREE
NABERD
— (256) (256) — (256)
EREE — (25,278) (25,278) — (25,278)
Hth2EEEAE
— BREE — (25,534) (25,534) — (25,534)
AEZHEEBEE
— (19,056) (19,056) (1,198) (20,254)
HERRREEAZ
REARS
BERRE — (5,096) (5,096) — (5,096)
% 17 & 51 (1,200) (1,919) (3,119) — (3,119)
FIEREROEREA
— — — 1,960 1,960
R-E-=
=B=+—-H#&#&% 50,664 592,710 643,374 762 644,136

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

bl AR A R B D 5% PR B B I 2 P B — G ARBE -



For the year ended 31st March, 2023 BHE_ZT-_=F=ZA=Z=+—BLtFE

Year ended 31st March,

=HA=+-BLEE
2023 2022
—E-=F e
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
s FTHET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities RETHHERE
Cash generated from/(used in) KEEBEELE/ (FTA)Z
operations e 28(a) 90,270 (62,705)
Interest paid EAAFE (5,389) 9,377
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEENSR (194) 8
Overseas income tax paid BB INTIE T (1,053) (40,416)
Hong Kong profits tax refunded EREEBNEN 2,623 1,742
Net cash generated from/(used in) wEESELE (TR Z
operating activities BeF8E 86,257 (110,764)
Cash flows from investing activities REFHZRERE
Payments of property, plant and M BB N&R B2 R
equipment (48,632) (107,864)
Proceeds from disposals of property, EEWE HELEREZ
plant and equipment A5 A 28(b) 1,910 5,008
Proceeds from disposals of right-of-use EEEREEE ZME
assets WA — 9,726
Acquisition of a subsidiary W — B B8 2~ 7 29 — (15,647)
Proceeds from the disposal of a HE—MBARZHME
subsidiary N — 299,368
Investment in financial assets at fair RER AN EBEFAER
value through profit or loss MErEE (3,337) —
Increase in short-term bank deposits MEXAREBBE=(E
with maturity over 3 months from ARz EHRITER
the date of deposits o (8,562) (M
Interest received B F B 1,278 465
Net cash (used in)/generated from BREES (A EEZ
investing activities RE 58 (57,343) 191,055
Cash flows from financing activities RETH2RSRE
Proceeds from bank loans HILIRITER 10,000 88,285
Repayments of bank loans BEPBITER (62,753) (108,269)
Principal elements of lease payments HENRAE M (5,563) (5,556)
Interest elements of lease payments HENRF B M (284) (224)
Dividends paid 28 (5,096) (57,765)
Share repurchases R 17 B B (3,119) (2,102)

Net cash used in financing activities REEETA RS F5 (66,815) (85,631)




For the year ended 31st March, 2023

Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year

Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of
the year

BHE-_ZT-_=F=ZA=Z+—BLtFE

Note

Bt 5
ReRESEEZFERD
FIzEEREEEHE
RekReFEZER

(B8 W=

FR2ZE2RELSHE

21

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read L4 &R &R

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Year ended 31st March,

ZA=t+—-BLEE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FHT
(37,901) (5,340)
285,422 275,047
(4,502) 15,715
243,019 285,422

BREEREH 2 M — GFA6] -
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General information

Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an
investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the printing and manufacturing of
packaging materials, labels and paper products, including
environmentally friendly paper products. The Company
and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to the

“Group”.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 3rd
November, 1992, as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The
address of its registered office is Victoria Place, 5th Floor,
31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda and its
principal place of business is 3/F, Perfect Industrial
Building, 31 Tai Yau Street, Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. The Company’s shares have been listed on The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 1993.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in

Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise

stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and financial asset at fair value
through other comprehensive income which are

carried at fair value.

—REHR

EXEERAERABATARADID —HKEEE
BAE-HMNBLARMNEEXBRENRRE
EEEMH BREMERERER BRRFEASA
Em ARARENBARSRE(AER]) -

N

ARABR—NMNZFE+-—A=ZHREARE
RAEHIBHR AR EZIMALAEREE
R A A o H kit 3 F B #h ik A Victoria Place,
5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10,
Bermuda M H X 2E XMt REBNEFHME
AEH=Z+—"HSEITERE=E - A2 7
BHE-—NMN=ZFEREEBERIMAR
NI

|

BREREAN WEGAMBBREINBT(E
T2 -

EREUHBREMERE
REUSGANBRENEANEIERHK
EHFIMT - RABEAN  LEBRRERE
SIZFAFEERER -
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
Note 4.

(a) Amendments and accounting guideline
adopted by the Company
The Company has applied the following
amendments and revised guideline for the
first time for the financial year beginning 1st
2022

operations.

April, and are relevant to its

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Property, plant and
equipment:
proceeds before

intended use

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKAS 3

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
annual
improvements
project

Accounting
Guideline 5
(Revised)

Onerous contracts
— cost of fulfilling
a contract

Reference to the
conceptual
framework

Covid-19-related rent
concessions beyond
2021

Annual improvements
2018-2020 cycle

Merger accounting
for common control

combinations

2

EZEMBEME (&)
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(@)

b

Amendments and accounting guideline
adopted by the Company (Continued)
The amendment listed above did not have
any impact on the amounts recognised in
prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future

periods.

New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretation (collectively refer as
“Amendments”) that are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the
Company

Certain amendments to existing standards
and interpretation have been published that
are not mandatory for 31st March, 2023
reporting periods and have not been early
adopted by the Group. These standards are
not expected to have a material impact on
the entity in the current or future reporting
foreseeable future

periods and on

transactions.

2

EZEMBEME (&)

2.1
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretation (collectively refer as
“Amendments”) that are not yet effective

and have not been early adopted by the

2

Company (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS Practice Statement 2

EREGTERBIRZBITR
EEGTEAEB R EE2R

Amendments to HKAS 8

S G ERIE8R 2 &

Amendments to HKAS 12

BB GETERIE125 2 EET

HKFRS 17

R EHmEERE175

Amendments to HKFRS 17

BAMBREEE175R 2
&3]
Amendments to HKAS 1

FETERIFE15 2185
Amendments to HKAS 1
BEGEAEIR 2R
Amendments to HKAS 16

SE g ERIE 165 2 55T
HK-Interpretation 5 (Revised)

%E:/% —_— u%%%%S‘iﬁ(%« Ik HT)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

BAVBEREERFE109% &
ARG ERFE285 2 185]

Disclosure of accounting policies

Definition of account

et AR E S

Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities

arising from a singl
HE-QGMELZ

TP
Insurance contracts
=)

Initial application of

95

EZEMBEME (&)

2.1 RBEZE(E)
) DREMRAERGKREREEERD
ZHER - BRZIEFGTRZE (%
VAR INNE V)

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
FEHEBARR
D#EEN
1st January, 2023
—E_=%—HA—H
ing estimates 1st January, 2023
—E-=F5—HA—H
1st January, 2023

e transaction
EEMBEEEZE —T-_=F—A—H
1st January, 2023
—E-=F5—HA—H

HKFRS 17 and 1st January, 2023

HKFRS 9 — comparative information

VI e R E B MRS
B IS s A E

non-current

MBLERBDEED

e ROM IR BIAE

EREI7RERES —T-_=ZF—HA—H

9%k — LLIWE R

Classification of liabilities as current or

1st January, 2024

L ZEME—A—H

Non-current liabilities with covenants 1st January, 2024
& —E-_mHE—-HA—H

Lease liability in a sale and leaseback 1st January, 2024
—E-mME-HA—H

EREONEERE

Classification by the borrower of a term

1st January, 2024

loan that contains a repayment on

demand clause
BERAHEBREX
> 5k

Sale or contribution of assets between an

investor and its ass
HEEREE QA
B & ok &

EBREF2BHER —T-_NmWF-A—H
To be determined
ociate or joint venture

FeLErEZRNE
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretation (collectively refer as
“Amendments”) that are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the
Company (Continued)

None of the above Amendments is expected
material

to have a impact on the

consolidated financial statements of the

Company in the current or future reporting

periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.
2.2 Principles of consolidation
2.2.1 Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including

structured entities) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control

ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is
used to account for business combinations
by the Group (see Note 2.2.2).
Intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the

transaction provides evidence of an

impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the

Group.

2
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2.2
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TDAREXRERAREFEERD
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Bk E PGS TR
KRAIBKREORBEKREKRNE
2
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Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EERETHRMEE
(Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation (Continued) 22 HREWERA (A
2.2.1 Subsidiaries (Continued) 2.2.1 W& 2 A (&)
Non-controlling interests in the results and MEBAREENMERPOIETER
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately *Efcﬁﬁi alER HezEK
in the consolidated income statement, ER CHAEEDEPREEAN
consolidated statement of comprehensive BHRREZEFR IR -

income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of

financial position respectively.

2.2.2 Business combinations 222 EBEH
The acquisition method of accounting is RAWBERMBEREHA
used to account for all business R-MAMABERANTALHM
combinations, regardless of whether equity BERTWEMSEG WEEA
instruments or other assets are acquired. The RIPTEEAERIA N SEMERK

consideration transferred for the acquisition

of a subsidiary comprises the:

o fair values of the assets transferred, . FrEgEEEn A EE

. liabilities incurred to the former J B XA EHE AT
owners of the acquired business, EENEE-

. equity interests issued by the Group, . REBEBBITHRANESRS

. fair value of any asset or liability . FRREREEENEM
resulting from a contingent EEXBENAREBE
consideration arrangement, and K

. fair value of any pre-existing equity . BB B8 & B 89 £E fa] BE B B
interest in the subsidiary. RERB AR EE -

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities XA BRI &) AT 3B

and contingent liabilities assumed in a MEEANMPAZENEELER

business combination are, with limited BE BRARZAIINER TR

exceptions, measured initially at their fair WHEERAREAABEEN S

values at the acquisition date. g

The Group recognises any non-controlling AN B R E R W R ERIE QR

interest in the acquired entity on an BEIFETRERERKEER

acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair ABBIEEFENKLOIELS

value or at the non-controlling interest’s RN W BT kT

proportionate share of the acquired entity’s Bt o

net identifiable assets.



Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EERETHRMEE
(Continued)
2.2 Principles of consolidation (Continued) 22 HREWERA (A

222 ¥XKEOGE)

2.2.2 Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as

incurred.

The excess of the

° consideration transferred,

. amount of any non-controlling interest

in the acquired entity, and

J acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquired

entity.

over the fair value of the net identifiable
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If
those amounts are less than the fair value of
the net identifiable assets of the business
acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in the consolidated income statement
as a bargain purchase. Contingent
consideration is classified either as equity or
a financial liability. Amounts classified as a
financial liability are subsequently
remeasured to fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in the consolidated income

statement.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at
the acquisition date. Any gains or losses
arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in the consolidated income

statement.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2

Principles of consolidation (Continued)
2.2.3 Change in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result in a
loss of control as transactions with equity
owners of the Group. A change in ownership
interest results in an adjustment between the
carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests to reflect their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount of the adjustment to
non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised
in a separate reserve within equity

attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or
equity account for an investment because of
a loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity
is remeasured to its fair value with the
change in carrying amount recognised in
profit or loss. This fair value becomes the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to the consolidated income
statement or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs.

2
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2

2.3

24

Principles of consolidation (Continued)
2.2.4 Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial

position, investments in subsidiaries are
accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost
also includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis

of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in

subsidiaries is required upon receiving

if the

dividend exceeds the total comprehensive

dividends from these investments

income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend

amount of the investment in the separate

is declared or if the carrying

financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial

statements of the investee’s net assets

including goodwill.

Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner

consistent with the internal reporting provided to

the chief operating decision-maker.

operating decision-maker,

The chief

who is responsible for

allocating resources and assessing performance of

the operating segments, has been identified as the

Chairman/Chief Executive Officer who makes

strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

@

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is the Company’s functional and the

Group’s presentation currency.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

(0

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
of the

exchange rates at the dates

transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are generally recognised in the consolidated

income statement.

All other foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in the consolidated income
statement within “other income and gains —

”

net”.

Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial assets,
such as equities classified as financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive
income, are included in other comprehensive

income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated

into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the
date of that statement of financial

position;
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Group companies (Continued)

(ii) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates

prevailing on the transaction dates, in

which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of

the transactions); and

(i) all

differences are recognised in other

resulting currency translation
comprehensive income.
On consolidation, exchange differences
arising from the translation of any net
investment in foreign entities, and of
borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments,
are recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is sold or
any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit

or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sales.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on the acquisition of a foreign entity are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.
Currency translation differences arising are

recognised in other comprehensive income.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4

2.5

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d)  Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal
On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest
in a foreign operation), or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, all of the
currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation

attributable to the owners of the Company

are reclassified to consolidated income

statement.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the proportionate share of accumulated
currency translation differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in consolidated income

statement.

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly factories and offices.
Property, plant and equipment excluding
construction in progress, are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to

the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in

which they are incurred.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.5

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation on assets is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as
follows:

— Buildings 25 to 50 years
— Plant and machinery 5 to 10 years
— Furniture and equipment 5 to 10 years

— Motor vehicles 5 years

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period. An asset’s carrying
amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount

(Note 2.7).

Construction in progress comprises buildings on
which construction work has not been completed
and plant and machinery for which installation
work has not been completed. It is carried at cost
which

expenditures and other direct costs less any

includes construction and installation
impairment losses. On completion, construction in
progress is transferred to the appropriate categories
of property, plant and equipment at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. No depreciation is
provided for construction in progress until it is

completed and available for use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within “other income and gains

— net” in the consolidated income statement.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.6

Investment properties
Investment properties, principally residential
buildings and industrial buildings, are held for
long-term rental yields and are not occupied by
the Group. Investment properties are initially
measured at cost, including related transaction
costs and where applicable borrowing costs. After
initial recognition, investment properties are carried
at carrying values, representing cost less
depreciation and provision for impairment loss, if

any.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the assets.
Subsequent expenditure is charged to the carrying
amount of the asset only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the
property will flow to the Group and the cost of the
property can be measured reliably. All other repair
and maintenance costs are expensed in the
consolidated income statement during the financial

period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method to write off the cost over the estimated
useful lives to their estimated residual values.
Estimated useful lives of land and buildings are

from 25 to 50 years.

The residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each statement of
financial position date. The carrying amounts of
assets are reviewed regularly. An investment
property’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated

recoverable amount (Note 2.7).
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.7

2.8

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows (“cash-
generating units”). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed
for possible reversal of the impairment at each

reporting date.

Financial assets
) Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in

the following measurement categories:

J those to be measured subsequently at
fair value (either through other
comprehensive income (“OCl”) or

through profit or loss), and

o those to be measured at amortised

cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash

flows.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

Financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or
loss or OCI. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other

comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model for

managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the financial assets have expired
or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and

rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are

expensed in profit or loss.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the assets. There are two
categorise into which the Group classifies its

debt instruments.

J Amortised cost: Asset that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and
interests are measured at amortised
cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in
profit or loss and presented in “other
income and gains — net”, together
with foreign exchange gains and
losses.

o FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI
are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss
on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other income and
gains — net in the period in which it

arises.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in
OCl, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the
Dividends

investments continue to be recognised in

investment. from which
profit or loss as other income when the
Group’s
established.

right to receive payments is

Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVPL are recognised in other income and
gains — net in the consolidated income
statement as applicable. Impairment losses
(and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not
reported separately from other changes in

fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking
basis the expected credit losses associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost and FVPL. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been

a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the

receivables.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.9

2.10

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must
not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of

the Company or the counterparty.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average method. The cost of finished
goods and work in progress

comprises raw

materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal
operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable

variable selling expenses.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. They are generally due
for settlement within 1 year and therefore are all

classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the

amount of consideration that is unconditional

unless they contain significant financing

components, when they recognised at fair value.
The Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate. See Note 2.8
further information

for about the Group’s

accounting for trade receivables and for a

description of the Group’s impairment policies.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.12

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks and other short-
investments with original

term highly liquid

maturities of three months or less.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in
the consolidated income statement over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest

method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facilities will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
To the

extent there is no evidence that it is probable that

is deferred until the draw-down occurs.

some or all of the facilities will be drawn down,
the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve

months after the end of the reporting period.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.13

Borrowings and borrowing costs (Continued)
General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. All other borrowing costs are charged to
the consolidated income statement in the period in

which they are incurred.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are

presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using

the effective interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
in other

case, the tax is also recognised

comprehensive income or directly in equity,

respectively.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.15 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the date of statement
of financial position in the countries where
the Company and its subsidiaries operate
and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected

to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However,
the deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if it arises from initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the date of statement of financial position
and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the

deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised
only to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be
utilised.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.15 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in
deferred

timing of the reversal of the temporary

subsidiaries, except for

income tax liability where the

difference is controlled by the Group and it
is probable that the temporary difference will

not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised
on deductible temporary differences arising
from investments in subsidiaries only to the
extent that it is probable the temporary
difference will reverse in the future and
there is sufficient taxable profit available
against which the temporary difference can

be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net

basis.

liabilities are

legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either

Current tax assets and tax

offset where the entity has a

to settle on a net basis, or to realise the

asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.16 Ordinary share capital

Share are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue

of new shares or options are shown in equity as a

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.17 Employee benefits

(@)

b

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the date of

statement of financial position.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the

time of leave.

Retirement benefits

The Group participates in various defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes. A
defined contribution plan is a retirement
benefit scheme under which the Group pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity.
The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contribution for
post-retirement benefits beyond these fixed

contributions.

The schemes are generally funded through
payments to government authorities,
insurance companies or trustee-administered
funds. The Group pays contributions on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.
The contributions are recognised as
employment benefit expense when they are
due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund or
a reduction in the future payments is

available.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.17 Employee benefits (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Share-based compensation

The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of share
options is recognised as an expense over the
vesting periods of the options granted. The
total amount to be expensed over the vesting
period is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted excluding the
impact of any non-market vesting conditions.
Non-market vesting conditions are included
in the assumption that the number of option
that are expected to become exercisable. At
the end of each reporting date, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest. It recognises the
impact of the revision of original estimates,
if any, in the consolidated income statement,

with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital (nominal value) and share

premium when the options are exercised.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonuses and profit-sharing,
based on a formula that takes into
consideration the profit attributable to the
Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a
provision where contractually obliged or
where there is a past practice that has

created a constructive obligation.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.18 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating

losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of

obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risk specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to the passage of time is

recognised as interest expense.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.19 Revenue and income recognition

(@)

Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when control of the
products has been transferred to customers,
being when the products are delivered in
accordance to the delivery/shipping terms, or
when the risk of obsolescence and loss have
been transferred to the customers, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria

for goods delivery have been satisfied.

Customers obtain control when the goods
are delivered to agreed destination. Revenue

is recognised at that point in time.

A receivable is recognised when the goods
are delivered as this is the point in time that
the consideration is unconditional because
only the passage of time is required before

the payment is due.

2

EZEMBEME (&)

219 WARKBER

(@)

#HEHm

WARERONEZEFREEERP
KRR BEEnREXME
GHEX HERERBRAAE
PEBERP RAEERRE
BEBREAMAERE W HME
BEEMX -

BEEMREXERTRENZXE
W EES - Bl P BRI W
NS R

JEW RN RN BB RER
RUETERREBEREREZEH
HoO(RBEGHEBEABRER
AEHXAY) -



2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.19 Revenue and income recognition (Continued)

(b)

(©)

Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at
amortised cost calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in the

consolidated income statement.

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset except for
financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to
the net carrying amount of the financial

assets (after deduction of the loss allowance).

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the

right to receive payment is established.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EERETHRMEE

(Continued)

2.20 Leases 220 HE
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a HERHEZEAHRASEERE AR
corresponding liability at the date at which the RREREEENMEENAE -

leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are HEEENEERBBEVNSURERE
initially measured on a present value basis. Lease e -HEAEBSE TIHEMNKAF
liabilities include the net present value of the WIE -

following lease payments:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed . BEENK(BEEE LHOEE N
payments), less any lease incentives F)OREFAEREEREE &
receivable; and

. payments of penalties for terminating the . fish 7 55 B I B R SR I 1T R %R
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group RIS MRIEHEENSIR -

exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably BESEEETEEEEREINNBEER
certain extension options are also included in the R ABBEHEZA

measurement of the liability.



2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.20 Leases (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, which is generally the case
for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and

conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the

Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual lessee
as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third

party financing was received;

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a
risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk
for leases held by the Group, which does

not have recent third party financing, and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g.

term, country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the

remaining balance of the liability for each period.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.20 Leases (Continued)

2.21

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising

the following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of

lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease
incentives received;

o any initial direct costs; and

° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets including land use rights and
leasehold land are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term
on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-
use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s
useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of
equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-
value assets comprise IT equipment and small

items of office furniture.

Lease income from operating leases where the
Group is a lessor is recognised in income on a

straight-line basis over the lease term.

Dividend distributions
Dividend distributions to the Company’s
shareholders are recognised as a liability in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements and the
Company’s financial statements in the period in
the dividends

Company’s shareholders.

which are approved by the
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Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.22

2.23

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance
that the grant will be received and the Group will

comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred

and recognised in the consolidated income
statement over the period necessary to match them
with intended to

the costs that they are

compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred

consolidated income statement on a straight-line

revenue and are credited to the
basis over the expected lives of the related assets.

Contract liability

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received a consideration (or an amount
of consideration that is due) from the customer. If
a customer pays the consideration before the
Group transfers goods or services to the customer,
a contract liability is recognised when the payment
is made or the payment is due (whichever is
earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the

contract.
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3

Financial risk management

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s principal activities expose it to a
variety of financial risks: market risk (including
foreign exchange risk, fair value interest rate risk
and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk,
liquidity risk and price risk. The Group’s overall
risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. Risk management is carried
out by senior management of the Group under
policies approved by the Board of Directors of the
Company.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
Subsidiaries of the Company operate
in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”), Hong Kong, Singapore and
Malaysia with most transactions
denominated in either Renminbi
(“RMB”), Hong Kong dollars, Singapore
dollars (“SGD”), United States dollars
(“US$”) or Malaysian ringgit (“RM”).
The Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk primarily through sales
and purchases transactions that are
denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the relevant
subsidiary. The Group considers its
foreign currency exposure mainly
arises from the exposure of RMB and
SGD against Hong Kong dollars and/or
US$. As Hong Kong dollars is pegged
to US$, the Group believes the
exposure of transactions denominated
in US$ which are entered by group
companies with a functional currency
of Hong Kong dollars to be

insignificant.
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3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

@

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group manages its exposures to
foreign currency transactions by
monitoring the level of foreign
currency receipts and payments. The
Group ensures that the net exposure
to foreign exchange risk is kept to an
acceptable level from time to time.
The Group also regularly reviews the
portfolio of local and international
customers and the currencies in which
the transactions are denominated so as
to minimise the Group’s exposure to

foreign exchange risk.

As at 31st March, 2023, the Group’s
borrowings are mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars for operation in
Hong Kong and RMB for operation in
the PRC. At present, the management
does not expect that there will be any
significant foreign exchange risk
associated with the Group’s
borrowings and the Group did not use
any financial instruments to hedge its
foreign exchange risk arising from the

Group's borrowings during the year.

At 31st March, 2023, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2022:
5%) against Hong Kong dollars with
all other variables held constant, pre-
tax profit for the year would have
been approximately HK$106,000 (2022:
HK$120,000) higher/lower, mainly as
a result of foreign exchange gains/
losses on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, trade
payables and borrowings denominated
in non-functional currency of the

relevant group companies.
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3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

@

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March, 2023, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2022:
US$ with all

variables held constant, pre-tax profit

5%) against other
for the year would have been
approximately HK$1,585,000 (2022:
HK$739,000) higher/lower, mainly as
a result of foreign exchange gains/
losses on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, trade
payables and borrowings denominated
in non-functional currency of the

relevant group companies.

At 31st March, 2023, if SGD had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2022:
US$ with all

variables held constant, pre-tax profit

5%) against other
for the year would have been
approximately HK$872,000 (2022:
HK$703,000) higher/lower, mainly as
a result of foreign exchange gains/
losses on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, and trade
payables denominated in non-
functional currency of the relevant

group companies.

At 31st March, 2023, if RM had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2022:
Us$ with all
variables held constant, pre-tax profit

5%) against other
for the year would have been
approximately HK$344,000 (2022:
HK$1,096,000) higher/lower, mainly
as a result of foreign exchange gains/
losses on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, and trade
payables denominated in non-
functional currency of the relevant

group companies.
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Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

@

(i)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March, 2023, if EUR had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2022:
5%) against Hong Kong dollars with
all other variables held constant, pre-
tax profit for the year would have
been approximately HK$3,291,000
(2022: HK$1,492,000)

mainly as a result of foreign exchange

higher/lower,

gains/losses on translation of cash and
bank balances, trade receivables, trade
payables and borrowings denominated
in non-functional currency of the

relevant group companies.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk

As the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets except for the
cash and bank balances, the Group’s
income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes

in market interest rates.

As at 31st March, 2023 and 2022, the
Group’s interest rate risk mainly arises
from bank borrowings. The Group is
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank
borrowings. The Group’s cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate arising from

the Group’s bank borrowings.
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3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

@

(b)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk (Continued)
At 31st March, 2023, if interest rates
on bank borrowings and non-current
amount due to a purchaser of a
subsidiary had been 10 basis points
higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, post-tax profit for the
year would have been HK$67,000
(2022: HK$113,000)

mainly as a result of higher/lower

lower/higher,

interest expense on floating rate bank

borrowings.

Credit risk
The credit risk of the Group mainly arises
from trade receivables and deposits with

banks and financial institutions.

Credit risk on trade debtors is managed by
the managements of the individual business
units and monitored by the Group’s
Most

renowned.

management on a group basis.

customers are sizable and
Management assesses the credit quality of
smaller customers by considering their
financial position, past experience therewith
and other relevant factors. The utilisation of
credit limits is regularly monitored. Debtors
with overdue balances will be requested to

settle their outstanding balances.

At 31st March, 2023, the Group had a
concentration of credit risk as 29% (2022:
31%) of the total trade receivables were due
from the Group’s five largest customers and
6% (2022: 10%) of the total trade receivables

were due from the Group’s largest customer.
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Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss

allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the

days past due.

The Group categorises its trade receivables,
based on the nature and geographical areas
of the business, shared credit risk
characteristics and aging profile collectively.
The expected credit loss rates are determined
based on past repayment history and
historical credit losses experience. The
expected credit loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle

the receivables.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

b

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31st
March, 2023 and 2022 was determined as

follows for trade receivables:

As at 31st March, 2023
R-E-_=%5=ZHA=+—H

Expected loss rate BEHEBRX

Gross carrying amount BEEE(TET)
(HK$'000) — trade — BHRWER
receivables

Loss allowance (HK$’000) EEEE(FET)

As at 31st March, 2022
RZEZZF=ZA=+—H

Expected loss rate EHERX

Gross carrying amount REEE(TET)
(HK$'000) — trade — B HEAEER
receivables

Loss allowance (HK$’000) EEEE(FET)

Movements in loss allowance for trade

receivables are shown in Note 20.

M ERER (E)
31 MBEBREZRGE
b) EEERE)
2B EENE ()

Bl R-_ZT-_=FEx-_T-—
FZA-ZT—RAEHRRETL

WTRTEBERE
0-90 91-180 181-365 Over
days days days 365 days Total
0-90F 91-180F 181-365H #E#E365H B
0.7% 17.3% 37.4% 100.0%

163,013 8,206 6,799 12,497 190,515
1,193 1,418 2,542 12,497 17,650
0-90 91-180  181-365 Over
days days days 365 days Total

0-90H 91-180H 181-365H #iA365H HEE
3.1% 44.4% 89.7% 100.0%

176,350 2,830 174 8,351 187,705

5,482 1,255 156 8,351 15,244
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Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a

repayment plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on trade receivables is
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit/(loss). Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are
credited against the same line item.

Deposits are subject to impairment
requirement of HKFRS 9. The credit quality
of other receivables has been assessed with
reference to historical information about the
default rates and financial position of the
counterparties. Management is of the opinion
that the credit risk of deposits is low due to
the sound collection history and financial
stability of the counterparties. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of the other
receivables is assessed to be immaterial as

of 31st March, 2023 and 2022.

The Group has policies that limit the amount
of credit exposure to any individual financial
institution. The Group’s bank deposits are all
deposited in renowned and established banks
or financial institutions in Hong Kong,
PRC.

Management considers that the credit risk

Singapore, Malaysia and the

associated with deposits with banks and

financial institutes is low.
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3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(©)

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the
availability of funding through an adequate
amount of committed credit facilities. Due to
the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Group’s management aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by maintaining

availability under committed credit lines.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group’s liquidity reserve which comprises
cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits
with maturity over 3 months from date of
deposits (Note 21) and undrawn borrowing
facilities (Note 32) on the basis of expected

cash flows.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-
derivative financial liabilities into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the date of statement of financial
position date to contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Balances due within twelve months equal
their carrying balances, as the impact of

discounting is not significant.
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3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Specifically, for the bank borrowings which

contain a repayment on demand clause

which can be exercised at the banks’ sole

discretion, the analysis shows the cash

outflow based on the earliest period in

which the Group can be required to pay,

that is if the lenders were to invoke their

unconditional rights to call the loans with

immediate effect.

Group
At 31st March, 2023

Borrowings

Trade and bill payables
Lease liabilities

Other payables

Interest payable

At 31st March, 2022

Borrowings

Trade and bill payables
Lease liabilities

Other payables

Interest payable
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3 BBEBREE(E
31 MBEBREEGE

(© HBHEZLEE (F)
A HREBaRTAKER
EROTENEREREERRZ
RITRE - T 2INIRAE
EyEREFNREHBNRD
BB ER A AT R L R A

A BN B U @ B 5K -
Between Between
Less than 1 and 2 2 and 5
On demand 1 year years years
BE B i+ nF
EREE PR-F —-E=F ZZEIF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET TET
84,130 — — —
— 93,712 — —
— 4,121 2,943 2,349
— 30,705 — —
4,458 — — —
88,588 128,538 2,943 2,349
141,357 — — —
— 99,734 — —
— 4,854 1,384 14
— 20,227 — —
6,127 — — —
147,484 124,815 1,384 14
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d)

Price risk
The Group is exposed to price risk arising
from its investments in equity securities
which are classified on the consolidated
statement of financial position as financial
assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income. To manage its price
investments

risk arising from in equity

securities, the Group diversifies its

investment portfolio.

The equity securities invested by the Group
are publicly traded on The Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

At 31st March, 2023, if the prices of the
equity securities invested by the Group had
been lower/higher by 10%, with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s equity
would have been approximately HK$118,000
(2022: HK$144,000) lower/higher.
The fair value of the unlisted insurance
policies invested by the Group will fluctuate,
subject to the returns which are at the
discretion of the issuer of the insurance
policies. Such policies have a minimum
guaranteed returns during the holding period.
Management is of the opinion that the price
risk

insignificant.

arising from these policies s

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are

to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a

going concern in order to provide returns for

shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders

and to maintain an optimal capital structure to

reduce the cost of capital.
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3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.2

Capital risk management (Continued)

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders, repurchase the Company’s
shares, return capital to shareholders, issue new

shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as
total borrowings (including current and non-current
borrowings, bill payables and lease liabilities as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total
capital is calculated as “equity”, as shown in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group's strategy was to maintain a net gearing
ratio less than 75%. The Group was in net cash
position as at 31st March, 2023 and 2022. The net
gearing ratios at 31st March, 2023 and 2022 were

as follows:

3

Borrowings (Note 22) A& (M5E22)

Bill payables (Note 23) JRE 5 SR 3% (B 5E23)

Lease liabilities (Note 16) ME A& E6)

Total debts mE B

Less: cash and cash equivalents & :HeRKBEEEE
(Note 21) (B 5E21)

Net cash FHE

Total capital N B

Net gearing ratio FRELE
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BELERNOT:

2023 2022
—E-= —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHT
84,130 141,357

— 802

8,985 6,031
93,115 148,190
(243,019) (285,422)
(149,904) (137,232)
644,136 670,645
N/A 7 iE H N/A i A
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3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
assets including cash and cash equivalents, bank
deposits, trade receivables and deposits and
financial liabilities including trade and bill
payables, other payables and short-term bank
borrowings, approximate their fair values due to
their short-term maturities. The fair value of non-
current amount due to a purchaser of a subsidiary
is estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows at the current market interest rate that
is available to the Group for similar financial

instruments.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
instruments carried at fair value as at 31st March,
2023 and 2022 by level of the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs
are categorised into three levels within a fair value

hierarchy as follows:

— Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets

for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

— Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from

prices) (level 2).

— Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,

unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 BBEBREE(E
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREEZMEE (E)
At 31st March, 2023 R-ZEB-Z=%=H=+-—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E-® EH E=# #@Et

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FTET FTERT TERT

Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value BERAREERTA
through profit or loss BN mEE — — 12,077 12,077
Financial assets at fair value BERAREBERTA
through other comprehensive  E i 2 [ & &Y
income TR EE 1,179 — — 1,179
At 31st March, 2022 R-ZB-_—f=A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
— & B8 E=H BE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value BRAREERTA
through profit or loss Bzl emEE — — 8,571 8,571
Financial assets at fair value BARBETA
through other comprehensive — H i & E K =1
income TRMEE 1,435 — — 1,435
There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 RZBZ=FR_FT-_—F=A=1+—
during the year ended 31st March 2023 and 2022. HEFERE-—R F-_R/EE=H2

fé I 4 45 4R
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3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

3.4

Fair value estimation (Continued)

@

b

(c)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the date of consolidated statement
of financial position. A market is regarded as
active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 comprise
primarily listed equity investments classified
as financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximise the use
of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on
entity specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in

level 2.

Financial instruments in level 3
If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the

instrument is included in level 3 (Note 18).

Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities
No financial asset and financial liability is subject

to offsetting under an enforceable master netting

arrangement or similar arrangement as at 31st
March, 2023 and 2022.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed

to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are

discussed below.

(@) Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group conducts impairment reviews of assets
when events or changes in circumstances indicate
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable
or annually in accordance with relevant accounting
standards. An impairment loss is recognised when
the carrying amount of an asset is lower than the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In determining the value in use,
management assesses the present value of the
estimated future cash flows expected to arise from
the continuing use of the asset and from its

disposal at the end of its useful life.
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4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(@)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

Management judgement is required in the area of
asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i)
whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be
recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
being the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value-in-use which is the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset in the business; and
(iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in preparing cash flow forecast including whether
these cash flow forecast is discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including
the discount rates, the gross profit margin or the
revenue growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
forecast, could affect the net present value used in
the impairment test and as a result affect the

Group’s financial position and results of operations.

As at 31st March, 2023, the Group has certain
non-financial assets, including property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and prepayments for
non-current assets in the eastern China segment,
southern China segment and Malaysia, amounting
to approximately HK$84,547,000, HK$243,213,000
and HK$49,950,000 respectively. The recovery of
the economic performance of the assets in eastern
China, southern China and Malaysia were slower
than expected due to global market sentiment,
intense competition and Coronavirus Disease 2019
pandemic. Management considered the above as
impairment indicators for these three cash
generating units and has performed impairment
assessments on these assets. Management has also
performed sensitivity analysis over the key
assumptions of the cash flow forecasts, including
future revenue growth rate and discount rate, in
order to assess the potential impact of a range of
possible outcomes. Details are disclosed in Note
14.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and applicable
variable selling expenses. These estimates are
based on current market conditions and the
historical experience of manufacturing and selling
products of a similar nature. It could change
significantly as a result of changes in customer
taste and competitor actions in response to industry
cycles. Management reassesses these estimates at

the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period. Details of the key assumptions

and inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1(b).

Fair value of financial assets

For the fair values of financial assets not traded in
an active market, the Group would use the quoted
price provided by counterparty to estimate the fair
values. For the fair values of financial assets not
based on observable market data, the Group would
use other valuation approaches to measure the fair
values. The methodologies, models and assumptions
used in valuing these financial assets require
judgement by management which are mainly based
on market conditions existing at each reporting
date.

4

B RS E R B (&)

(b)

(c)

(d)

FEWRRFE
FEAERFEREBEEBEFEEND
BEFEIRARBERS - BRI
RERTHRALBERERBERLUE
mZEBRmMEL - HEAGGFHEREP
ARESEFHFERTEBAMERE
REH ERENBEREERADEN
FAh L FE A

tRMEERE
CREEZREEBERESRESRE
HEBEREAEBEBENGEE - REE®R
EHERA BREBEAEERTIESL  ™H
WA RAEEEE  NEBEERHE
LA ET bt S5 8 OB 28 A BUR /B R
B8 E2EANGEERBAZER
M3 1)K E -

EMEENAAEE

VN ERTHSEENEREENAR
BE AEEgREBYESTEHOE
REFAEAAEE WEeREEZAR
BELHFREIBEMSHBEET A
SESeMNBEBGEERTAEEER
AREBEE-AUAFELESBEEND
ERBEEBREEZEEENESESRS
B 25 R A E -
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5  Revenue and segment information 5 WARZHMEHR
(@) Analysis of revenue by category @ WARERDHW
Revenue represents the net amounts received and WARKREFERND WK E R E P RIEF
receivable from customers during the year. An B OARFEREEWAREROSTOT

analysis of the Group’s revenue by type for the

year is as follows:

2023 2022
—E=-= —_E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TET
At a point in time RE—-RE
Sales of packaging materials, labels and — $H& 8 %M £ - 28K K&
paper products, including AL BERRER
environmental friendly paper products = i 902,643 1,026,182
Others H b 20,593 22,518
923,236 1,048,700
The Group has recognised the following revenue- AEBCDHRTIEWAEBEONALE
related contract liabilities: f&
2023 2022
—EC-= T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TET
Contract liabilities ARG 7,148 4,851
Contract liabilities pertain to the non-refundable EHBEESRIARANELEMNR
advance payment made by customers. There were EHEETEEREEH -

no significant changes in contract liabilities.



5 Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Analysis of revenue by category (Continued)
The following table shows how much of the
revenue recognised in the respective years related

to carried-forward contract liabilities.

5

143

AR5 ERE R ()

@ WARER S (H)
TR EMEENANBENABRF
EHRRRANSHE -

Revenue recognised that was included in  F#iT AGHABEBELEHE

the contract liability balance at BRAWA

beginning of the year

Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM”)
of the Group has been identified as the Chairman/
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Operating
segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The
CODM of the Company reviews the Group’s
internal reporting in order to assess performance
and allocate resources. Management has reported
the results of the operating segments based on

these reports.

The CODM of the Company considers the business
from a geographical perspective, i.e. determined by
the location of major factory plants including
Southern China, Eastern China and South East Asia,
and assesses performance based on revenue,
operating profit/(loss), profit/(loss) for the year,

capital expenditure, assets and liabilities.

2023 2022
—E-= —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FHT
4,851 4,904

by oHBEH

ARARERE/EHERATRERAETEL
BREE(ETERERARE]D K2 D
MAMETBEERARERHAL2R—
HORPRER - ARAZTEEERERE
EHAERZAARE  AFEHRAR
DEER ERECREBEZSREER
BED AR -

ARAETBRERRERR/EGRLRM
B30 AREZME N PIEMRE
BRER EFREREIE RRERK
A EEET (B8R AEER (B
B) -BEARX EERAGBEAERD
BBEORIR -
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5 Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(b)

Segment information (Continued)
The segment results for the year ended 31st March,

2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Year ended 31st March, 2023

Segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Revenue from external customers
at a point in time

Operating profit/(loss)

Finance income
Finance costs
Income tax expense

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other information:

Additions to property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation

Capital expenditure

Year ended 31st March, 2022

Segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Revenue from external customers
at a point in time

Operating profit/(loss)

Finance income
Finance costs
Income tax credit/(expense)

Profit/(loss) for the year

Other information:

Additions to property, plant and
equipment

Addition to investment property

Depreciation

Capital expenditure

Provision for impairment of
property, plant and equipment

5.8

R B RIRE MR
EPWA

RN,/ (EE)

R ON
AR A
PSR X

ARE(BR) A F

Hth&H -
MIEME - BERRE

e
BARRX

—E-CFE
ZA=t+-HLEE

oI A

o BB FE A

R —E R A S
EPWA

RN,/ (BHE)

BMAUA
BERA
FrEBiR %,/ (%)

KEEM,/ (FE)

Hth&H -
MIEME - BE L&

MBRAEYME

e

BARX

ME  BERRERE
B

5

WARDEHER (&)

by 2HER )

HE_ZTZ_ZFRKR_FE=-__F=ZH
—t+—HIEFEZDEEENT :

Southern Eastern South East

China China Asia Group
=) ER KX 55
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTAT FAT FAT FTAT
615,744 257,909 162,577 1,036,230
(397) (112,597) — (112,994)
615,347 145,312 162,577 923,236
38 23,964 (9,984) 14,018
1,174 82 22 1,278
(5,304) (154) (215) (5,673)
(482) (3,861) — (4,343)
4,574) 20,031 (10,177) 5,280
27,767 9,566 16,970 54,303
20,474 14,086 11,209 45,769
27,737 4,170 16,865 48,772
730,497 268,094 166,220 1,164,811
(1,312) (114,799) — (116,111)
729,185 153,295 166,220 1,048,700
366,676 7,291 (6,546) 367,421
326 139 — 465
(16,093) (1,292) (160) (17,545)
9,270 (2,138) — 7,132
360,179 4,000 (6,706) 357,473
107,836 36,148 3,487 147,471
15,703 — — 15,703
23,944 12,775 11,567 48,286
84,236 35,819 3,512 123,567
34,561 — 3,416 37,977




5 Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(b)

(o)

Segment information (Continued)
An analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
segment as at 31st March, 2023 and 2022 is as

follows:

As at 31st March, 2023 R-ZT_-=4%
=ZA=t+—H

Segment assets DEEE

Segment liabilities HEEE

As at 31st March, 2022 RZ-ZEBE-_F

=HA=+—-8H
Segment assets DEEE
Segment liabilities DEBERE

Information about major customers

Revenue of approximately HK$130,939,000 (2022:
HK$160,768,000) is derived from one external
customer (2022: one external customer). This
revenue is attributable to the Southern China

segment.

5 WARZHESRE)

by BHERE)
RZE—=FR_T-__F=A=+—
AREEZHHBEERAGEINAT
Southern Eastern South East
China China Asia Group
- 3e3) #R REE: - |
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET FET FAET
621,308 197,348 134,836 953,492
197,464 79,150 32,742 309,356
740,637 192,887 105,952 1,039,476
269,130 81,388 18,313 368,831
(c0 EBXEEFEH
49130,939,0008 L (=T = = F :
160,768,000/ 7T) B9 YL AR B — & H) 2K
BEE(ZE-_—F:—@NKEF) ' It

FEWABRER DA -
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5 Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Analysis of revenue by destination of

customer

Revenue from external customers by country, based

on the destination of the customer:

Mainland China and Hong Kong

The United States of America
South East Asia

Europe

Canada

Others

Analysis of non-current assets

TR R EE
E351
RAE
BUM
meXx

H Al

Non-current assets, other than financial instruments

and deferred income tax assets by country:

Mainland China
Hong Kong
Malaysia

Singapore

T
B

P ]
003

WARDEHER (&)

d BREFEHNMHZWADH

SNEEFELERS 2 KA  RERP

Z B EH
2023 2022
—E-= T _fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FHT
329,909 383,929
217,684 268,557
150,188 184,368
106,571 117,634
48,723 52,404
70,161 41,808
923,236 1,048,700

() FRBEEDN

BREemMITAREEMBHEENAIN &

WEE D ZIERBDEE :

2023 2022
—E_-= g

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
322,244 365,410
22,145 14,029
25,472 31,167
24,715 2,935
394,576 413,541




Other income and gains — net 6 HKWARWKE — F&
2023 2022
—E-=F —E=-C

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FET

Net exchange gains/(losses) EH I, (Bi8) 38 3,752 (14,162)
Losses on disposals of property, plant and HEWE BWENLEREZ

equipment &5 18 (357) (1,219)

Gains on disposals of right-of-use assets EEFEREEE 2 Wa — 6,566
Gain on very substantial disposal of a subsidiary JE% &K HE—H B 2R A

(Note 30) 2 Wezs (B EE30) — 483,315
Net fair value gains on financial assets at fair BRAREBEFAEGZNS
value through profit or loss MEEsAABEKS

R 169 239

Government grants BT 4 Bh 10,718 10,159

Written off of property, plant and equipment THEME BB RRE — (20,853)

Others Hm 4,923 4,736

19,205 468,781
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Expenses by nature

Raw materials and consumables used

Sub-contracting charges

Repairs and maintenance

Freight and transportation

Employment benefit expense (including
directors’ emoluments and excluding
severance payment) (Note 9)

Operating lease rentals of premises (Note 16)

Provision/(write back provision) for inventories
obsolescence (Note 19)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
(Note 14)

Depreciation of investment properties (Note 15)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16)

Auditor’s remuneration

e Audit services

¢ Non-audit services

Legal and professional fees

Subscription fee

Provision for impairment of property, plant and
equipment (Note 14)

Other expenses

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution
costs, and general and administrative

expenses

7 BUMEEEZZRAX

R R R H R S E
MIER

HIERE

ERER

BITRMAX (BEESH
CRIBIEERE)
(Fff5£9)
HRmEKERE RS
(MF7ET6)
RETFERERE
(B ) (ME19)
ME BERZEBZINE
(M 7E14)
wEYHEZHE (KsE15)
FHEEEZINE
GEID)

% BN B &

o ZERF

o JEZEURTE
EEREEER
I8

ME - -BERZEZ
B B (BT E14)
Hipx

HEXS HERDHEER
R — & R A7 IR B X 48 FR

2023 2022
—E-=F g

HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
414,214 489,214
33,502 65,842
12,877 19,232
30,518 40,802
293,941 358,291
850 737
2,479 (4,703)
38,880 41,467
597 510
6,292 6,309
2,967 3,028
336 1,959
2,604 2,683
702 1,117

— 37,977
84,786 82,051
925,545 1,146,516




Finance costs — net

Finance income

Interest income on bank deposits

Finance costs

Interest expense on bank borrowings

Interest expenses on lease liabilities

Interest expenses on under-provision for income
tax

Imputed interest expense from amount due to a

purchaser of a subsidiary

8 BEMAE —

BERA
RITIF FA B A

BE A
RITMEMNB X H
MEEEMNEXH
PIEBEETR ZF A H

et —MBRRE SRR
ZEENB X H

F

2023 2022

—E-=F g
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
1,278 465
1,278 465
(5,210) (6,042)
(284) (224)
(179) (3,335)
— (7,944)
(4,395) (17,080)
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Employment benefit expense (including EIGIHX(BREEHD)
directors’ emoluments)
2023 2022
—E-= —TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET
Salaries, wages and allowances e TENMER 238,443 284,990
Discretionary bonus B HIRE ZEA 13,888 23,866
Pension costs — defined contribution plans BRIRBA — REH-REE 27,488 32,544
(Reversal of provision)/provision for long service =HEIRRH & MF B2 (BE
payments and annual leave — net B 8), #E — F8 (1,426) 1,876
Other welfare and benefits H A8 F & R 2= 15,548 15,015
Employment benefit expense (including BEIRMAX (BEES
directors’ emoluments and excluding e kT EIEERE)
severance payment) (Note 7) (M 57) 293,941 358,291

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to
join the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”), which is a defined contribution
scheme managed by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, each of the group companies (the employer) and
its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The
monthly contributions of each of the employer and the
employee are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 and thereafter

contributions are voluntary.

FEBERBEEEIZ2MABHIERESE
(MeEearal)) ZEAdARERFL BB
EREARE -REVESFI  FESQAF (B
DEEEESAHRRAREEBAR(R®
HEREEA G ZEE) 25% - MEE
REEHKXEAZ LR B1,5008 7T #iB L
REHE A BB RBIEMK -



10

Employment benefit expense (including

directors’ emoluments) (Continued)

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China,
group companies operating in Mainland China contribute
to state-sponsored retirement plans for their employees.
The employees contribute approximately 8% of their
salaries, while the group companies contribute
approximately 15% to 16% of the salaries of their
employees and have no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. The state-sponsored retirement
plans are responsible for the entire pension obligations

payable to retired employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Singapore, the
group company operating in Singapore contributes to the
Singapore Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 20% of their wages, while the group
company contributes approximately 17% of the wages of
its employees. The employer’s and employees’
contributions are subject to a cap of ordinary wages of
SGD6,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$34,300)

during the year ended 31st March, 2023.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Malaysia, the
group company operating in Malaysia contributes to the
Malaysia Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 9% of their wages, while the group
company contributes approximately 12% to 13% of the
wages of its employees. The employer’s and employees’

contributions are not subject to a cap.

Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives

The following disclosures are made pursuant to section
383 (1)(a) to (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622), and Parts 2 to 4 of the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation
(Cap. 622G) and Hong Kong Listing Rules.

10

EIRIMXX(BREEHS) (E)

REBFEESR AEERTEEEBZAF
RERBRI—ERETHALABERE BN
BRASFHE BT ZHABOREAFEZ
#8%  MEBARZHRBEHNA/EREEEAR
FEZH15%E16% - REEHRTIN EFERQ
ARERNERENTHIERRERBNIL A
FEMEFE - ZEHRREDHRKE T
EEHRNERNMAERKEEE

WEFMBEER AEERFTMEEEBZ
DRBBRRE—EEAFTNEFRAES
BETERKSFE - R%ZTE  BERRES
Fe2420% MEBARZHABLEE
HeM7% BEREEEHAZERRZ
T -_=ZF=ZA=+—8%E 56,0005 M T
(FE 7 4934,300/8 L) °

BEERATER AEBENEREEAE
BZoRalBH-RE—EEABRARHR
AESHETRKSTE - R%:t8 EBEH
RBATFE 2%  MEBARZHERERL
BEHFS ZWN12%E13% - BEREE ZHK
AR LR o

ESRERITRAEBZRNERES

TIEERRIEEB(RAEINE22E)E
3BM@EMNKE - RARWEEENEER)
RO (Fe22CE)E_RFMHABREB LT
MAIMAIEL -
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives (Continued)

(@)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
For year ended 31st March, 2023, the remuneration

of directors and the chief executive is set out

10 EERERTRAERZAN B RES

(&)

@ ESRITRZHE

EENHATREE T -_=ZF
St—HALFEZMEMT

A

below:
Emoluments paid
or receivable in
respect of a
person’s services
as a director,
whether of the
Company or its  Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of director’s other services in connection
subsidiary with the management of the affairs, whether of
undertaking the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
BREAFRES
(FRADASER
BRARAMES) MERM
g% XA FRE RESRUABEE(FRRALAREAWELR)
EHREBTRAE ERNAMES XA FREZNHFH IRESTRAERY
FR 7 1 W BR B9 37 B i R B 37 B
Employer’s
Allowances, contribution
other toa
payment and retirement
Discretionary benefits benefit
Name of Director EEpg Fees Salaries bonus in lieu scheme Total
R
BERE  EfFER  REKEAE
ne Fé ZRA BENNE  HEIMX @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER
For the year ended 31st —B==F
March, 2023 ZA=t-ALEE
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu wrmEE 150 4,037 420 672 76 5,355
Mr. Tin Shing BHLE 150 1,529 137 — 37 1,853
Mr. Poon Kwok Ching AERLE 150 2,294 205 — 59 2,708
Mr. Wong Wai Kwok BEEELAE 113 1,026 45 61 34 1,279
Non-Executive Director ~ FH{TES
Ms. Yeung Chui BRIt 150 - - — - 150
Independent Non- BUFHTES
Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, BREEE
Michael 200 - - — — 200
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong,
Larry, sss p 200 — — — - 200
Mr. Tam King Ching,
Kenny 200 — — — — 200
1,313 8,886 807 733 206 11,945




10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives (Continued)

(@)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)

Name of Director

For the year ended 31st
March, 2022

Executive Directors
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu
Mr. Tin Shing

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Yeung Chui

Independent Non-
Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong,
Michael

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong,
Larry, sgs p

Mr. Tam King Ching,
Kenny

B2

—E-CE
ZAZt-HLEFE

HiTES

Mm% L

BHEE

EEREE

FUTES
BREXL

BUFHTES

REREE

DHELE 23

AF4

H

EHRERLE

Emoluments paid

or receivable in
respect of a

person’s services

as a director,

whether of the
Company or its
subsidiary
undertaking
REAERES
(THRARAREM
BRANER) ML
NR% - XN FHE
FEUEFAREE

10 EERERTRAERZAN B RES

(&)
EEZRgTRZME (8

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of director’s other services in connection

with the management of the affairs, whether of

the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

HREFRHBHER (TRRARAREMNERR)
EHNELRE XN TFRAEENEN AREEARAERE

R 7% 7 4 B 40 5 B i R 0 7

Employer's

Allowances, contribution

other to a

payment and retirement

Discretionary benefits benefit
Fees Salaries bonus in lieu scheme Total

B

BRRE  EMFER  REERGE
e e I ENHR BETH @&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEL TEL T FHEL TEL T
150 4,282 4,888 061 81 10,062
150 1,606 1,133 — 38 2,927
150 1,940 1,200 468 52 3,810
150 — 1,500 — — 1,650
200 — — — — 200
200 — — — — 200
200 — — — — 200
1,200 7,828 8,721 1,129 171 19,049
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives (Continued)

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

During the year, no emoluments were paid or
receivables in respect of accepting office as
directors (2022: Nil), and no directors waived any
emolument (2022: Nil).

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu is also the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and his emoluments
disclosed above include those for services rendered

by him as the Chief Executive.

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

None of the other directors of the Group received
or will receive any retirement benefits or
termination benefits in respect of their services to
the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2023

(2022: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year, the Company has not paid any
consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services to the Company (2022:
Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings entered into by the Company in favour of
the directors of the Company, or body corporate
controlled by or entities connected with any of the
directors of the Company at the end of the year or

at any time during the year (2022: Nil).

10 EERERITRAEZNERER
(&)
@ ESBERITRZME (H)

FRN VERBEZESHALME
FBREHHE (ZEZ_F:FT) kI
BESNEEMATFNCZE=_2F:F) -

MAMEEMBARRRNITR - Ll
B TERMERRTR2ME

by EBEZERKEBEFNRBEREFN

HE-_Z-_=ZFZA=+—RHILFE
N BEARAEERERAEERE
AR 75 B W ER =k 1% W Y A T (AT 3R R 48 T
REBEN(CE_—F:T)-

© RERESEEMAE=SXNZ
R 1B
Gy AR EE R E RS AA
AMEEAE= AR ECE==
ZEE R

d) FHRESKZESNIENZEE
RAZERITVNER EXERR
HthX % 2&H®

AEEHMERARNQNAETRESHIE
G MEEEBATE AME LNF
KK FERTAMEEDATENER &
BEFSEMRG (T ——F:T) -



10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives (Continued)

(e)

U]

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the period or at any time during the year (2022:
Nil).

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group include four Executive
Directors (2022: three) whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments paid or payable to the remaining one

(2022: two) individual(s) were as follows:

Basic salaries, allowances and bonus

Pension costs-defined contribution plans

During the year ended 31st March, 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Company to any of
the directors or the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group

or as compensation for loss of office (2022: Nil).

EAXFE
BARRA —

10 EERERTRAERZAN B RES

(&)

(e)

U]

A R AEAT

SEHARE

X 7]

EERXS RERANZENE
E

B 7 W A RT S AR R e AT
WHRAANEFEEAMEREEA
25 0 54 4 5 3% 4 PO £E (8BS P 4 08 77 4
MEARS BHRAN(ZE-—F:
z)-

AEfUBREEFAL
KEEBRANESHALF W ARTT
EF(ZTZF: D) EBeEeHR
LM F B EMBT — (=
T ZF D)AZBemT

2023 2022

—E-=F —E__F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx FHET

840 2,255

TE 27 62
867 2,317

MRZE-_=F=ZA=+—BLFER-
BERNAWNESIEeHFTIAMALTE
NMSIEARBEMARER 2 Bk
EREXABUZEE(ZTZ ==

7).
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

11

executives (Continued)

(g The emoluments fell within the following
bands:

10 EERERTRAERZAN B RES

(&)
(® FMEZASHEZY:

Number of individuals

AB
2023 2022
—E-=F —_E£-=
HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000 500,001,8 7t £1,000,0007% 7T 1 —
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T £1,500,000% JT — 2
Income tax expense/(credit) 11 FEBMAX (d%)

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until
2035. The Company’s subsidiaries established in the
British Virgin Islands are incorporated under the
International Business Companies Acts of the British
Virgin Islands and, accordingly, are exempted from British

Virgin Islands income taxes.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate
of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for
one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity
under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime effective
from the year of assessment 2019/2020. The first
HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits of this subsidiary is
taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are
taxed at 16.5%.

The subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC are
subject to the PRC Corporate Income Tax at rate of 25%
during the year (2022: 25%).

The subsidiaries established in Singapore and Malaysia
are subject to Singapore Corporate Income Tax at a rate
of 17% (2022: 17%) and Malaysia Corporate Income Tax
at a rate of 24% (2022: 24%) respectively.

ARBEHRLBMERENE EE-F
ZShFRLE-ARAREBEBRESNKL
MEMBARNRERABEEAREERKRE
BRABDEZEMAR Bt - ERRHMEEE
BAREBMEH -

BEBFNERIOMRFAREEMEELE ZGE
R ENIRI65%(ZFE = ZF 1 16.5%) 2 B
R IRBHE  EAEE KB AR &
ARAABZE—N,/ T _EBBFERLEN
ZEBRFERMEHNE T Z2AERERE & W
JB 2 52 82,000,000/ 7T F& 5 Bt it F 128.25%
TR M E AR RBOE A AR 16.5%F X
B

ERBRYREEZHBRARRANEE AR
25% (=T Z —F 1 25% )R mR B
Fri8Hi -

TR K B AR E R Z B R F D AR
MM EEMBTRBRERI7%(ZF = =
17% ) R 55 R 78 35 10 26 P15 Bl Bt R24% (= F
T 24% ) B -
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Income tax expense/(credit) (Continued)
The amount of income tax charged/(credited) to the

consolidated income statement represents:

Current income tax expense

— Hong Kong Profits Tax

— PRC Corporate Income Tax
(Over)/under provision in prior years

Deferred income tax (Note 24)

Income tax expense/(credit)

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
weighted average tax rate applicable to profit of the

consolidated entities as follows:

Profit before income tax

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 16.5% (2022:
16.5%)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries

operating in other countries/jurisdictions

Income not subject to income tax

Expenses not deductible for tax

Tax benefits

Tax losses and other temporary differences for
which no deferred income tax was recognised

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses

(Over)/under provision in prior years

Income tax expense/(credit)

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 12% (2022:
18%). The change in average tax rate is mainly caused
by changes in the operating results of certain subsidiaries

in Southern China and Eastern China.

11 FAEHAX (RR)(E)

REEEWREERFNER GFA) BB RIE
2023 2022

—E-=F —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHTT

BVER AT 3 B X

— BBFEM 142 —
— PEEMREM 1,135 1,841
BEFERE (BB /TR (450) 1,154
827 2,995
EIE AT 1S R (B 5224) 3,516 (10,127)
Frig#imx (&) 4,343 (7,132)
REBZHRBEMEMNAE2HERBARA

5 B R R A 2 R T g B R
BMEMER  EHERWT:

AEZEWRD

2023 2022
—E-=F g

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

B B4 Al Jda A 9,623 350,341
IR E16.5%(ZF = —F :

16.5% ) 5 E B FT 15 1,588 57,806
EHBRARREMER A
EHEEEENREER Y

e (490) 6,620

mARBA (5,420) (83,545)

G54 9,906 7,953

MBES (1,977) (1,591)
MEEBEREMERERE

EZRERBIEMER 3,527 4,950

FRUARERZBFEE (2,341) (479)

BEFEREGBE) TR (450) 1,154

FERAX, CR®) 4,343 (7,132)

HRZMEFHBERNW(ZF ==
18%)  FHMENESH T EZRHNER KE

ROETHBRARAMNEEXETHR -
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12

13

Earnings per share 12 BREF
Basic X
Basic earnings basic per share is calculated by dividing BREKRBFDIEARAEEARERER
the Group’s profit attributable to the owners of the w AR FE AT BT E AR T IRGHE -
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.
2023 2022
—E-= —EF-=

Profit attributable to the owners of the Company 772 &) # & A JE A& i F

(HK$’000) (F%&T) 6,478 357,473
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in B %17 & iR 2 HN# F 359 2

issue ('000) (F %) 513,989 524,894
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) FRARAEF GEW) 1.26 68.10
Diluted g
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the BREBRF DI BREMEAIHR TN EEL
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding BREERRE KPABEBETERR ZNE
assuming conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary FHEAE T =FR-ZZFZ_F=AR
shares. For the year ended 31st March, 2023 and 2022, “—t+—BILFE SREBESENEERETR
diluted earnings per share equals basic earnings per share EAREN A En] #HNEERD
as there were no dilutive potential shares.
Dividends 13 RE

The Board of Directors do not recommend the payment
of a final dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2023
(2022: Nil).

EFeEIdIIRERE_T_=ZF=A
=t HEFEZREBRE(CZE-—F:F) -

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Interim dividend for the year ended 31st March, —Z=-==A=+—H
2023 of HK1 cent per fully paid share IEFEHRBHERE 8k
(2022: HK1 cent) B R B A8 B — 1l
(ZFZ=2F:—1b) 5,096 5,251
Special dividend for the year ended 31st March, —ZE - —F=H=+—H
2022 of HK10 cents per fully paid share IFFERFRRE - 8k
B8R B A E Al — 52,514

5,096 57,765




At 31st March, 2021

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net book amount

Year ended 31st March, 2022

Opening net book amount

Reclassify to investment property
(Note 15)

Additions

Depreciation

Disposals

Disposal of a subsidiary

Write-off

Transfers

Provision for impairment

Translation adjustments

Closing net book amount

At 31st March, 2022

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net book amount

Year ended 31st March, 2023

Opening net book amount
Additions

Depreciation

Disposals

Transfers

Translation adjustments

Closing net book amount

At 31st March, 2023

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net book amount

14 Property, plant and equipment

R-Z-—%=A=+—H
2%
ZEHERFE

REFE

Hz-2--4=A=t+-H
FFE

FOEEFE

ENPEERENE
(Fi15)

RE

e

HE

HE—HEARR

i

Bz

BERE

ERRE

FREAFE

R-ZZ--—#=A=+—H
A
ZHTERRE

FREFE

HE-_Z-_-#=-A=1—H
T5E

FOEEFE

NE

nE

HE

Bz

EXAE

FREBFE
RZZE-_=F=ZA=+—H

A
ZATERRE

REFE

14 ¥ -BERRE
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Plant Furniture
and and Motor  Construction
Buildings ~ machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
BF BE BARRE AE EEIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FEL FEL THET FEL FEL
270,662 872,317 93,940 15,918 60,812 1,313,649
(135,207) (754,484) (77,507) (13,356) — (980,554)
135,455 117,833 16,433 2,562 60,812 333,095
135,455 117,833 16,433 2,562 60,812 333,095
(1,560) — — — — (1,560)
668 65,823 4,666 1,131 75,183 147,471
(8,749) (26,007) (5,949) (762) — (41,467)
(484) (5,087) (189) (467) — (6,227)
(22,686) (26) (682) — — (23,394)
— (20,645) (208) — — (20,853)
77,105 41,472 730 8 (119,315) —
— (37,977) — — — (37,977)
4,911 4,868 509 41 1,796 12,125
184,660 140,254 15,310 2,513 18,476 361,213
287,816 944,342 93,080 14,861 18,476 1,358,575
(103,156) (804,088) (77,770) (12,348) — (997,362)
184,660 140,254 15,310 2,513 18,476 361,213
184,660 140,254 15,310 2,513 18,476 361,213
15,000 17,277 5,076 916 16,034 54,303
(8,252) (24,704) (5,315) (609) — (38,880)
(253) (1,554) (426) (34) — (2,267)
12,939 17,709 — — (30,648) —
(12,326) (12,299) (981) (38) (1,376) (27,020)
191,768 136,683 13,664 2,748 2,486 347,349
294,863 928,883 89,970 14,267 2,486 1,330,469
(103,095) (792,200) (76,306) (11,519) — (983,120)
191,768 136,683 13,664 2,748 2,486 347,349
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Depreciation expense recognised in the (@)
consolidated income statement is analysed as

follows:

Cost of sales B A

Selling and distribution costs HERDHER
General and administrative expenses — MR RATHE X
Construction in progress mainly represents factories (b)

and office buildings under construction and plant

and machinery under installation in the PRC.

At 31st March, 2023, buildings with a total net (c)
book value of approximately HK$1,175,000 (2022:
HK$40,887,000) were pledged as collateral for the

Group’s banking facilities (Note 32).

Impairment of property, plant and (d)
equipment, right-of-use assets and
prepayments for non-current assets

The value of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and prepayments for non-current
assets is assessed at the end of each reporting
period for indications of impairment with reference
to evaluation undertaken by management. For
assets with impairment indicators, management
performed evaluation to assess the recoverable
amount of each asset being the higher of its value
in use or its fair value less costs of disposal. As at
31st March, 2023, management performed three
separate impairment assessments for the eastern
China operation, southern China operation and

Malaysia operation.

14 M%¥- -BERRE (E)

RIEARSRTRRB 2 HEEL - S
m

2023 2022
—E-=F —E__F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
33,485 35,209

20 130

5,375 6,128
38,880 41,467

ERIRTREETHERTHORE R
MAEBFMLEPAHES -

R-E-_=ZF=-A=+—HEE®EFE
#91,175,0008 THEF(ZT ==
40,887,000% L) AEAR S BERITEE
B8 2 MY B R (M 5E32) o

ME - BERRE EREEEN
RFRBEEZENRZREE

ME BELEE ERAEEENRIFE
MBEEZANRZBEREREER
A2EEREMETZHENIEES
MENR ZEELBRERS BF
BETHELNFGESEEZTKREE
B AEEAEEXEARBERDLE
KAzERE - R_FT_=%=H
=t+t—B EEESHMEREL F
MR MBRAEEBETRENDE -



14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
prepayments for non-current assets
(Continued)

Eastern China operation

As at 31st March, 2023, the carrying amount of the
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and prepayments for non-current assets in eastern
China operation (“eastern China PP&E and right-of-
use assets”) was approximately HK$84,547,000
(2022: HK$102,996,000).
recognised for the year ended 31st March, 2023
(2022: Nil).

No impairment loss was

Key assumptions used for assessing the recoverable
amount of eastern China PP&E and right-of-use

assets are as follows:

Sales growth rate from 2024
to 2027: 5%

Pre-tax discount rate: 16%

Changing the discount rates and other assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the growth rates assumption in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amount. At 31st March, 2023, if sales
growth rates for each of the year had been 1%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of eastern
China PP&E and right-of-use assets would have
approximately HK$19,058,000

Accordingly, the headroom compared with the

been lower.
carrying amount of Eastern China PP&E and right-
of-use assets would have been approximately
HK$87,439,000.

14 M%¥- -BERRE (E)

(d)

ME BERRE EREEEN
RERBEE 2ENKZREE(H)

EREE
KR-Bo=F=A=+-8 2REH
T BERRE EREEELR

ERBEECENRATERZDE K
ERhEBEULEABEAEDD B
84,547,000 JT( — 2:\ = = F:

102,996,0005 7T) T -_=ZF=A
£+f5¢¢§ﬁﬁ$wﬁﬁﬁﬁ<

T__F:F)-

FEEERME - BB R R EIA N E R E
BEZAWEIBEMERZ EZ2/|EM
T~

—ECMFERCEALFY
HEERE: 5%

B 5% B B 3R K 16%

NEERENTHRERMERZMER
I&E@%:(%ﬁﬁmzﬁmzﬁ
EERBR)AIANBZETREEE-

—E_=F=A=Z=+—H" Iﬁ%fﬂ;z
HERREREEBZHERI%M AT
BEHMBEHRFAE  BIERWE K
ERREBUAREABEEZERAEBEES
A #919,058,00078 JT o B tE - H R
ME BERBEARFEAEEEZE
EEMALL 2 B %154 587,439,0008 T °
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
prepayments for non-current assets
(Continued)

Eastern China operation (Continued)

If profit margin for each of the year had been 0.5%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of eastern
China PP&E and right-of-use assets would have
been HK$10,613,000 lower. Accordingly, the
headroom compared with the carrying amount of
Eastern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been HK$95,884,000.

If the discount rate had been 1% higher than
management estimate at 31st March, 2023 with all
other variables held constant, value-in-use of
eastern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been HK$16,442,000 lower. Accordingly, the
headroom compared with the carrying amount of
eastern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been HK$90,055,000.

14 M%¥- -BERRE (E)

(d)

ME BERRE EREEEN
RERBEE 2EMNRZREE(H)

HEREK ()
WFHNERERRE 2 HE ST FE5%
METEEMERRIFTAE  BZERY
¥ BELEZBULTEREEEZEA
& & % " 210,613,000 Jr - A it - £
ERME BERLEUREREEE
2 BRE B b 2 & # 1 /&95,884,0007%8
5T o

MR ERERER _TE-_=F=A
=t+—HBZHBER1%MmATA E 8
RETE AZERDE BERZHEU
LERAREEZFREBERD
16,442,000 JC o B It - 82 2 5 ) % -
BEERZBEAREAEEE 2 REEM
bt 2 B 815 590,055,000/ JT °



14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
prepayments for non-current assets
(Continued)

Southern China operation

As at 31st March, 2023, the carrying amount of the
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and prepayments for non-current assets in southern
China operation (“southern China PP&E and right-
of-use assets”) was approximately HK$243,213,000
(2022: HK$258,981,000). No impairment loss was
recognised for the year ended 31st March, 2023
(2022: HK$34,561,000) (Note 7).

Key assumptions used for assessing the recoverable
amount of the southern China PP&E and right-of-

use assets are as follows:

Sales growth rate from 2024
to 2027: 5%-10%

Pre-tax discount rate: 16%

Changing the discount rates and other assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the growth rates assumption in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amount. At 31st March, 2023, if sales
growth rates for each of the year had been 1%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of
southern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been approximately HK$47,593,000 lower.
Accordingly, the shortfall compared with the
carrying amount of southern China PP&E and right-
of-use assets would have been approximately
HK$44,305,000.

14 M%¥- -BERRE (E)

(d)

ME BERRE EREEEN
RERBEE 2ENKZREE(H)

BEHEK

RZZE-_ZFEZA=Z+—H EFEH
Z2WE - BMEREBEBE FRAEEENUR
ERBEEZENR(EBZUVE K
EERXBEARFEABEEDDN A
243,213,000 (= T = = #F:
258,981,000 L) M T _=F= A
ST BLFETEBRIARESE(Z
T~ —4F 234,561,000 70) (K 5E7) »

FEEERYE - BB R REIA NS R E
BEZAWEIBEMERZ EZ2/|EM
T~

TECNFET-LF

ZIHEBRE 5%—10%
BR B AT B3R X - 16%

REERERTGHMERTZRA R
EREMBR(ERERES RSB 2
EERBR)AIABEZEAJREEGEE R
—T-=F=ZA=+—H HEFEZ
HERREREEBZHERI%M AT
BHEHMEBEHRFAE  BIEEWE K
ERREBUAREABEEZERAEBEES
R #947,593,0007 JT o A It 0 £ #E R
ME BMELEBARERAEEEZR
B 8 b 2 52 K 58 #5 4 B44,305,00078

JC °
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
prepayments for non-current assets
(Continued)

Southern China operation (Continued)

If profit margin for each of the year had been 0.5%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of
southern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been approximately HK$41,005,000 lower.
Accordingly, the shortfall compared with the
carrying amount of southern China PP&E and right-
of-use assets would have been approximately

HK$37,717,000.

If the discount rate had been 1% higher than
management estimate at 31st March, 2023 with all
other variables held constant, value-in-use of
southern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been approximately HK$36,457,000 lower.
Accordingly, the shortfall compared with the
carrying amount of southern China PP&E and right-
of-use assets would have been approximately
HK$33,169,000.

14 M%¥- -BERRE (E)

(d)

ME BERRE EREEEN
RERBEE 2EMNRZREE(H)

EHEK(E)

WFEANERERE 2HEEFE5%
METEEMERRIFTAE  BEREY
¥ BELEZBULTEREEEZEA
& B #5 % 4> 4941,005,0007% 7T ° & It -
HERYE BELRZBARTRES
ExEEBEBEBLZzZEXRERBO R
37,717,000 7T ©

WMABREEREBENR T _=F=A
“t+—BZHBERI%MmATA
RETE AEEDNE BEREHEU
LEREEEZ2FRAEAEBR L
36,457,000/ 7T o @& I - L EE F W) -
WEREHEARGERAEEE ZREEM
bt 2 52 R B8 % #) /533,169,000 7T ©



14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
prepayments for non-current assets
(Continued)

Malaysia operation

As at 31st March, 2023, the carrying amount of the
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and prepayments for non-current assets in Malaysia
operation (“Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use assets”)
was approximately HK$49,950,000 (2022:
HK$34,101,000). No impairment loss was
recognised for the year ended 31st March, 2023
(2022: HK$3,416,000) (Note 7).

Key assumptions used for assessing the recoverable
amount of the Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use
assets are as follows:

Sales growth rate from 2024 20%-25%
to 2027:

Pre-tax discount rate: 13%

Changing the discount rates and other assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the growth rates assumption in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amount. At 31st March, 2023, if sales
growth rates for each of the year had been 1%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of
Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use assets would have
approximately HK$62,972,000

Accordingly, the headroom compared with the

been lower.
carrying amount of Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use

assets would have been

HK$14,237,000.

approximately

14 M%¥- -BERRE (E)

(d)

ME BERRE EREEEN
RERBEE 2ENKZREE(H)

- YiE Y
R-ZBE-_=ZF=ZA=+—8 FXAx:
XBzmE BELRE THEEE
URERBEEZBNR(HRARZ
ME - BELEBULRFERAEEEDY
549,950,000 (= T = = &
34,101,000 7T) R ZZTZ=F = A
ST BLFETEBRIARESE(Z
T = —4F 3,416,000 70) (K 5E7) ©

AMEEROATME BEERREBARRE
AEEEZ KEBEEMREMAZEIER
RIAT

—ENFEE T LF
ZHEERE

20%-25%

BR B AT B3R X - 13%

NEEEERT G RERFTER R
ERHEMBR(BERSREEN 218
EEBRB)AANBLZEANWRLEEE R
ZEZ=F=ZA=+—H WEFEZ
HERREREEE 2 HEK1%iM AT
FEMEHRFIAZ ERALY
¥ BEERRBEULRTHAEEEZEA
BB % " 2 4962,972,0007% 7T ° A It -
HERADME BMERZEARER
REE:GCHERLZ2BHRBEOR
14,237,0007% JC °
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and

equipment, right-of-use assets and

prepayments for non-current assets
(Continued)

Malaysia operation (Continued)

If profit margin for each of the year had been 0.5%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of
Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use assets would have
approximately HK$8,894,000

Accordingly, the headroom compared with the

been lower.

carrying amount of Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use

assets would have been

HK$68,315,000.

approximately

If the discount rate had been 1% higher than
management estimate at 31st March, 2023 with all
other variables held constant, value-in-use of
Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use assets would have
approximately HK$8,759,000

Accordingly, the headroom compared with the

been lower.

carrying amount of Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use

assets would have been

HK$68,449,000.

approximately

14 M%¥- -BERRE (E)

(d)

ME BERRE EREEEN
RERBEE 2EMNRZREE(H)

2 YTHEL AC )

WFEANERERE 2HEEFE5%
AT EMESRENE  AFRADR
ME BERIEURERAEEE 2®
{8 B 75 5 4> 498,894,0007% 7T ° A It -
HESRADYE  WERZEARER
BEEE:2EHERBLZBBRBEOR
68,315,000/ 7T ©

WMABREEREBENR T _=F=A
“t+—BZHBERI%MmATA
REFETE ASRATYE BERER
BEURFERAREEZFREEHFRSLQ
8,759,000/ st A It - B H R A L Y
¥ BELAREBEULFERAEEEZRE
B 2 B &% 154 /568,449,000 7T °
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Investment properties

As at 1 April
Reclassify from property, plant and equipment
(Note 14)

Reclassify from right-of-use assets (Note 16)

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 29)

Depreciation for the year

As at 31 March

15 BEWYE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=

HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
RMUA—A 17,463 —

MY BMERXEEH
258 (K1 sE14) — 1,560

HERAREEEN PR

(F5E16) — 710
U B — B B8 & |) (B 5529) — 15,703
REFE (597) (510)
R=A=+—H 16,866 17,463

At 3Tst March, 2023, investment properties with a total
net book value of approximately HK$2,116,000 (2022:
HK$2,193,000) were pledged as collateral for the Group’s

banking facilities (Note 32).

RZFEZ=F=ZA=+—RH A£EBEEF
B 492,116,000 7t (== = — % : 2,193,000/
T ZEEMEREREERITEER 2WE
A (I 5E32) ©
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15

Investment properties (Continued)
Investment properties are situated in Hong Kong and

rented out under operating leases. Rental income arising

from the investment properties amounting to
HK$1,446,000 (2022: HK$850,000) is included in the
“other income and gains — net” in the consolidated

income statement. The operating expenses relating to the
investment properties (including depreciation) amounted
to HK$597,000 (2022: HK$510,000).

During the years ended 31st March, 2023 and 2022, two
owner occupied warehouses located in Hong Kong was
leased out to independent third parties. During the year
ended 31st March, 2022, the building with the carry
amount of approximately HK$1,560,000 and leasehold
land with the carrying amount of approximately
HK$710,000 were transferred from property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets, respectively at the date

of the commencement of the lease term.

As at 31st March, 2023, the fair values of the investment
properties are approximately HK$53,000,000. The fair
values have been arrived at based on a valuation carried
out by the directors. The fair values of the investment
properties were determined based on the market
comparable approach which is categorised within Level 3
of the fair value hierarchy. The inputs used in the fair
value measurements mainly include the market unit sale
rate of comparable properties of similar size, nature and
location. The calculation assumes fair value of the
investment properties are at HK$6,514 gross unit rate per

square foot.

For minimum lease payments receivables on leases of

investment properties, refer to Note 31.

15

REWE (&)

REMEMREBLREEHELHE B
EYMEEENHES WA B446,0008 L (= F
Z 4 850,000 L) B AGERERIAE
AR eE — FREIN -REMEEHEN
KBRS (BIEIE) B597,0008 L (ZE ==
1 510,000/ 7T) °

RZEZ=FRZFTZZF=ZRA=+—8H1t
FEN UREABEETFERANMEEERD
HHEABYE=F RZ_ZT=Z=F=AH
=+—RBIEFERA - KHEIEE%1,560,000/%8
TTHEF RIREEE4710,0008 T E -
R EHRBREI N EDE BEREENU
LARAEER -

RZE-_=F=ZA=+—H REVEHA
Rt B{E ) A53,000,0008 7T AR EERERE
EFHTNGHEEMSD REVWENIAE
EEMBLERAERE UREEAAEBESE
BHE-EB -T2 A BENBAZEEE
BPREEERT HERUENATLELEYEN
MBEMNEE - FEREREMENAALE
BHEFEFREEMNEREC514BTT

HHKEEMEZZBREREENR HF2E
BfaE31 o

W\
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Leases

This note provides information for leases where the

Group is a lessee.

(O]

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of financial position

16 HE
MM IR HAEEESEBANAEEN -

() REEHMBERRRBINEE

RIEFAUBRRAREZIEHEENS R

shows the following amounts relating to leases: ;s
2023 2022
—E=-= —E--
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Land-use rights* = 3t 156 A A 11,978 13,523
Leasehold land* E i 5,879 6,272
Buildings BF 8,889 5,914
Equipment B 16 26
26,762 25,735
Lease liabilities HEEE
Current mE 3,874 4,660
Non-current e B 5,111 1,371
8,985 6,031
* The Group has land lease arrangement with mainland China * AEERPERBAE LB EOZHE  RR

government and leasehold land in Hong Kong and
Malaysia.

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2023
financial year were HK$8,808,000 (2022:
HK$4,401,000).

During the year ended 31st March, 2022, a
leasehold land amounted to approximately
HK$710,000 was reclassified to investment
properties subject to the changes of intention of

use, please refer to Note 15 for details.

EERBRALHBEHRELM -

R-E_ZFHREE AESEHEEL
E /8,808,000 (= T = = F:
4,401,000 7T) °

>+

R-E-—HF=ZF=4+—HIFERN
#91E710,0007% 7T /) T8 & £ o A 2t 8 {5
AER CEFIBRAKREME #B
BEBEMFIS -
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16

Leases (Continued)

(i)

16 HE (&)
RESKRERBEANEE

Amounts recognised in the consolidated (i)

income statement

The consolidated income statement shows the

following amounts relating to leases:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use
assets

Land use rights

Leasehold land

Buildings

Equipment

Interest expense (included in finance
costs)

Expense relating to short-term leases

(included in cost of goods sold and

administrative expenses)

EREEENTERR

T b A
HELH
BF

B

RizalREXR2JERBEENSENT

B (GEAREKAK)

FREHEENHX

(FEASEER A R ITHREX)

The total cash outflow for leases in 2023 was
approximately HK$6,697,000 (2022: HK$6,517,000).

Depreciation charge of right-of-use
assets

Cost of sales

Selling and distribution expenses

General and administrative expenses

ERAREENNEEA

55 B
HERDHER
— MR R AT B X

2023 2022
—E-= —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FHET
556 644

176 183
5,550 5,472

10 10

6,292 6,309
284 224

850 737

RZBE-Z=FR HEMNBReRLERE
4 56,697,000 w(=Z T = = F:

6,517,000/ 7 ) °

2023 2022
—E_-= g

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

2,705 3,073

335 380

3,252 2,856

6,292 6,309




16

Leases (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

At 31st Match, 2023, leasehold land with a total
net book value of approximately HK$1,309,000
(2022: HK$1,370,000) were pledged as collateral

for the Group’s banking facilities (Note 32).

The Group’s leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases various offices, factory buildings
and warehouses. Rental contracts are typically
made for fixed periods of 2 to 3 years, but may

have extension options as described in (v) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants other than the security interests in
the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing

purposes.

Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in
a number of property leases across the Group.
These are used to maximise operational flexibility
in terms of managing the assets used in the
Group’s operations. The majority of extension and
termination options held are exercisable only by

the Group and not by the respective lessor.

16 HE (&)
(i) R-T-=F=A=+-REEEFAE

(iv)

(v)

#91,309,0008 T BEE T (ZFT = =
% :1,370,000%8 70) BIEAR S ERITE
B WEEA (M sE32) -

FAEENHEEEBREARL E

AEBBRAZERELE BELRRE
HEANBEREAERY AME=F

E

% BAEEE TX (v EER
EEEE-

]
1

hi
[

HEGRKIZERER - Bz
PRI AR © BR ﬁ%ﬁ)\%*ﬁéﬁﬁ%é%
ZHEREE SN HEE T NE [ R

H-HEEETSREETERER-

EERKILERER

AEBBZNYENTEERSTEERK
IFFHERERE NWEASELEMAN
EEEBFASZANMRESELNES
Mo RBHTEERKIEFHERERRT
LAEBEASEEITE - mAEEEOEEA -
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17  Subsidiaries 17 HERAE
Particulars of principal subsidiaries as at 31st March, RZZE-_=F=ZA=+—B TEWBRA
2023: ZFEE
Place of incorporation Issued and fully
and/or operations and paid capital/ Percentage of equity
Name of company kind of legal entity paid-in capital interest held Principal activities
HRALR /S EhS ERTRAR
2RER REABRER BE/BRERE FisRERD TEXH
Directly Indirectly
BE CE:
Starlite International (Holdings) Ltd. British Virgin Islands, limited US$2 100% —  Investment holding
liability company
AEERRBBERERAERT 2XTT RAEER
Starlite International Ltd. British Virgin Islands, limited Us$101 100% —  Investment holding
liability company
REABRUBERELEAR 101% 7T REER
Starlite Printers Holdings Cook Islands Limited Cook Islands, limited liability US$100 100% —  Investment holding
company
HrBEEEREERT 100X 7T RAEER
Starlite Printers (Far East) Pte. Ltd. Singapore, limited liability SGD8,759,396 100% —  Printing of packaging
company materials
FMEERERARR 8,759,396 BEMHENF
T
Starlite Printers (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia, limited liability RM6,500,000 100% —  Printing of packaging
company materials and
production of paper
products
BREZHARELATF 6,500,000 BEMBENR R AT &L E
BRBEET
Starlite Cultural Communications Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HK$2 100% —  Investment holding
company
EXRXIEBERAA TEBEREELH 2ETT REER
Everfar Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands, limited US$20,000 50% 50%  Investment holding
liability company
REGARHBERAMAR  20000%7T RARK
Starlite Visual Communication Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HK$2,000,000 — 100%  Distribution of Team
company Green Products
EXRBREFRAF BRERALAA 2,000,000 7T 7 $#Team GreenZE f
Hong Kong Inno-Tech Association Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HK$2 — 100%  Inactive
company

ERAMEMRBEERAA TEBEREELH 2ETT M ER



17

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

DEAEE

Starlite Consumer Products, Limited

Starlite Entertainment (Holdings) Limited

Starlite Laser Graphics Limited

EZRGNEERAT

pesll]

Starlite Management Services Limited

Starlite Packaging Technology Consultancy
Limited

Starlite Development International Limited

EXFREBAERAT

Starlite Paper Products Limited

ERHRERDA

Place of incorporation
and/or operations and
kind of legal entity
HRALR/SEEHS
REABBER

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company
REAARHBERALAR

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company
KEARRHEEREALA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

EEBEREELH

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

EEBEREELH

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company
REAARHBERALAR

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

EBEREERH

Hong Kong/the PRC, limited
liability company
BE/REAEREAAR

17 HEQRG&E)

Issued and fully
paid capital/ Percentage of
paid-in capital
BRARMAR
RE/BERE
Directly

HE

HK$3,230,000 —
ordinary
3,230,000/ 1T
Bl e

HK$170,000 —
non-voting
deferred (i)
170,000/ 7T
BEREREL

17 (i)
HK$200 —
20087
US$1 -
1ET
HK$200 —
200/ 7T
HK$1,738,000 —
ordinary
1,738,0003 7T
Etaliian)
HK$262,000 —
non-voting
deferred (i)
262,000/ 7T

BREREL

13 i)

equity

interest held

FriERER Dt

Indirectly
k3

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

173

Principal activities

TEXK

Investment holding
RAER
Investment holding
RERR

Inactive

M ER

Provision of management

services
REEZRH
Holding of trade and
service marks
REESRRBAER
Trading of paper products
BREHRES

Inactive

M ER
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17

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

DEAEE

Starlite Printers Limited

ERERIBERRA

Starlite Printers HK Holdings (BVI) Limited

Starlite Printers (China) Limited

ERERI(PE)ERAF

Starlite Printers (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (ii)

EREDRI (B M) B R ARG

Starlite Productions (Holdings) Limited

Starlite Productions (BVI) Limited

Starlite Productions Limited

EREEERAF

Place of incorporation
and/or operations and
kind of legal entity
HRALR/SEEHS
REABBER

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

BREEREMARA

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company

REERARBRBERRAERT

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company

AEARRBBERERAERT

The PRC, limited liability
company

FEEREEAT

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company

AEARRBBERAERR

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company

REABRUBERELEAR

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

EEERELERT

RE/BURE

17 HEQRG&E)

Issued and fully

paid capital/ Percentage of
paid-in capital

BRARMAR

Directly
=§:3

HK$2,700,000 —
ordinary
2,700,000 7T
Eiblian)

HK$2,300,000 —
non-voting
deferred (i)
2,300,000 7T
ERFEET
17 ()

Uss1 —
1%

US$100 —

100 7T

US$20,000,000 —

20,000,000% 7T

US$256,420 —

256,420% 7T

HK$3,000,000 —

3,000,000 7T

equity

interest held

FriERER Dt

Indirectly
k3

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Principal activities

TEXK

Trading of packaging
materials

BEMEES

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REZK

Printing of packaging
materials and
production of paper
products and labels

BEMEENR K& AR
REEE

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Inactive

M EE



17

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

DEAEE

Guangzhou Starlite Environmental Friendly
Center, Limited (ii)
BMESRRRPLAERR A

Greenworks International Limited

HETREKERAF

Shaoguan Fortune Creative Industries Company
Limited (i)

MREANEA B TEAR AR

Larsemann Intelligence System (Hong Kong)
Limited

e RE R (FE)ERAR

Team Green (Far East) Pte. Ltd.

Qianhai Larsemann Intelligence System
(Shenzhen)Limited (ii)
ATEHET 2 B8 24 ORI BR 2 A()

Shenzhen TeamGreen Creative Design Co., Ltd (ii)

RN B &I Z R AR DA

Team Green (Shanghai) Company Limited (ii)

LESEAIZ R AR

Place of incorporation
and/or operations and
kind of legal entity
HRALR/SEEHS
REABBER

The PRC, limited liability

company

FEAEREEAT

Hong Kong, limited liability

company

EEEREELH

The PRC, limited liability
company

FEEREEAT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

EEBEREELH

Singapore, limited liability
company

FMEEREERT

The PRC, limited liability
company

FEEREEAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

FEAERAEAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

FEEREEAA

17 HEQRG&E)

Issued and fully
paid capital/
paid-in capital
BRARMAR
RE/BURE

US$6,000,000

6,000,000 1T

HK$2

2B

US$26,500,000

26,500,000% 7T

HK$10,000

10,0007 7T

SGD10,000

10,0003 13 7T

RMB5,000,000

5,000,000 A & #

RMB1,500,000

1,5000,000
ARE

RMB1,000,000

1,000,000A K #

Percentage of equity
interest held

FEREB D
Directly Indirectly
=§:3 k3

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

Principal activities

TEXK

Production of
environmental friendly
and other paper
products

LERREHAMBBEER

Investment holding and
trading of
environmental friendly
and other paper
products

RERBERRERREME
BERES

Printing of packaging
materials and
production of paper
products

BEMHARRAREE
Investment holding
REER

Trading of Team Green

products
Team GreenEm 2 5

Inactive
R
Trading of Team Green

products
Team GreenE® Z 5

Trading of Team Green
products
Team GreenE @ & 5
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17

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

DEAEE

Suzhou Team Green Home Products Limited (ii)
MR ER R R0

Legend Power International Limited
EREBERRA

Little Tree Graphics Company Limited
(Renamed as Little Tree Publishing Limited
on 11th May, 2023)

NEBIEEERAF
(RZZ-_=FREA+-HAEBEHA
NEBEREERADR)

Notes:

Place of incorporation
and/or operations and
kind of legal entity
HRALR/SEEHS
REABBER

The PRC, limited liability
company

PEEREEAF
Hong Kong, limited liability
company

EREREERH

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

EEEREELH

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The non-voting deferred shares are not owned by the Group. These
shares have no voting rights and are not entitled to dividends unless
the net profit of the relevant company exceeds HK$50,000,000,000
and are not entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless a
sum of HK$50,000,000,000 has been distributed by the relevant
company to the holders of its ordinary shares.

English names are for identification purpose. These subsidiaries were
incorporated as Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise (“WFOE”) in PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time
during the year ended 31st March, 2023 (2022: Nil).

17 HEQRG&E)

Issued and fully
paid capital/
paid-in capital
BRARMAR
RE/BURE

RMBS5,000,000

5,000,000 A &%

HK$1

18T

HK$4,000,000

4,000,000/ 7T

B

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Percentage of equity

interest held Principal activities

FriERER Dt TEXH
Directly Indirectly
HE Bk
— 100%  Productions of Team
Green products
Team GreenzE @ £ &
— 100%  Property investment
NERE
— 51%  Publishing
H R

HEERERETEROIFARNEERES - HFR
MUY EREE RIFEBFBAR Z 6 F BB
50,000,000,000/ 7 - BRIFEABEZARS : M
BRARERE  TEEZEEMIR BRIEFMA
A IR i AR A% 3 E ) 2 9 R 3 £50,000,000,0005 7T ©

RXEABRAUERSBE HEHNBARRPEMKL

ZHEEECE(IABERED -

FENBARRBE-_SE-=F=A=T—HILF
EAEANMOEERGHEEAR(ZS==F 2)-
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18 Financial assets at fair value through other 18 RAABEFAHEHMZEAKRENE

comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and BMEERERAAEBESTAEEZENE
financial assets at fair value through profit or mEE
loss (“FVPL”)
(@ FVOCI: @ BAREBESAHMZEWZHNS
BEE:
2023 2022
B =fF —EF-—
HK$000 HK$000
FHE T FHT
Financial instruments (level 1): SR ITAE(BE—H)
— Equity securities listed in Hong — REBLTORRES
Kong 1,179 1,435
Movement of FVOCI is analysed as follows: BEARBEFAEMEZEKENESHE
EZBEAMOT
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-—
HK$000 HK$000
FHET FHET
At beginning of the year F 9] 1,435 1,510
Fair value losses on FVOCI ERAABEFAEMEE
WaEmemEERN
NAREEERE (256) (75)
At end of the year FR 1,179 1,435
The listed equity securities is denominated in Hong TR ESABITIE-

Kong dollar.
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18

Financial assets at fair value through other 18
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and

financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss (“FVPL”) (Continued)
(b) FVPL:

Financial instruments (level 3):
— Unlisted insurance policy

investment

Movement of FVPL is analysed as follows:

At beginning of the year
Addition

Fair value gains on FVPL

At end of the year

Note:

The unlisted insurance policy investment is denominated in United

States dollars.

The fair values of unlisted insurance policy investment are based on

BARBEFAHGZARENE
BMEERBEAABEFARENE
MEE (&)

by BAREBEFTAEBEZNESRMEE:
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
HK$000 HK$000
THET FET
SMITEE=4)
— LM RBIRERE
12,077 8,571
BEARBEFTABENEREEZE
DT
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
HK$000 HK$000
FExT FET
F) 8,571 8,332
g 3,337 —
BEARBEFABZED
SREENARBEKZE 169 239
FR 12,077 8,571
3 -
FLrHRERRBEUETIIME-
FITHERRERENALBELARARBRRE
MEAEENHERBARSR (ZT-=4:

cash flows discounted using a rate based on the current credit rate
of the insurance policies (2023: 4.0%; 2022: 4.1%). The fair values
are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (Note 3.3).

As at 31st March, 2023, there were charges over certain of the
Group’s FVPL of approximately HK$3,916,000 (2022: HK$3,859,000)

(Note 32).

T ZF41%)AR

BNE =R (H3.3)

BEBAAABERE

RZZBZ=F=A=+—BALEEFHTIEAR
BEFABENESBMEELN3916,0008T(ZT ==

£ : 3,859,000 7T) (K 7£32) ©
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Inventories

Raw materials R
Work in progress E8
Finished goods B

The cost of inventories expensed and included in cost of
sales amounted to HK$414,214,000 (2022:
HK$489,214,000). During the year, the Group has
provision for inventory obsolescence of approximately
HK$2,479,000 (2022: write back provision for
HK$4,703,000), which was included in cost of sales and
as at 3Tst March, 2023, the amount of provision was
approximately HK$29,325,000 (2022: HK$29,216,000).

19 BE

2023 2022
—E-=F g

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
28,734 32,774
20,219 25,863
37,920 56,693
86,873 115,330

FERAS H#4142140008 T(ZF - —
£+ 489,214,0007% 7T) 51 1F F 2 30 51 A\ 856 K
Rep o WARFERN AEEBBEERERE
£92,479,000/8 T(Z T = — & : & & O #&
4,703,000 70) - L BEE 2 VI A ELAF o
R-ZE_ZFZA=+—HB BESHEA
29,325,000 L (ZF = = 29,216,0007
JT) °
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20 Trade receivables, prepayments

Trade receivables

Less: loss allowance
Trade receivables — net

Prepayments and deposits

Less: Non-current portion:

Prepayments for non-current assets

and deposits
& 5 & Y AR X

B E R e

BHRWERR — F8

20

BN FIER RS

L SEBNERER 4

FRBEEZBMNK

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, prepayments

and deposits approximate their fair values.

The Group grants to its customers credit terms generally

ranging from 30 to 120 days. The

ageing of trade

receivables by invoice date is as follows:

1 to 90 days

91 to 180 days

181 to 365 days
Over 365 days

1ZE90K
91E180K
181 365K
B i@365K

EZRWER BANRERRE

2023 2022
—E-=F g

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
190,515 187,705
(17,650) (15,244)
172,865 172,461
25,741 37,873
198,606 210,334
3,599) (9,130)
195,007 201,204

BTEEEEHR —MAOKXENOKRT
cHEFEWERRER(REZA)WT ¢

A A
i

2023 2022
—E_-=F -

HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
147,850 154,978
19,799 18,001
10,480 6,843
12,386 7,883
190,515 187,705




20

Trade receivables, prepayments and deposits
(Continued)

The Group’s trade receivables were denominated in the

following currencies:

HK$ 7T

Us$ EY

RMB AR
SGD g T
RM BARAERIT
Others Hib

Movements in the loss allowance of trade receivables are

20

BEZRWRA BAMRERRSE (H)

AEEZBESREERATIEREIE :

2023 2022
—E-=F i

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
20,239 32,386
95,988 99,719
30,567 27,353
22,350 9,209
10,381 9,699
10,990 9,339
190,515 187,705

BHRVIETERRBEEHNT

as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=F -

HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
As beginning of the year FH) 15,244 11,568

Increase in loss allowance of trade B 5 FEWAR SR e B E L N
receivables 2,878 3,544
Translation adjustment JE S 472) 132
As end of the year TR 17,650 15,244

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. The
detailed impairment approach is summarised in Note
3.1(b).

FEBEREEYHRELESR @S
EOBAE S REERGUKARRER
BEZHANFERAEERBE  REHTRA
ZEBE WERME LA -
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20

21

Trade receivables, prepayments and deposits

(Continued)

The other classes within trade receivables, prepayments

and deposits do not contain loss allowance.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting

date is the fair value of each class of receivables

mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral

as security.

Bank balances and cash

Cash and cash equivalents
Bank deposits with maturity over 3 months

from date of deposits

Total bank balance and cash

Maximum exposure to credit risk

20 BEZEWERR BANRERES (E)
RESEWER BNRERERETHEAM
HAT B EEEEE -

RBER LA BHEERRKERNEREERR
HEREAABE AEBITRFEEKH

B -

21 |ITHEFRES
2023 2022
—E-=F —E2-=

HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FET
ReERkBELEE 243,019 285,422

BHEXARAEBRBA=EA
BIHR 2 RITTF K 8,764 202
BTFERRBESBE 251,783 285,624
= s B R 251,435 285,278

As at 31st March, 2023, the effective interest rate on cash

at bank and bank deposits with maturity over 3 months
from date of deposits was 1.25% (2022: 0.42%).

Bank balances and cash were denominated in the

following currencies:

HK$
RMB
Us$
Euro
SGD
Others

BT
AR
eV
BT
EARIE:
Hits

R-_TB-_=ZF=ZA=+—8 H£ITFEXLH
GRAEFEBB=ZEARRNBZRITERZ
BUHEAFBE125% (2T - —F : 0.42%) °

RITHEFRBREDRIATEESE

2023 2022
—Eg=-= i

HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
77,448 105,633
59,337 59,475
39,663 78,440
57,353 29,842
11,254 4,707
6,728 7,527

251,783 285,624
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22

Bank balances and cash (Continued) 21
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated in

RMB of approximately HK$57,098,000 (2022:
HK$58,029,000) are deposited with banks in the
Mainland China. The conversion of these RMB
denominated balances into foreign currencies and the
remittance of funds out of the Mainland China is subject

to the foreign exchange control rules and regulations
promulgated by the Government of The People’s Republic

of China.

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the
purposes of the statement of cash flows:

Cash at bank and in hand RITRFRRE
Borrowings 22

Long-term bank loans RERTE
Short-term bank loans g HiER 1T

Total borrowings, secured, due on demand

or within one year

—FURE Bz BE B

ROTEERRE (H)

AEEBNUAREIEBEZHE LRSS ED
57,098,000/8 7t (=& =~ =4 : 58,029,000/ 7T)
BERRFBEZRIT -HARBIEZER
BRERINERELPEAZFEARLMEA

B 98 M 2 SMIE & ) 35 B R AR 1

RengXRTHRERALE

]
BEE e

BERET:

BHEM - BEREREES

2023 2022
—E-=F g
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
243,019 285,422
Al &
2023 2022
—E-=H —_=-_=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
84,130 135,092
— 6,265
84,130 141,357
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22

Borrowings (Continued)

At 31st March, 2023, the Group’s borrowings were
repayable as follows:

Within 1 year —FUR
Between 1 and 2 years —EZFNR
Between 2 and 5 years ZERFA
The above amounts due are based on the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and
ignore the effect of any repayment on demand clause.

As at 31st March, 2023 and 2022, the Group has
complied with its financial covenants of its borrowing
facilities.

Total borrowings include secured liabilities. Details of the
banking facilities of the Group and pledge of assets are
disclosed in Note 32.

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate
changes and the contractual repricing dates at the end of
the year are as follows:

6 months or less N EPS RS
Within 1 year —FUR
Over 1 year iR —F

22

A& (F)
R-T-=ZF=ZA=+-R A£BzRME
ZERHAWT

2023 2022
—E-=F g

HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAET
38,297 49,952
38,250 32,938
7,583 58,467
84,130 141,357

ERFRIBZEHARREBEE R G AT AL
EZEBRBH R TEERERKZRERK

RZEE
R_E-_=ZFK_ZFT-_—_F=ZA=+—HXK

RECHAHEEREENYBROER -

MERBEECEREBE AEENRITE
EREABREEREENME2PHE -

AEBZRARFEERAEORAFER
HRAWETFAERHMT -

2023 2022
—E_-=F —_F-=

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE R FAET

49,383 80,067

— 6,265

34,747 55,025

84,130 141,357




185

Borrowings (Continued) 22 BE (&)
The carrying amounts of bank borrowings were BITMEZREBENEUATERSE:

denominated in the following currencies:

2023 2022
—E-=F —Eg-Z
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER TAET
HK$ T 49,383 80,067
RMB AR 34,747 55,025
uUs$ ey — 6,265
84,130 141,357
The effective interest rates (per annum) at the end of RB|EBRBZAEXFMEDT
reporting period were as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —Zg-Z
HK$ RMB Us$ HK$ RMB uUs$

BT AR® X BT ARK eV

Long-term bank loans RERITER 5.83% 4.75% — 2.75% 5.05% —
Short-term bank loans REHRITER — — — — — 2.50%
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23

Trade, bill and other payables and accruals

Trade payables
Bill payables

Trade and bills payables

Accrued salaries and allowance
Accrued social securities charges
Accrued staff welfare

Others

Other payables and accruals

The ageing analysis of trade and bill

follows:

1 to 90 days

91 to 180 days

181 to 365 days
Over 365 days

23 BEZRNER EBEREMEMSK

DURESEE

2023 2022
—EB-=F —E - 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FABT
=Y NN 93,712 98,932
R — 802
EoRNERRER 93,712 99,734
TEIR T & kR BL 13,196 15,318
ERteRRER 35,061 47,294
JEIRETREAF 2,769 3,357
Hb 34,828 23,550
HtwEARRETEE 85,854 89,519
179,566 189,253

payables is as BHORNEFRRFRERESTOT
2023 2022
—E_-=F —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
15290k 89,101 96,051
91ZE 180K 1,508 2,113
181E365K 434 713
B iE365K 2,669 857
93,712 99,734
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Trade, bill and other payables and accruals 23
(Continued)

The Group’s trade, bill and other payables and accruals

were denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ 7T

RMB AR

Us$ e

RM BRAEDRIT
Others i

Deferred income tax 24

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax

liabilities is as follows:

Deferred tax assets BELEREMERE
Deferred tax liabilities BEFGBREE
Deferred tax assets, net BREFMBREE —

187

EZENER REREMEMK
LA B 5t L& (4R
AEEESEAER REREMENK
DA B BB DA T3 B B 51 (E

2023 2022
—E-=F i
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
16,612 26,811
139,549 147,277
920 943
16,911 9,395
5,574 4,827
179,566 189,253

EEFRESH
BEFRSEHREERELERSHEEN ST
T

2023 2022
—EZ= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
11,906 11,169
(5,393) (890)

eIkt 6,513 10,279
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24 Deferred income tax (Continued) 24 EZEFEH (&)
The net movements in the deferred tax account are as EEMSRFEZEHFBOT
follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —ZE=z=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAET
At beginning of the year F ) 10,279 81
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated REgBa R 3B 5T A
income statement (Note 11) (B 5E11) (3,516) 10,127
Translation adjustments JE 5 A (250) 71
At end of the year FR 6,513 10,279
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities BEFMESHEERBBZZESH (W RFTERR
without taking into consideration the offsetting of —EB MR AR ) T
balances within the same tax jurisdiction are as follows:
Deferred tax assets: RIEFTE R EE
Provisions Tax losses Total
BiE BBER HE
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=f T - —EB=ZHF —T-—-F ZBZ=ZHf —T-—
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET FTHERT FHET FTET FHET
At beginning of the year F ) 11,171 1,770 543 703 11,714 2,473
Credited/(charged) to the RéraWRam K P
consolidated income statement }\/(?[] E) 984 9,315 (129) (160) 855 9,155
Translation adjustments JE W AR (248) 86 — — (248) 86
At end of the year fﬁj{ 11,907 11,171 414 543 12,321 11,714




24 Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities:

24

zﬁﬁﬁﬁ S B (&)
AT S B A -

Accelerated taxation

Withholding Tax depreciation Total
BREH i B0 I o o]
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—EC-= —E-= —EB-=ZHF —T--F ZBZZHE —T-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHERT FHET
At beginning of the year ) 738 1,633 697 759 1,435 2,392
Charged/(credited) to the REARBERTHER/
consolidated income statement (5t A) 4,513 (910 (142) (62) 4,371 972)
Translation adjustments EH R E 15 - — 2 15
At end of the year FR 5,253 738 555 697 5,808 1,435
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss to EAAEERARERM BN ERFHERE
the extent that the reduction of the related tax benefit MakE et EfEEERRELRE
through future taxable profits is payable. BEE -
The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets of REERSHREESNEHER  AEEIT A

approximately HK$41,662,000 (2022: HK$42,108,000) in
respect of tax losses and deductible temporary differences
as it is not probable that the deferred tax assets can be
utilised. Out of the total, approximately HK$29,750,000
(2022: HK$27,176,000) in respect of tax losses that can
be carried forward indefinitely to set off against future
taxable income and the remaining tax losses of
approximately HK$13,868,000 (2022: HK$17,461,000)
will expire in 2023 to 2027 (2022: 2022 to 2026). The
estimated tax losses are subject to approval by the

relevant tax authorities.

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for
implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law issued
on 6th December, 2007, withholding income tax of 10%
shall be

companies established

levied on the dividends remitted by the
in the PRC to their foreign
2008. A

withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax

investors starting from 1st January, lower
treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. All dividends coming from the profits generated
by the PRC entities after Tst January, 2008 shall be

subject to this withholding income tax.

BRARMEEBRAINALREEZEZNE
EFTB R E E4141,662,0008 T (Z T = — 4 :
42,108,000 JT) o A BB & - W % B B 4
29,750,000 7 (ZF = =4 : 27,176,000/ 7T)
ALAMBREAE A E R RERT KA - H
# B 75 85 18 4913,868,00008 7T (ZFE = —
17,461,0008 T) B ER T _=ZFE_F
TtFER CEZZF T _FE-F
ZRF) EBEBEEEIARNERAREER
MR EH -

RE_ZZLFT_AXNBEMBHHREAR
AMBEERSHEBEGEN R_2FN
i*ﬂ*ﬂﬁﬁé’ﬁﬁﬁﬁ’\\qﬂlﬁﬁz_ﬁ@i%ﬁ
FOMEEE D IR BABBI0%ERAEH
ZZDEF'Iﬁil?l\%ﬁéﬁﬂ’ﬂ“ﬁ%ﬂlﬁéﬁﬁﬁ%\m
# 1If1ﬁﬁﬁ’]ﬁ¥mﬁﬁ ERGEM A
NGO SVA ) fi/\i*ﬁ*ﬁ
?ﬁﬁﬁﬂXE’UﬂiFﬂE’]Hﬁ%zﬁ%ﬁ(ﬁwtfﬁhﬁﬁ M o
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25

Share capital

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:

As at 1st April, 2021

Share repurchases

As at 31st March, 2022

Share repurchases

As at 31st March, 2023

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company

repurchased and cancelled all

HK$0.1 each in the capital of the Company at prices
ranging from HK$0.227 to HK$0.295 per share on the

Stock Exchange.

25 AR
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=

Number of Number of

shares shares

BROEB R g=!
000 HK$’000 000 HK$’000
TR FH& T T & FHT

EERA
FRREE.108 T2
gl 1,000,000 100,000 1,000,000 100,000
L@k BERTREHR:
Number of

shares Share capital
RHBEE [
HK$’000
FHT
RZZTE-——FMA—H 525,135,288 52,514
% 17 B [ (6,500,000) (650)
RZTEZZF=A=+—H 518,635,288 51,864
% 17 B [ (12,000,000) (1,200)
RZTEZ=F=ZRA=+—H 506,635,288 50,664

12,000,000 shares of

RZBE-_=ZF=ZA=+—HLEFER AR
AIA G R B (80.2274 7T £0.2957 7T 7O B A2
BT B& 1B K2 53 85 AN A |) BR A8 AR & #£12,000,0008%
SREBEIBITZBG -
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Employee share options

On 18th August, 2022, the Company adopted an
employee share option scheme (the “2022 Share Option
Scheme”) to replace the old share option scheme adopted
on 15th August 2012. Under the 2022 Share Option
Scheme, the Company may grant options to any full time
employees of the Company or of any subsidiary; any
executive director and non-executive directors (excluding
Independent Non-Executive Directors) and any person
approved by the Board to subscribe for shares in the
Company, subject to a maximum of 30% of the nominal
value of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time excluding for this purpose any shares issued
on the exercise of options. The exercise price will be
determined by the Company’s board of directors and
shall be the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of grant of the options; or
(ii) an average closing price of the Company’s shares for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the options. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options

in cash.

No share option was granted during the years ended 31st
March, 2023 and 2022. No share options were
outstanding as at 31st March, 2023 and 2022.

26

EBERRE
RZZEZ=—FN\A+N B AARKMN—E
EEREFES(-S-__FBRETEDI
BAR-ZZ——FNA+THARAKZEBR
HstE - BB T - —FBEREFIARRF
AAAARKETAMBERAGZ2HES
THATESRIERITESE (RBRIEBILIEH
TEF)RAMNESSHENAST BHER
BURBEBARGRG MABET2BRMNE R
ZAERNRBITEEEITRMG Z30% B8 &
ERTEEREMBETZRD -REEHAL
RAZEERET HFRABKRUTESSE
WAELBHARARG ZRHE: i)h
AFBRMHREEFH OB AALERA 2R
MEHRTE AEBMY BELATRETEMT
BIEURE L SERE -

RZE =k -_FT-__F=A=+—8H1t
FEN TERLETAERE - R_Z=_=F

TR FZAZ+—BYEHKTEN
B AR o
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27

Reserves

As at 31st March, 2021 and

Tst April, 2021

Comprehensive income

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive
income

Decrease in fair value of
financial assets at fair
value through other
comprehensive income

Currency translation

differences

Total comprehensive income

for the year

Transactions with the
owners in their capacity
as owners

Transfer to statutory reserve

Transfer to retained earnings

upon disposal of a
subsidiary
Dividends paid

Share repurchases

As at 31st March, 2022

RZEZ-F
“A=T-8k
—ZZ-FMA—-H

2ENE
RE R A
Hit 2w K

RAREEFAEM
2EAMNENEREE
ZRREERD

ERZR
AEXEREAE

HERREEAZ
BEARS

BRELERAB
R E—HER AR
HRERBEN

BNERE
ki EE

R-ZB-—F
ZA=+-H

27 &%

Financial

assets at

fair value

through other

comprehensive

income

Share Capital Statutory revaluation  Translation Retained

premium reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total

RRABE

AEAEM

2EMED

SRAEL
B EE  AARE  OFEER EfffEE  ELRE  REET BE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TRAL TAT TAT TEL TAT TAT
127,796 1,792 19,511 774 49,274 101,558 300,705
— — — — — 357,473 357,473
— — — (75) — — (75)
— — — — 19,895 — 19,895
— — — (75) 19,895 357,473 377,293
- — 6,521 - — (6,521) -
— — (7,099) — — 7,099 —
— — — — — (57,765) (57,765)
(1,452) — — — — — (1,452)
(1,452) — (578) (75) 19,895 300,286 318,076
126,344 1,792 18,933 699 69,169 401,844 618,781
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Reserves (Continued) 27 f#fE (&)
Financial
assets at
fair value
through other
comprehensive
income Non-
Share Capital  Statutory  revaluation  Translation  Retained controlling
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings  Sub-total interest Total
BRAREE
FARM
2ERED
SREEZ
RHEE EARE  AERE EfifiE  ERRE  REE7 Nt FERER oy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Fhx Thx Fhx TEn Fhn Fhx TEn Fhn
As at 31st March, 2022 and i —
Tst April, 2022
126,344 1,792 18,933 699 09169 401,844 618,781 — 618781
Comprehensive income/(loss) 2ENE/ (B8)
Profitiloss) for the year REEH/ (B8) - - - - - 6,478 6,478 (1,198) 5,280
Other comprehensive loss Eb2EEE
Decrease in fair value of BALEEGAERZER
financial assets at fair value RNEREEINARE
through other comprehensive B
income - — - (256) — — (256) - (256)
Currency translation differences  EXZE - — - - (25,278) — (25,278) — (25,278)
Total comprehensive income/  AE2EWE/(FE)BE
(loss) for the year - - - (256) (25,278) 6,478 (19,056) (1,199 (20,254)
Transactions with the ownersin ~ EFHAEEAZEEA
their capacity as owners 25
Transfer to statutory reserve BREAERE - - 3,668 - - (3,668) - - -
Dividends paid ERRE - - - - - (5,096) (5,096) - (5,096)
Share repurchases RIDEE - - - — - (1,919) (1,919) — (1,919)
Contributions from non- FEREEHERRA
controlling interests - - - - - - - 1,960 1,960
- - 3,668 (256)  (25278) 425 (26071) 760 (25309
As at 31st March, 2023 R-F-=F
Zh=1-8 126,344 1,792 22,601 43 43891 397,639 592,710 760 593472
Note:  As stipulated by the relevant PRC laws and regulations applicable to
the Company’s subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC, the Mfer: REARAATRPER T RELHHEA TP

subsidiaries are required to make appropriation from profit after tax
(after offsetting prior years’ losses) to statutory reserve. The PRC
entities are required to transfer at least 10% of its net profit as
determined under the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to their
statutory reserve. The appropriations to the statutory reserve are
required until the balance reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered
capital. The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior year
losses or be utilised for issuance of bonus shares. The Company’s
PRC subsidiaries are restricted in their ability to transfer a portion of
their reserve either in the form of dividends, loans or advances.

BUEBIROERRE - MAKBARRARREAM (B
HEAGFENBR) DIREAERHRE - WERED
EFRTPENSFRIRERERE L FFBZ
10%EXRERB BEEDREEAERFRBENE 2R
B R & AR B950% © 1t A TE A R A K 8 DA BT AR
[ &5 18 S AR A 35 7T AL AR » AR X R A AR B AR 37 A0 Y B
REAKRE - FEKMERTADIEBH REEIZRS -
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28 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 28 HMEAEBREREXRME

flows
(@  Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash (@ HBHEIEAMEKCEERELS(FTB)R
generated from/(used in) operations: T2
2023 2022
—E=-= —F_-
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET TET
Profit before income tax B % Al g2 ) 9,623 350,341
Adjustments for: BT
— Interest income — FEHBA (1,278) (465)
— Interest expense — MEXZH 5,673 17,545
— Depreciation of property, plant — ¥ BELRREBZ
and equipment (Note 14) I8 (M aE14) 38,880 41,467
— Depreciation of investment — REMEZHE
property (Note 15) (B 7ET5) 597 510
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets — EREEEZINE
(Note 16) (B &E16) 6,292 6,309
— Losses on disposals of property, — HEME BER
plant and equipment Rz ER
(Notes 6 and 28(b)) (Kf 76 R28(b)) 357 1,219
— Gains on disposals of right-of-use ~ — HEFHREEE 2 W E
assets (Note 6) (K 3E6) — (6,566)
— Gains on disposals of equity — HE—2EMBLRARAZ
interest in a wholly owned MR AR = 2 WA
subsidiary (Notes 6 and 30) (P 7+6530) — (483,315)
— Provision of impairment losses on — TREEREERREE
financial assets 2,878 3,544
— Provision/(write back provision) for — RETFEREEE,
inventories obsolescence (B4 B B (M 317)
(Note 7) 2,479 (4,703)
— Provision for impairment of — % BERREN
property, plant and equipment B A (B E14)
(Note 14) — 37,977
— Written off of property, plant and — HEME BB RRE
equipment (Note 6) (K¥3%6) — 20,853
— Net fair value gains on financial — BRARBEA
assets at fair value through profit ERemEEZ
or loss (Notes 6 and 18(b)) AR BERZFE
(Ff5E6R18(b)) (169) (239)
— Equity settled share-based — LR RERH I
payments 1,960 —
67,292 (15,523)
Changes in working capital (excluding =i&E& & & #)
effects of translation adjustments) (TEEELABNTE)
— Inventories —FE 19,169 (2,858)
— Trade receivables — BHEWER (5,626) 5,293
— Prepayments and deposits — ENRERRE 5,138 1,862
— Trade and bill payables — BHRNERERE (255) (40,883)
— Other payables and accruals — HWEN R KL ETEE 4,552 (10,596)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations & & ¥ EEE /(FTA) 2R & 90,270 (62,705)




28 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash

flows (Continued)

(b)

(c)

In the statement of cash flows, proceeds from
disposal of property, plant and equipment

comprise:

Net book value R FE

28 HREREREBERWEE (B

b)) NREREBRAN HEWE BFERER

Losses on disposals of property, plant & W% - BiFE k& EZE

and equipment (Note 6) 1B (M 5T6)

Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE BELRBZHM

plant and equipment FHA

Non-cash transactions

Non-cash investing activities disclosed in other
notes are the acquisition of right-of-use assets (Note
16).

BB RABRIE:

2023 2022

—E-=F —F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
2,267 6,227
(357) (1,219)
1,910 5,008

(0 ¥EREXRZH
REMMERENIFRSREZTHAR
EEAEEE (fEe) -
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28 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 28

flows (Continued)

(d)

Net cash reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net cash and

the movements in net cash for each of the years

presented.

Net cash

Cash and cash equivalents
Borrowings

Bill payable

Lease liabilities

Cash and cash equivalents

Gross debt — fixed interest rates
Gross debt — variable interest rates
Bill payable

Lease liabilities

Net cash

FRE
RekReEE
A =15
HEBE

RekReFE
BEB — BEME
BEB — FHME
e R 15

HEBRE

FERE

RERERERWEE (B

d) FREHEEK

BRI FREDWN RERTREENOF

SRS TR

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E2-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T FHT
243,019 285,422
(84,130) (141,357)
— (802)
(8,985) (6,031)
149,904 137,232
243,019 285,422
— (6,265)
(84,130) (135,092)
— (802)
(8,985) (6,031)
149,904 137,232




28

flows (Continued)

Net cash reconciliation (Continued)

Net debt as at
st April, 2021
Acquisition — Lease
Cash flows
Foreign exchange
adjustments
Interest-Lease
Net imputed interest

expenses

Net cash as at
31st March, 2022

RZTZ—F
MA—HZFAaE

Wi — HE

Bens

[ERECE

fle —HE
BEME X FE

R-T——
=R=+—H
Z2EBRe

Notes to the consolidated statement of cash

Other assets

28 HREREREBERWEE (B

(d)

Liabilities from financing activities

FEERE YR (E)

197

Hih & E BMEEDHELZERE
Amount
due to a
Borrowings purchaser of Lease

Cash and loans a subsidiary Bill payable liabilities Total

JE A — B B

NS Wal:0
e MERER HIA JE 1 R 4% HERE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR
275,047 (158,728) (223,757) (1,094) (7,140) (115,672)
— — — — (4,401) (4,401)
(5,340) 19,984 235,778 292 5,780 256,494
15,715 (2,613) (4,077) — (46) 8,979
— — — — (224) (224)
— — (7,944) — — (7,944)
285,422 (141,357) — (802) (6,031) 137,232
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28

29

Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 28
flows (Continued)

(d) Net cash reconciliation (Continued)

Other assets

RERERERWEE (B

d) FRETHRKRGE

Liabilities from financing activities

HiEE METHELEZAME
Borrowings Lease
Cash and loans  Bill payable liabilities Total
e MEREX ENRE HEEME wE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR THERT FTET TR THERT
Net cash as at R-ZE—=
1st April, 2022 WA—BZFHES 285,422 (141,357) (802) (6,031) 137,232
Acquisition — Lease Wi — HE — — — (8,808) (8,808)
Termination — Lease ®iE—HE — — — 329 329
Cash flows Bene (37,901) 52,753 802 5,847 21,501
Foreign exchange adjustments & X % (4,502) 4,474 — (38) (66)
Interest-Lease ME —HE — — — (284) (284)
Net cash as at RZE-=F
31st March, 2023 ZA=+—8H
vEBe 243,019 (84,130) — (8,985) 149,904
Acquisition of a subsidiary 29 WEB-HELF

Asset acquisition of Legend Power International
Limited (“Legend Power”)

On Tst June, 2021, the Group completed the acquisition
of 100% equity interests of Legend Power at a cash
consideration of approximately HK$15,647,000. Legend
Power is principally engaged in property investment in
Hong Kong and holds a property in Hong Kong.

As the above newly acquired company did not operate
any business prior to the date of acquisition, the Group
considers the nature of the acquisition as acquisition of
assets in substance and the consideration is attributable

to the individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

WREZBEBRAERAA(ERFE)ZEE

RZTEZ—FNA—RB AEBTKKEZE
FE100% M IR ANz - 3B &R (E 415,647,000/
T EZBNETEEBRNBEREMELF
B—ECLREBNWE -

H P b R W B B X B RO MBS BB A T A A
EBHOEXE AXER/SRBENMEER L
RERBEE UELREBERRBRXCUWEE
AEERAERNAE-
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Acquisition of a subsidiary (Continued)

Asset acquisition of Legend Power International
Limited (“Legend Power”) (Continued)

The following table summarises the consideration paid for
the acquisition, the fair value of assets acquired and

liabilities assumed at the acquisition date.

Purchase consideration

Fair value of cash consideration

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed:
Investment property
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Other payables and accruals

Net assets acquired

Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of acquisition of a subsidiary:
Cash consideration paid

Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired

Net cash outflow

The fair values of acquired deposits and other receivables
arising from the above acquisition approximate their

respective carrying values.

29 WE-—KWEBAR (&)

BEZFERERAT(RFNZEE

(&)

RZWER DXNKRBRE WBEELM

EREABZAAEBEERENT -

WEKE
RERERZAREE

AR E W EE AT RERE
EERLHE:
BREME
A FOR R e N E i R YR
HENREEFAE

EREEENFE
FHRB-MBARZREREESSE

BEFRE 2 A

EXHRERER

B ERBzRERAEEHE

b2 N e

Total
R
HK$’000
FHET

15,647

15,703

(57)

15,647

15,647

15,647

LB ESNIRS R EMER RN AR E

BEHBRSENEERIREE -
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30

Completion of very substantial disposal of a

subsidiary
On 21st February, 2020, the Group and an independent
third party — Alps Enterprises Limited (the “Purchaser”)
entered into an agreement (the “Equity Transfer
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Group conditionally
agreed to sell, and the Purchaser conditionally agreed to
purchase, the entire equity interest of an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company — Starlite Printers
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (“Starlite Shenzhen”) at a
consideration of RMB319,200,000
approximately HK$378,070,000).

Shenzhen is regarded as a very substantial disposal (the

(equivalent to

The sale of Starlite

“Transaction”), and it was approved by the shareholders
on 8th April, 2020.

Pursuant to the Transaction, the major shareholder of the
Purchaser (the “Lender”) lent RMB136,800,000 (equivalent
to HK$166,086,000) (the “Loan”) to Starlite Shenzhen.
The Loan is not required to be repaid if the Transaction
is completed.
The Group received the initial
RMB63,200,000 and the Loan in April 2020. Subsequent

to the receipt of the initial payment and the Loan, the

payment of

Group has commenced the relocation and restructuring
plan. The Transaction is expected to be completed 18
months from the date of receipt of the initial payment

and the Loan.

The Group recognised total restructuring costs paid and
payable amounted to HK$89,408,000 for year ended 31st
March, 2021.

have been satisfied and completion took place on 8th

All completion conditions of the Disposal

June, 2021 (the “Completion Date”) in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the Equity Transfer
Agreement. received balance of the
consideration in the amount of RMB256,000,000

(equivalent to approximately HK$308,378,000).

The Group

Upon the Completion Date of the Transaction, the actual
payment of restructuring costs was amounted to
HK$89,643,000.

30

REZAHE-—MBLARZHEE
ARHESEH

RZBZZF-_A-+—B AEEHE
BUFE=71 — BBLEBRIBTETDA

N — DTM%UHQ%@&TM%J) B AEE
AEEKRHELEE MESTREBERHEBEER
FSERI CRIDBR AT (TEKXFI]) - NAF]
FE2EMNBARANEZHBRAEZ REA
A R #319,200,0007T (16 & 7 49378,070,000/%8
L) HEEXFIBRAFEERLESFTE (%
BRZ]) ZEXHGEERINR T _FF
MANBBLE

RIEZBEXS BFMmEERE(EHR]D - &
H A R #136,800,0000T 89 B X (HH & R 4
166,086,000/ 7T) ([:Z E ) 45 2 &Y - @0
TRZERS  ZEREBEEE-

AEEER-_ZT_TFMNARIEHRMNKIA
R #63,200,0007T & 3% B 3+ 5 U B B B A5 5k
LZERE AEEEERMEREMHTE -
FEHZEXZRKI BRI RZERES
&8 A AT °

RZEZ—F=ZR=+—BLFE ~%£H
R E T & FE S E 40 B A 48 £0489,408,000%
Lo MERMARETRIGHHEER BRI
BRESBZHZETOERERESE RZ2F

Z—FRNANBUXREITRBE]) ZETK -
AEEE YRR E KA R256,000,0007T
(#8 & 7 49308,378,0047%8 1) °

HEZEXZHXE TKBE -
48 & F 589,643,000 T °
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Completion of very substantial disposal of a

subsidiary (Continued)
Starlite Shenzhen is the borrower of the Loan and the
Group would not assume the obligations to repay the

Loan.

Following completion, Starlite Shenzhen has ceased to be

a subsidiary of the Company.

The gain on disposal arising from the Transaction is as

follow:

Loan from owner of the Purchaser contemplated under
the Loan Agreement
Considerations as stated in the Equity Transfer

Agreement

Less:
Tax and related expenses in connection with the

Disposal

Less:
Carrying amount of remaining assets and liabilities of

Starlite Shenzhen as at Completion Date

Gain on disposal, net
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REESEHE)
2RI AR RO ERA -
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b
HEEHEESRBIARBRRX

e
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BEZEREE
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=R NN ol

HK$’000
TER

166,086

378,070

544,156

(32,536)

511,620

(28,305)

483,315
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31 Commitment

(@)

(b)

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure of the Group at the end of

reporting period contracted but not yet incurred is

as follows:

Authorised and contracted for:
Machinery

Motor vehicles

Others

Operating lease commitments
As a lessee

The Group leases offices, warehouses and

dormitories under non-cancellable operating leases

expiring within 1 to 3 years. From 1st April, 2019,

the Group has recognised right-of-use assets for

these leases, except for short term leases, see Note

2.20 for further information.

Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

operating leases not recognised as right-of-use

assets in the consolidated financial statements are

as follows:

Amounts payable

— within one year

31 EE

(a)
BE#ERERFTER:
25
RE
Hi

(b)
3
— —F R

BAREIE
NREBRBEERBSTHENERTA
ZERRAITMAT ¢

2023 2022

—E-= T _F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTER FHT

7,651 45,001

337 —

13 1,762

8,001 46,763
KEHEERE

ERABA
AEENNABOENKEEERAZ @
MmERZ REREL HBOHAR—=E=
F-RA-FT-NFHA—BE  FREH
BAON AEERIALSHESEMHE
BE #IBEFE2EME2.20

REEMBRENLEERARCAEE
ENTAZHIRERE 2 RRKEH

£

SR

2023 2022

—E-=HF —_E-_=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
600 903
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Commitment (Continued)

(b) Operating lease commitments (Continued)
As a lessor
The investment properties are leased to tenants
under operating leases with rental payments every
month.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases of

investment properties are as follows:

203

31 A& ()
(b) A HEE R (G
1R H A

BREMENKEHELHEMER 2 E
AXEE-

HEREMHEZ HERWBEENTOT -

2023 2022

—E-=F —Eg-Z
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT TET
Within 1 year —F LR 1,147 1,147
Between 1 and 2 years —ZEWMEN 1,134 1,134
Between 2 and 3 years ZE=ZFR 234 1,134
Over 3 years and within 5 years BB=FEIRAF — 234
2,515 3,649

Banking facilities and pledge of assets

As at 3Tst March, 2023, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities of approximately HK$224,468,000 (2022:
HK$324,459,000) for overdrafts, loans, trade financing
and bank guarantees. Unused facilities as at the same
date amounted to approximately HK$140,337,000 (2022:
HK$183,103,000). These facilities were secured by:

(i) mortgages over the Group’s buildings with net
book value of approximately HK$1,175,000 (2022:
HK$40,887,000) (Note 14(c));

(i) mortgages over the Group’s investment properties
with net book value of approximately
HK$2,116,000 (2022: HK$2,193,000) (Note 15);

(iii)  mortgages over the Group’s leasehold land with a
net book value of approximately HK$1,309,000
(2022: HK$1,370,000) (Note 16(iii));

32 RITEEEREEERH
RZEZ=ZF=ZR=+—HB A5EEERHE
ZEZ BER BHRMERBITERERTE
B 48 B 49224,468,00006 T(— T — = &
324,459,000 70) - KRR B MW A B A Z B 1715
B ¥ #140,337,000%8 m(= T = = F:
183,103,000/ 7T) ° WL HF HRITEEFH 2 H#H L
T

(i) 7K £ [B) BR T JF B 491,175,0008 T (&
= = 4 140,887,000/ ) Z & F & 1B
(Fft3E14(c))

(i) ANEEKREFELH2,116,0008 T (==
— 12,193,000 T) 2 BB W E &
B (Mt sE15)

(i) A& BEREFE 1,309,000 L (= F
— =% 11,370,000 70) 2 A& + Hp %
8 (M sE16(i00) ) ;
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32

33

Banking facilities and pledge of assets
(Continued)

(iv)  guarantees provided by the Company and certain
of its subsidiaries; and

(v) charges over the Group’s FVPL with fair value of
approximately HK$3,916,000 (2022: HK$3,859,000)
(Note 18(b)).

Related party transactions

As at 31st March, 2023, Mr. Lam Kwong Yu beneficially
owned approximately 40.06% (2022: 39.13%) of the
Company’s ordinary shares. Ms. Yeung Chui beneficially
owned approximately 15.97% (2022: 15.60% of the
Company’s ordinary shares. Both Mr. Lam and Ms. Yeung
are directors of the Company.

(@) In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the following
transaction was carried out with related parties:

32 HOTGEEEREERT (E)
(ivi, ARARERZETHBARFTIRME ZE
R &
(v) ¥R EE 43,916,00008 T (= Z
Z Z 4 13,859,000 70) 2 ANEBEIEZRQ
REEFAEBZZSBHEEM
18(b)) ©
33 BEALTZRS

R-ZE-=ZF=ZA=+—8 Hrmi4EH
AR RA T 4140.06% (= F = — 4 :39.13%) K
TEBEEG - BRZETEEARRAFLN5.97%
(ZZEZZF 1 15.60%) W E BRI - Rk
ERGRE-ABEBARARGES -

(@ BEERGEFBHREREMBOHIS T
JIRBEBALETZIRS

~

BS

2023 2022
—E=-= —Zg-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TET
Transactions related to lease with: FHEHEENRS
— Ms. Yeung Chui (Note 1) — R+ (M)
 Payment of lease liabilities cHEBEMK 77
e Interest element of lease liabilities cHEBEMNBE N 4
— Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Note 2) — MRS A& (M EE2)
e Rental income o B WA 312
Notes: FifaE
1. The Group entered into an operating lease agreement with 1. AEBEBRGRLZ T ELERE RS - Lt
Ms. Yeung Chui. The transaction was carried out in the RHPE-—REBER REAKERRE
usual course of business, and in accordance with the terms AT HTERZIEFRET - BRES BB R
of the contract entered into by the Group and the related HEEBEI — HE KLEHERIARE
party. Under HKFRS 16 — Lease, the operating lease has AREERBHNEEEE HE-T==
been recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding FZAZT-RALFEHBRZINEER
lease liability. Cash outflow to Ms. Yeung Chui during the HAEEREEERAEXE -
year ended 31st March, 2023 represented the repayment of
lease liabilities and interest expenses.
2. The Group entered into an operating lease agreement with 2. AEBMBAMEMEETELEHE R %

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu. The transaction was in accordance
with the terms of the contract entered into by the Group
and the related party. Cash inflow from Mr. Lam Kwong Yu
during the year ended 31st March, 2023 represented the
lease rental income.

RGRAEBEBEATETARZ EFHE
T HEZZEZ=F-A=-+—HILFEH
MHIWEENBESRAAHEERS WA -



33 Related party transactions (Continued) 33

(b) Key management compensation

Basic salaries, allowances and others
Discretionary bonus
Pension costs — defined contribution

plans

FAEALZXS (&)

b FEEBAEMESEFS

2023
—E-=F
HK$’000
FERT

EXEGe  FMREM 10,932
BHREZIEAL 807
RRKA — REMERETE

206

205

2022
e

HK$'000
THET

10,157
8,721

171

11,945

19,049
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Financial instruments by category

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost:

Trade receivables (Note 20)

Deposits

Bank deposits with maturity over 3 months
from date of deposits (Note 21)

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 21)

Financial assets at fair value:

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (Note 18)

Financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income (Note 18)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Trade and bill payables (Note 23)

Other payables and accruals
Borrowings (Note 22)
Lease liabilities (Note 16)

34 SRIBRERESD

TREE

NEHERATIRNEBEE

2 5 FE AR 31 (M 5220)

e

MR B R EEB=EA
B HR 2 $R 1773 5k (B 5E21)

Be kReEE(ME21)

~—
~

%

N

REEFABRZD
A& E (M sE18)
REEFAEMLE®T
=R e A E (FH18)

Ny
&
A

U

TEAE

NEHERATIRNERBAE:

EoRNERRER
(B 5%23)
HiENRRETEE
& (fFE22)
HEaE (M)

BAREEIENSREE

2023 2022
—E-=F g
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
172,865 172,461
8,256 10,959
8,764 202
243,019 285,422
432,904 469,044
12,077 8,571
1,179 1,435
13,256 10,006
2023 2022
—E-=F g

HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
93,712 99,734
30,705 20,227
84,130 141,357
8,985 6,031
217,532 267,349
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Statement of financial position and movement 35

of reserve of the Company

(@)

ARARZHBRARKREERD

Statement of financial position of the (@ AXABZHBMRRER
Company
2023 2022
—EC-=HF —ZE--
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investments in and amounts due RIE AR ZIRE REW
from subsidiaries KIA 203,515 206,739
Current assets REEE
Prepayments and deposits AR I RIES 907 909
Tax recoverable A Y el % 18 — 10
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeFE 2,181 7,160
3,088 8,079
Total assets EEHAR 206,603 214,818
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to the owners of A DQTEE AELER
the Company
Share capital & A 50,664 51,864
Reserves (Note 35(b)) fi# 48 (B 7E35(b)) 149,394 156,482
Total equity SRR 200,058 208,346
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals HpENRLETEE 2,164 2,081
Amounts due to subsidiaries e B A R RIE 4,381 4,391
Total liabilities EEAE 6,545 6,472
Total equity and liabilities Rk AEEAE 206,603 214,818
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35 Statement of financial position and movement

of reserve of the Company (Continued)

(b)

Movement of reserve of the Company

The changes in the reserves of the Company during
the years ended 31st March, 2023 and 2022 are as

follows:

As at 1st April, 2021
Profit for the year
Share repurchases

Dividends paid

As at 31st March, 2022

As at 1st April, 2022
Loss for the year
Share repurchases

Dividends paid

As at 31st March, 2023

RZTZ—%F
mA—H
AN i F)
B g |
EfKRE

RN_ZEZ_F
—A=+—H

R-ZE—-—
mA—A
REERE
% 17 i Bl
2R E

i

—F
=A

—=F
=+—H

35 ARAFZHMBRRARRFEREEE (F)

b)) FRARAZREEEH
ARARM-_F-_=FR_FT__4=A
=S+-RAZHEEZDOT :

Share Capital Retained
premium reserve earnings Total
BRpEE BEXRRFRE KREEFA B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR THET TET TR
127,796 520 27,698 156,014
— — 59,685 59,685
(1,452) — — (1,452)
— — (57,765) (57,765)
126,344 520 29,618 156,482
126,344 520 29,618 156,482
— — (73) (73)
— — (1,919) (1,919)
— — (5,096) (5,096)
126,344 520 22,530 149,394
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